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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ETHICS,
Washington, DC, December 24, 2024.

Hon. KEVIN MCCUMBER,
Acting Clerk, House of Representatives,
Washington, DC.

DEAR MR. McCUMBER: Pursuant to clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b) of
Rule XI of the Rules of the House of Representatives, I herewith
transmit the attached report with dissenting views, “In the Matter
of Allegations Relating to Representative Matt Gaetz.”

Sincerely,
MICHAEL GUEST,
Chairman.

(I1II)






II.
III.

Iv.

VI.
VIIL.
VIII.

CONTENTS

. INTRODUGCGTION .....ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieiiteieet et

PROCEDURAL HISTORY ....oooiiiiiiiiieiieieieeiteesiceie sttt sieeeesie e
RELEVANT LAWS, RULES, AND OTHER APPLICABLE STAND-
ARDS OF CONDURCT .....ccotiitieiieiieiieieeeeete et etesteeae e esaesse s sseesaesseesseneas
A. Federal Laws ......ccocceiiiiiiiiiiiiiinitceceeeeeeee ettt

B. Florida State Laws ......ccccocieiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeee et

C. House Rules and Other Standards of Conduct .........ccccceevveeirennnen.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND .....ccoocoiviiiiiiiiiiiesieenieeeie
A. Allegations of Sexual Misconduct and Drug Use ........cccceeevveennnes

B. Allegations Relating to the House Gift Rule .........cccccoooviriinnnnne.

C. Allegations Related to Misuse of Official Resources ..........c.cc......

D. Obstruction of the Committee’s Investigation ...........cccccceeeeveeenns

- FINDINGS ..ottt

A. The Committee Found Representative Gaetz Violated State
Laws Related to Sexual Misconduct .......c..ccoccevveevieinieniiennennnne.

B. The Committee Found Representative Gaetz Used Illegal Drugs

C. The Committee Found that Representative Gaetz Violated the
House Gift Rule ......ccoooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e

D. The Committee Found Representative Gaetz Dispensed Special
Privileges and Favors to Individuals With Whom He Had a
Personal Relationship ......c.cccccciiiiiiieiiiiieeieeceee e

E. The Committee Found Representative Gaetz Sought to Obstruct
Its Investigation of His Conduct .......cccccovviiviiiiiiiiiniieniieecieene
CONCLUSION ..ottt et eneenesneneene
STATEMENT UNDER HOUSE RULE XIII, CLAUSE 3(c)
VIEWS OF CHAIRMAN MICHAEL GUEST ON BEHALF OF THE
DISSENTING COMMITTEE MEMBERS ........cccccocoviviiviininienenicnennnne.

APPENDIX A: REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ’S CORRESPONDENCE WITH
THE COMMITTEE ........ccocooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccccccc et

APPENDIX B: EXHIBITS TO THE COMMITTEE REPORT

%)







Calendar No. 103

118TH CONGRESS REPORT
2d Session HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 118-943

IN THE MATTER OF ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO
REPRESENTATIVE MATT GAETZ

DECEMBER 24, 2024.—Referred to the House Calendar and ordered to be printed

Mr. GUEST, from the Committee on Ethics,
submitted the following

REPORT
together with
DISSENTING VIEWS

In accordance with House rule XI, clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b), the
Committee on Ethics (Committee) hereby submits the following Re-
port to the House of Representatives, including the Views of Chair-
man Guest on behalf of the dissenting Committee Members:

I. INTRODUCTION

On April 9, 2021, the Committee announced it was investigating
a series of widely reported allegations relating to Representative
Matt Gaetz. At the request of the Department of Justice (DOJ), the
Committee deferred its review during the 117th Congress. After it
was organized for the 118th Congress, the Committee reauthorized
its investigation into the allegations involving Representative
Gaetz. Specifically, the Committee undertook a review of allega-
tions that Representative Gaetz may have: engaged in sexual mis-
conduct and/or illicit drug use; shared inappropriate images or vid-
eos on the House floor; misused state identification records; con-
verted campaign funds to personal use; and/or accepted a bribe, im-
proper gratuity, or impermissible gift. In June 2024, following ex-
tensive factfinding, the Committee determined to continue its re-
view of the allegations of sexual misconduct, illicit drug use, and
acceptance of impermissible gifts and expanded its review to in-
clude allegations that Representative Gaetz may have dispensed
special privileges and favors to individuals with whom he had a
personal relationship and obstructed government investigations
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into his conduct. At that time, the Committee determined to take
no further action on the allegations relating to the House floor,
state identification records, personal use of campaign funds, and
acceptance of a bribe or gratuity.

On November 14, 2024, Representative Gaetz resigned from the
House, after the President-Elect announced his intention to nomi-
nate Representative Gaetz for the position of United States Attor-
ney General. As a result of Representative Gaetz’s resignation, the
Committee lost jurisdiction to continue its investigation. Represent-
ative Gaetz subsequently withdrew from consideration for the posi-
tion of Attorney General; at this time, he has not announced any
intent to seek higher office or return to Congress.

The Committee has typically not released its findings after losing
jurisdiction in a matter.! However, there are a few prior instances
where the Committee has determined that it was in the public in-
terest to release its findings even after a Member’s resignation
from Congress.2 The Committee does not do so lightly. In this in-
stance, although several Committee Members objected, a majority
of the Members of the Committee agreed that the Committee’s
findings should be released to the public.

In sum, the Committee found substantial evidence of the fol-
lowing:

e From at least 2017 to 2020, Representative Gaetz regu-
larly paid women for engaging in sexual activity with him.

e In 2017, Representative Gaetz engaged in sexual activity
with a 17-year-old girl.

e During the period 2017 to 2019, Representative Gaetz
used or possessed illegal drugs, including cocaine and ecstasy,
on multiple occasions.

e Representative Gaetz accepted gifts, including transpor-
tation and lodging in connection with a 2018 trip to the Baha-
mas, in excess of permissible amounts.

e In 2018, Representative Gaetz arranged for his Chief of
Staff to assist a woman with whom he engaged in sexual activ-
ity in obtaining a passport, falsely indicating to the U.S. De-
partment of State that she was a constituent.

e Representative Gaetz knowingly and willfully sought to
impede and obstruct the Committee’s investigation of his con-
duct.

¢ Representative Gaetz has acted in a manner that reflects
discreditably upon the House.

Based on the above, the Committee concluded there was substan-
tial evidence that Representative Gaetz violated House Rules, state
and federal laws, and other standards of conduct prohibiting pros-
titution, statutory rape, illicit drug use, acceptance of impermis-
sible gifts, the provision of special favors and privileges, and ob-
struction of Congress.

18See, e.g., Statements of the Chair and Ranking Member in the Matters of Representative Jeff
Fortenberry (Apr. 1, 2022), Duncan Hunter (Jan. 14, 2020), Chris Collins (Oct. 1, 2019), Chaka
Fattah (June, 24, 2016), Henry “Trey” Radel (Jan. 29, 2014).

2See, e.g., Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Daniel oJ.
Flood, H. Rept. 96-856, 96th Cong., 2d. Sess. (1980); Staff Report of the Comm. on Standards
of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Donald E. Lukens (1990); Staff Report of
the Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative William H. Boner
(1987).
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The Committee did not find sufficient evidence to conclude that
Representative Gaetz violated the federal sex trafficking statute.
Although Representative Gaetz did cause the transportation of
women across state lines for purposes of commercial sex, the Com-
mittee did not find evidence that any of those women were under
18 at the time of travel, nor did the Committee find sufficient evi-
dence to conclude that the commercial sex acts were induced by
force, fraud, or coercion.

Representative Gaetz was uncooperative throughout the Commit-
tee’s review. He provided minimal documentation in response to
the Committee’s requests. He also did not agree to a voluntary
interview. On July 11, 2024, the Committee issued a subpoena to
Representative Gaetz for his testimony. He did not appear, despite
having received notice of the date and time of the deposition. The
Committee then sent Representative Gaetz a set of written ques-
tions, to which he issued a public response that ignored most of the
direct questions about his misconduct and mischaracterized the
Committee’s investigation and his participation up to that point.
Despite Representative Gaetz’s claims to the contrary, the Commit-
tee’s singular mission is to protect the integrity of the House. When
faced with serious public allegations against a Member, the Com-
mittee will often investigate, and when such allegations are false,
the Committee has a shared goal with the respondent to disprove
those allegations.

While the Committee considered whether to establish an inves-
tigative subcommittee to consider sanctions against Representative
Gaetz, the Committee ultimately determined that it would not risk
the further victimization of the women involved in this matter.
Most of the women with whom the Committee spoke also gave
statements to DOJ and urged the Committee to rely on those state-
ments in lieu of requiring them to relive their experience. They
were particularly concerned with providing additional testimony
about a sitting congressman in light of DOJ’s lack of action on their
prior testimony. DOJ refused to provide the relevant statements
and other significant evidence to the Committee. DOJ cited inter-
nal policies about protecting uncharged subjects like Representa-
tive Gaetz, general concerns about how DOJ’s cooperation with the
Committee may deter other victims in other matters, and various
inapposite policies relating to congressional oversight of DOJ itself.
DOJ’s initial deferral request and subsequent lack of cooperation
with the Committee’s review caused significant delays in the inves-
tigation; those delays were compounded by Representative Gaetz’s
obstructive efforts. The Committee has determined that its findings
must be released without further impediments.

Accordingly, on December 10, 2024, the Committee voted on
whether to release this Report; although several Members did not
sulpport its release, a majority of the Members voted in favor of its
release.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 9, 2021, the Committee publicly announced it was in-
vestigating allegations relating to Representative Gaetz, including
whether he may have: engaged in sexual misconduct and/or illicit
drug use; shared inappropriate images or videos on the House floor;
misused state identification records; converted campaign funds to
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personal use; and/or accepted a bribe, improper gratuity, or imper-
missible gift.3 Shortly thereafter, DOJ requested that the Com-
mittee defer all investigation of Representative Gaetz. The Com-
mittee did so.

In February 2023, after the Committee asked DOJ for an update
on its deferral request, public reports indicated that DOJ had in-
formed Representative Gaetz and multiple witnesses that the con-
gressman would not be charged in connection with the investiga-
tion. Shortly thereafter, DOJ informed the Committee it was no
longer requesting a deferral. The Chairman and Ranking Member
reauthorized the matter in May of 2023 in accordance with Com-
mittee Rule 18(a).*

On June 18, 2024, the Committee announced that the scope of
the inquiry would focus on allegations of sexual misconduct, illicit
drug use, acceptance of improper gifts, dispensation of special privi-
leges and favors to individuals with whom he had a personal rela-
tionship, and obstruction of government investigations. At that
time, the Committee also stated it would not continue to inves-
tigate allegations of sharing inappropriate images or videos on the
House floor, misusing state identification records, converting cam-
paign funds to personal use, and accepting a bribe or improper gra-
tuity.

The Chairman and Ranking Member sent nine requests for infor-
mation and six Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests.> The
Committee also authorized 29 subpoenas for documents and testi-

3Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on
Ethics Regarding Representative Matt Gaetz (Apr. 9, 2021), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-re-
leases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-22.
The Committee’s well-established precedent is to publicly announce its investigations when
there are public allegations of sexual misconduct. See, e.g., Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the
Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Representative John
Conyers, Jr. (Nov. 21, 2017), https://ethics.house.gov/press-release/statement-chairwoman-and-
ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-jo-1; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of
the Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Representative
Ruben Kihuen (Dec. 15, 2017), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-release/statement-chairwoman-and-
ranking-member- committee-ethics- regarding-representative-8; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of
the Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Representatlve
Patrick Meehan (Jan. 22, 2018), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-release/statement-chairwoman-
and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-12; Comm. on Ethics, State-
ment of the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Delegate
Michael F.Q. San Nicolas (Oct. 24, 2019), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-
chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-delegate-michael-f-q; Comm. on Eth-
ics, Statement of the Chairman and Ranking Member Regarding Representative Katie Hill (Oct.
23, 2019), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-com-
mittee-ethics-regarding-representative-katie; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairman and
Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Representative Alcee Hastings (Nov.
14, 2019), https://ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-com-
mittee-ethics- regarding-representative-alcee; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairman and
Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding Representatlve Tom Reed (Apr. 9,
2021), https://ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking- _member-
committee-ethics-regarding-representative-tom.

4The Committee typically reauthorizes unresolved matters at the start of a new Congress. It
is also the Committee’s longstanding practice to continue a deferred investigation after DOJ con-
cludes a parallel review, even where DOJ declined to press charges. See Comm. on Ethics, Sum-
mary of Activities for the One Hundred Fifteenth Congress, H. Rept. 115-1125, 115th Cong., 2d
Sess. 35 (2019) (noting the Committee deferred its investigation at the request of law enforce-
ment and that the Committee had not closed its review of Representative Robert Pittenger after
DOJ ended its investigation into the congressman); Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allega-
tions Relating to Representative Vernon G. Buchanan, H. Rept. 114-643, 114th Cong., 2d Sess.
2 (2016) (noting that the matter was “the subject of review by four different entities—the Com-
mittee, [Office of Congressional Ethics], [Federal Election Commission], and the Department of
Justice” and that the DOJ investigation concluded in 2012); cf. id at 27 (noting that the Com-
mittee would not defer to decisions by other law enforcement agencies, including DOJ).

5Initially, the Chairman and Ranking Member sent only two voluntary requestsfor informa-
tion, including the one to Representative Gaetz. After it became clear that Representative Gaetz
was not cooperating in good faith, the Committee sought information from additional sources.
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mony, reviewed nearly 14,000 documents, and contacted more than
two dozen witnesses. The Committee also received sworn written
responses from an associate of Representative Gaetz, Joel Green-
berg; as discussed further below, however, the Committee deter-
mined that, due to credibility issues, it would not rely exclusively
on information provided by Mr. Greenberg in making any findings.

Shortly after DOJ withdrew its deferral request and the Com-
mittee reauthorized its review, the Committee sent DOJ a request
for information. After three months without a response despite re-
peated follow up, the Committee submitted FOIA requests to sev-
eral relevant DOJ offices, which to date have not been adequately
processed.6 The Committee continued to reach out to DOJ through-
out 2023, having still not received a substantive response to its re-
quest for information. On January 12, 2024, the Committee re-
ceived its first correspondence from DOJ on the matter. At that
time, DOJ provided no substantive response or explanation for its
delay; instead, DOJ simply stated that it “do[es] not provide non-
public information about law enforcement investigations that do
not result in charges.” 7 This “policy” is, however, inconsistent with
DOJ’s historical conduct with respect to the Committee and its
unique role in upholding the integrity of the House.8

Thereafter, the Committee determined to issue a subpoena to
DOJ to obtain records relating to its investigation of Representa-
tive Gaetz. DOJ did not comply with the subpoena by the date re-
quired, but suggested it remained “committed to good-faith engage-
ment with the Committee.”? In the spirit of cooperation, the Com-
mittee provided a list of specific responsivedocuments, setting out
particularized demands to the subpoena. Among the particularized
demands was a request for any exculpatory evidence relating to

6The U.S. Attorney’s Office afﬁrmatively declined the Committee’s FOIA request as “categori-
cally exempt from disclosure.” However, the reasons cited for not disclosing responsive records
are not applicable to the Committee’s request—it did not consider the special access granted to
Congress pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §522(8)(d) (stating that FOIA “is not an authority to withhold
information from Congress” even when an exemption may otherwise be implicated), nor did it
consider the overriding public interest exception, which has been applied to information that
would inform the public about proven violations of public trust (see, e.g., Columbia Packing Co.,
Inc v. Department of Agriculture, 564 F.3d 495, 499 (1st Cir. 1977) (federal employees found
guilty of accepting bribes); Congressional News Syndicate v. Department of Justice, 438 F. Supp.
538, 544 (D.D.C. 1977) (misconduct by White House staffers)).

7Letter from U.S. Attorney’s Office, U.S. Department of Justice, to Chairman Michael Guest
and Ranking Member Susan Wild, Committee on Ethics (Jan. 12, 2024).

8 Comm. on Ethics, In the Maiter of Representative Don Young, H. Rept. 113487, 113th Cong.,
2d Sess. (2014) (herein after Young) (discussing information and documents provided to the
Committee by DOJ relating to a Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) investigation of Rep-
resentative Young); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative
James McDermott, H. Rept. 109-732, 109th Cong., 2d Sess. 5 (2006) (herein after McDermott)
(noting that the investigative subcommittee requested and obtained documents from DOJ re-
garding its investigation of the matter); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Maiter
of Representative Jay Kim, H. Rept. 105-797, 105th Cong., 2d Sess. 79 (1998) (noting the FBI
provided “valuable assistance to the Investigative Subcommittee throughout its inquiry.”);
Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation Pursuant to House Resolution 12 Con-
cerning Alleged Illicit Use or Distribution of Drugs by Members, Officers, or Employees of the
House, H. Rept. 98-559, 98th Cong., 1st Sess. 21 (1983) (“the Special Counsel and the Attorney
General entered into an agreement whereby the Department was to provide the Committee non-
privileged results of the Department’s drug investigation, provided that accessto the material
was restricted to certain named individuals and that certain security precautions were taken.”);
Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Raymond F. Lederer,
H. Rept. 97-110, 97th Cong., 1st Sess. (1981); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the
Matter of Representative Michael J. Myers, H. Rept. 96-1387, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. (1980);
Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Maiter of Representative John W. Jenrette, Jr.,
H. Rept. 96-1537, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 2 (1980) (noting the Special Counsel and DOJ entered
into an agreement “covering the receipt of confidential information in respect to the investiga-
tion” into a Member who was a subject of DOJ investigations known as ABSCAM).

9 Letter from U.S. Attorney’s Office, U.S. Department of Justice, to Chairman Michael Guest
and Ranking Member Susan Wild, Committee on Ethics (Feb. 13, 2024 ).
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Representative Gaetz. On March 13, 2024, Committee Members
met with the Assistant Attorney General for the Office of Legisla-
tive Affairs and the Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General
for the Criminal Division of DOJ. The DOJ officials again cited no
legal basis for failing to comply with the subpoena. DOJ subse-
quently requested additional context for the Committee’s demands,
which the Committee provided. After further attempts at meaning-
ful accommodation of DOJ’s concerns about the breadth of the
Committee’s request, DOJ ultimately provided publicly reported in-
formation about the testimony of a deceased individual. To date,
DOJ has provided no meaningful evidence or information to the
Committee or cited any lawful basis for its responses. The Com-
mittee hopes to continue to engage with DOJ on the broader issues
raised by its failure to recognize the Committee’s unique mandate.
As the Committee has told DOJ, the Committee and DOJ should
be partners in their shared mission of upholding the integrity of
our government institutions.

The Committee initially made a narrowly tailored request for in-
formation to Representative Gaetz seeking information limited to
the allegations that would not be within DOJ’s jurisdiction—the al-
leged acceptance of an improper gift and sharing of nude images
and videos on the House floor. The request also invited Representa-
tive Gaetz to provide additional information relevant to any of the
allegations under review. Representative Gaetz sought numerous
extensions and complained about the burden of the request. Rep-
resentative Gaetz ultimately provided only three pages of informa-
tion in response to the Committee’s initial request.

On May 20, 2024, the Committee requested Representative Gaetz
inform the Committee whether he would agree to participate in a
voluntary interview and provided him a list of allegations so that
he could make any response or provide any information regarding
the allegations. On May 24, 2024, Representative Gaetz provided
brief written denials of the allegations and “demand[ed] that the
[Clommittee address [‘leaks’] prior to me providing any oral testi-
mony to the Committee.” On June 28, 2024, the Committee re-
quested that Representative Gaetz provide the Committee with all
records previously produced to DOJ, as well as dates of availability
for an interview, by July 8. At that time, the Committee made an
explicit request for any exonerating information.1© The Committee
also informed Representative Gaetz that it could not permit further
delays. Representative Gaetz did not produce the requested docu-
ments or dates of availability, and on July 10, he asked for an ex-
tension through the August recess to produce documents he
deemed “appropriate.” Representative Gaetz did not provide these
documents, despite multiple extensions provided by the Committee.

The Committee noted to Representative Gaetz that an interview
would be an “opportunity to respond to the allegations against you
and relevant questions arising out of the review.”1! However, he
declined to voluntarily participate, again making demands of the
Committee instead. On July 11, the Committee issued a subpoena

10 See, e.g., Letter from Representative Matt Gaetz to Chairman Michael Guest and Ranking
Member Susan Wild, Committee on Ethics (June 24, 2024) (“It is highly likely that there is evi-
dence which will exculpate me of any allegation that I have violated House Rules.”).

11 Letter from Chairman Michael Guest and Ranking Member Susan Wild, Committee on Eth-
ics, to Representative Matt Gaetz (May 20, 2024).
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for Representative Gaetz’s testimony; the subpoena was served
electronically to Representative Gaetz and his Chief of Staff, who
had communicated with the Committee on behalf of the Congress-
man throughout the investigation. Representative Gaetz did not
appear to testify pursuant to the Committee’s subpoena. Represent-
ative Gaetz did not provide a legal basis for his failure to appear,
but informed the Committee that, “[ulpon information and belief,
the House will not take action to enforce” the subpoena. The Com-
mittee informed Representative Gaetz that, following his failure to
comply with a subpoena and to provide a fulsome response to pre-
vious requests for information, the Committee would “rely on the
record available to it to make its findings in this matter.” Rep-
resentative Gaetz responded by stating that he had prioritized pro-
viding evidence that “most clearly and directly proves [his] inno-
cence,” and stated that he “welcomed” written questions from the
Committee. The Committee subsequently sent a set of written
questions to Representative Gaetz. Representative Gaetz issued his
response publicly, which did not answer most questions and as-
serted he would “no longer voluntarily participate” in the investiga-
tion.

On November 14, 2024, Representative Gaetz submitted his res-
ignation to the House. On December 10, 2024, while several Mem-
bers of the Committee objected, a majority of the Members voted
to release the Report.

III. RELEVANT LAWS, RULES, AND OTHER APPLICABLE
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

A. FEDERAL LAWS

Section 1591 of Title 18, United States Code, prohibits trafficking
(including recruiting, enticing, or transporting) a minor for com-
mercial sex, while knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that
the victim is a minor.12 Section 1591 also prohibits trafficking
adults for commercial sex using “force, threats of force, fraud, or co-
ercion.”

The Mann Act, 18 U.S.C. §2421 et seq., prohibits the knowing
transportation of individuals through interstate or foreign com-
merce to engage in prostitution or other illegal sexual activity. Sec-
tion 2423 specifically prohibits the transportation of minors with
the intent to engage in commercial sex or illegal sexual activity.
However, if a defendant establishes that (s)he “reasonably be-
lieved” that the individual with whom (s)he engaged in commercial
sex was at least 18 years old, the defendant may avoid criminal li-
ability. Sections 2421 and 2422 are not limited to transportation of
minors, but the Criminal Division of DOJ has stated that it “does
not prosecute these statutes in every case in which they are vio-
lated, but only where there is evidence of a victim of severe forms
of trafficking in persons.” 13

12 As defined in 18 U.S.C. §1591(e)(3), commercial sex act “means any sex act, on account of
which anything of value is given to or received by any person.”

13 Statutes Enforced by the Criminal Section, U.S. Department of Justice (last visited July 16,
2024), https://www justice.gov/crt/statutes-enforced-criminal-section.
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Federal law also prohibits obstruction of Congress. Specifically,
under 18 U.S.C. §1505, it is a crime, either “corruptly”14 or
through threats, to influence, obstruct, or impede the “due and
proper exercise of the power of inquiry” of a House committee, or
to endeavor to do so. Federal law also prohibits tampering with
witnesses in a congressional proceeding; pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1512(b), it is a crime to knowingly intimidate, threaten or “cor-
ruptly persuade” (or attempt to do so), or to “engage[] in mis-
leading conduct toward”15 an individual with the intent to “influ-
ence, delay, or prevent the testimony of any person in an official
proceeding,” or to cause someone to withhold or alter evidence. The
witness tampering statute also prohibits the lesser offense of inten-
tionally harassing a witness in an attempt to dissuade the witness
from testifying.16 False statements to Congress in connection with
an investigation are also prohibited, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

B. FLORIDA STATE LAWS

Under Florida’s statutory rape law, it is a felony for a person 24
years of age or older to engage in sexual activity with a 16- or 17-
year-old.1” A person charged with this offense may not claim igno-
rance or misrepresentation of the minor’s age as a defense.

It is also a criminal offense under Florida state law to solicit, in-
duce, entice, or procure another to commit prostitution, or to “pur-
chase the services of any person engaged in prostitution,” or to
“aid, abet, or participate” in such actions.!® Florida defines pros-
titution as “the giving or receiving of the body for sexual activity
for hire but excludes sexual activity between spouses.” 19

In Florida, unauthorized possession of controlled substances is
also a criminal offense.2® Schedule I and II controlled substances
are deemed by Florida law as having a “high potential for
abuse.” 21 Cocaine and MDMA, commonly referred to as ecstasy or
molly, are controlled substances under Florida law.22

C. HOUSE RULES AND OTHER STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House rule XXV, clause 5 (the
Gift Rule), Members of Congress are subject to broad limitations on
the solicitation and acceptance of gifts. Under the Gift Rule, Mem-
bers may not knowingly accept any gift except as provided in the
rule. As the Ethics Manual explains, gifts “include gratuities, fa-
vors, discounts, entertainment, hospitality, loans, forbearances,
services, training, travel expenses, in-kind contributions, advanced
payments, and reimbursements after the fact.”23 The general pro-

1418 U.S.C. §1515(b) (“As used in section 1505, the term ‘corruptly’ means acting with an im-
proper purpose, personally or by influencing another, including making a false or misleading
statement or withholding, concealing, altering, or destroying a document or other informa-

ion.”).

1518 U.S.C. §1515(a)(3) (Misleading conduct is defined as knowingly making a false state-
ment, intentionally omitting material information to create a false impression, inviting reliance
on a wntmg or recording known to be inauthentic, and “knowingly using a trick, scheme, or
device with intent to mislead.”).

1618 U.S.C. §1512(d).

17FLA. STAT. §794.05(1) (2023).

18 FLA. STAT. §§796.07(2)(h), (1) (2023)

19FLA. STAT. §796.07(1)(d) (2023

20 F'LA. STAT. §893.13(3)(e) (2023)

21FLA. STAT. §§893. 03(1) (2) (2023).

22FLA. STAT. §893.03(1) (2023).

23 House Ethics Manual (2022) at 25 (hereinafter Ethics Manual); see also House rule XXV,
cl. 5(a)(2)(A).



9

vision of the Gift Rule allows a Member to accept a gift valued less
than $50 so long as the source of the gift is not a registered lob-
byist, foreign agent, or private entity that retains or employs such
individuals.24

A gift received through a personal friendship where the fair mar-
ket value is more than $250 requires formal approval from the
Committee. With respect to a trip, the value is viewed as a whole
and thus includes transportation, lodging, and meal expenses paid
for by the gift-giver.25 Certain considerations must be made in de-
termining whether to accept a gift over $250 related to a personal
friendship, such as (1) the history of the personal friendship, in-
cluding any previous occasions of exchanging gifts; (2) whether the
gift-giver personally paid for the gift or sought a tax deduction or
business reimbursement for the gift; and (3) whether the gift-giver
gave similar gifts to other Members, officers, or employees of the
House.26 In addition, Members are required to report the receipt of
certain gifts from non-relatives where the aggregate value exceeds
the “minimal value.”2? The minimum value in 2024 is $480 (ex-
cluding any gifts valued under $192); in 2018, it was $390 (exclud-
ing any gifts valued under $156).

There is also an exemption for gifts of personal hospitality, for
which there is no value limit and no reporting requirement.28 The
personal hospitality exemption, however, is limited. It applies only
to stays and meals in someone’s personally-owned home, and it
does not include air travel to get to that location or stays in a prop-
erty that is rented out to others.

House rule XXIII, clause 15, governs the payment for use of non-
commercial aircraft by House Members. Members may use per-
sonal funds for the use of an aircraft supplied by an individual on
the basis of personal friendship. Members may only accept a flight
on a non-commercial aircraft without reimbursement under limited
circumstances under the Gift Rule. As a general matter, the per-
sonal friendship exception can apply only if the aircraft is owned
by the Member’s personal friend, the use of the aircraft is for per-
sonal purposes, and the Member receives written approval from the
Committee where the value is in excess of $250.

Section 5341 of Title 2, United States Code, establishing the
Members’ Representational Allowance, provides that its purpose is
“to support the conduct of the official and representational duties
of a Member [ ] with respect to the district from which the Member
[]1 is elected.” The Ethics Manual notes, however, that assistance
to a non-constituent is not entirely prohibited under this statute
and explains “[iln some instances, working for non-constituents on
matters that are similar to those facing constituents may enable
the Member better to serve his or her district.”29 Nonetheless,
Members “should not devote official resources to casework for indi-

24 Caveats to this provision include: (1) the cumulative gift value from a single source in a
calendar year must be less than $100; (2) a gift worth less than $10 does not count toward the
cumulative limit; (3) cash or cash equivalents are not acceptable; and (4) buying down a gift
value to less than the $50 limit is impermissible. Ethics Manual at 38; House rule XXV, cl.
5(a)((B)G).

25 Ethics Manual at 40.

26 House rule XXV, cl. 5(a)(3)(D)(ii); see also Ethics Manual at 41.

27 Ethics Manual at 268 (also stating the minimal value is set by the General Services Admin-
istration every three years).

28 House rule XXV, cl. 5(a)(3)(P) (incorporating 5 U.S.C. app. § 109(14)).

29 Ethics Manual at 317
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viduals who live outside the district” but instead “may refer the
perso&) to his or her own Representative or Senator” for assist-
ance.

The Code of Ethics for Government Service sets forth standards
of conduct for all government employees. Paragraph 2 of that Code
provides that those in government service should “[u]phold the
Constitution, laws, and legal regulations of the United States and
of all governments therein and never be a party to their evasion.”
Paragraph 5 states that they should “[n]ever discriminate unfairly
by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to anyone, whether
for remuneration or not.” All public servants are charged under the
Code with upholding the principles articulated, “ever conscious that
public office is a public trust.”

House rule XXIII, clause 1 states, “[a] Member . . . of the House
shall behave at all times in a manner that shall reflect creditably
on the House.” House rule XXIII, clause 2 states that Members
“shall adhere to the spirit and the letter of the Rules of the House.”

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
A. ALLEGATIONS OF SEXUAL MISCONDUCT AND DRUG USE

On March 30, 2021, the New York Times reported that Rep-
resentative Gaetz was under investigation by DOJ for possible vio-
lation of sex trafficking laws.31 The investigation reportedly related
to allegations that Representative Gaetz had a sexual relationship
with a 17-year-old and paid for her to travel with him. On April
1, 2021, additional reporting indicated the federal investigation in-
cluded allegations involving cash payments, the use of illegal sub-
stances, the recruitment of women online for sex, and the use of
campaign funds to pay for travel for women.32 The DOJ investiga-
tion was part of an ongoing inquiry involving a former county tax
collector in Florida named Joel Greenberg, who was sentenced to
11 years in prison in 2022.33

1. Representative Gaetz’s Arrangement with Joel Greenberg

The Committee’s record shows that, shortly after he was sworn
into Congress in 2017, Representative Gaetz became friends with
Mr. Greenberg, who had also recently taken office as the Seminole

30]d

31 Michael S. Schmidt et al., Matt Gaetz Is Said to Face Justice Dept. Inquiry Over Sex with
an Underage Girl, THE NEW YORK TIMES (Mar. 30, 2021), https:/www.nytimes.com/2021/03/30/
us/politics/matt-gaetz-sex-trafficking-investigation.html (hereinafter Mar. 30 NYT Article). Rep-
resentative Gaetz voted against the Frederick Douglass Trafficking Victims Prevention & Pro-
tection Reauthorization Act of 2022 and was the lone “no” vote in 2017 on legislation to estab-
lish an advisory committee that would coordinate efforts to prevent human trafficking. In de-
fending his 2017 vote, Representative Gaetz asserted that he worked in the Florida legislature
to broaden the definition of “duress” in the state’s trafficking law to include, inter alia, “eco-
nomic duress.” Matt Gaetz, FACEBOOK (Dec. 28, 2017), https://www.facebook.com/
RepresentativeMattGaetz/videos/1498815083501178.

32 Katie Benner and Michael S. Schmidt, Justice Dept. Inquiry Into Mait Gaetz Said to Be Fo-
cused on Cash Paid to Women, THE NEW YORK TIMES (Apr. 1, 2021), https://www.nytimes.com/
2021/04/01/us/politics/matt-gaetz-justice-department.html (hereinafter April 1 NYT Article);
Evan Perez et al., Feds’ Investigation of Matt Gaetz Includes Whether Campaign Funds Were
Used to Pay for Travel and Expenses, CNN (Apr. 1, 2021), https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/01/poli-
tics/matt-gaetz-campaign-funds-investigation/index.html.

33 See U.S. v. Joel Micah Greenberg, No. 6:20-CR-97 (M.D. Fla. 2020) (Mr. Greenberg pleaded
guilty to charges of sex trafficking of a minor, stalking, identity theft, wire fraud, and conspiracy
to bribe a public official); April 1 NYT Article; Sara Dorn, Former Matt Gaetz Associate Joel
Greenberg Sentenced to 11 Years for Child Sex Trafficking, FORBES (Dec. 1, 2022), https:/
www.forbes.com/sites/saradorn/2022/12/01/former-matt-gaetz-associate-joel-greenberg-sentenced-
to-11-years-for-child-sex-trafficking/?sh=694d6c9e4dd3.
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County tax collector. According to Mr. Greenberg, the two met at
the house of Christopher Dorworth, a Florida lobbyist. Mr. Green-
berg and Representative Gaetz frequently attended parties and
other gatherings with young women in attendance. Many of those
women were initially contacted by Mr. Greenberg via the website
SeekingArrangement.com (now Seeking.com), and Mr. Greenberg
subsequently introduced the women to Representative Gaetz.
SeekingArrangement.com advertised itself as a “sugar dating”
website that primarily connected older men and younger women
seeking “mutually beneficial relationships.” 3¢ The website was gen-
erally understood by many of the women interviewed by the Com-
mittee to involve, at minimum, an exchange of companionship for
money.3> There have been prosecutions against individuals for sex
trafficking that originated with contacts made through
SeekingArrangement.com or similar websites,36 and some have
called for the website to be shut down due to its facilitation of pros-
titution.37 Platforms such as SeekingArrangement.com are known
to “makl[e] it easier for traffickers to exploit victims and connect
with buyers.” 38

The Committee did not receive any evidence that Representative
Gaetz had his own account on SeekingArrangement.com. Mr.
Greenberg indicated he frequently showed the site to Representa-
tive Gaetz and that he provided his login credentials to Represent-
ative Gaetz. According to Mr. Greenberg, he and Representative

34 See Rebecca Downs, Alternate to College Debt? Site Arranges Women to Use ‘Sugar Daddies,’
THE WASHINGTON EXAMINER (May 19, 2016), https:/washingtonexaminer.com/red-alert-politics/
787936/alternate-to-college-debt-site-arranges-women-to-use-sugar-daddies.

3518(a) Interview of Woman 5 (“[Ilt was like a sugar daddy type website.”); 18(a) Interview
of Victim A (“I understood [the purpose of SeekingArrangement.com] to be meeting men to have
sex or go on dates and get paid.”); 18(a) Interview of Woman 6 (understanding the purpose of
the website to be “[gloing on dates with older men and getting paid for it.”); 18(a) Interview
ofhWOman 3 (“I understand it to be a sugar daddy website [IIt’s pretty well known that that’s
what it is.”).

36 F.g., Anton ‘Tony’ Lazzaro Sentenced to 21 Years in Prison for Child Sex Trafficking, U.S.
Attorney’s Office, D. Minn. (Aug. 9, 2023), https:/www.justice.gov/usao-mn/pr/anton-tony-
lazzaro-sentenced-21-years-prison-child-sex-trafficking.

37See Does Web Site Facilitate Prostitution? State Sen. Darren Soto Asks Florida’s Attorney
General to Shut Down Seekingarrangement.com, NEWs4Jax (Feb. 14, 2013), https:/
www.news4jax.com/news/2013/02/14/does-web-site-facilitate-prostitution.

38 See U.S. Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Committees, Sex Traf-
ficking: Online Platforms and Federal Prosecutions (June 2021), https://www.gao. gov/assets/gao-
21-385.pdf. See also Jake Roberson, The Dangers of Sugar Dating and Sugaring, Explained, NA-
TIONAL CENTER ON SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (Sept. 25, 2019), https://endsexualexploitation.org/
articles/the—dangers—of—sugar—dating—and—sugaring—explained (ITThe ‘arrangements’ are targeted
toward—and often intentionally mislead—the younger, lower-income audience and puts them in
situations where the natural end game is a variety of forms of manipulation and sexual exploi-
tation”; “‘Sugar dating’ is not safe and it is not an empowering system—it is inherently exploita-
tive.”); Meeghan Sheppard, Exposing the Exploitative Realities of Sugar Dating, NATIONAL CEN-
TER ON SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (July 2, 2020), https:/endsexualexploitation.org/articles/exposing-
the-exploitative-realities-of-sugar-dating (“For all intents and purposes, when the facade is
stripped away, what is framed as a form of online dating meant to cultivate consenting relation-
ships between two individuals is revealed as actually being a disturbing form of sexual exploi-
tation.”); Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services, An Introduction to Sex Trafficking:
2022 SRO Basic (2022), https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/sites/dcjs.virginia. gov/ﬁles/tralmng-events/
8020/introduction to sex trafficking.pdf (noting that situations such as “arrangement dating”
can “potentially escalate into [] human trafficking.”); Laura E. Deeks, A Website by Any Other
Name? Sex, Sugar, and Section 230, 34 Women’s Rts. L. Rep. Law 245 257 (2013) (“Under the
banner of sugar daddy and sugar baby arrangements, a lot of prostitution may be going on.”)
(internal citations omitted); Melissa Farley et al., Online Prostitution and Trafficking, 77 Albany
L. Rev. 1039, 1056 (2014) (‘Compartmentahzatlon of the sex industry into illegal versus quasi-
legal prostltutlon [referencing seekingarrangement. com] benefits pimps and traffickers in that
it frequently avoids accountablhty for criminal acts.”); Jacqueline Motyl, Trading Sex for College
Tuition: How Sugar Daddy “Dating” Sites May Be Sugar Coating Prostitution, 117:3 Dickinson
L. Rev. 927. 956-57 (2013) (“[Slugar daddy dating sites may not be the most pressing issue re-
garding prostitution, but enough is known to suggest and perhaps predict that increasingly
questionable individuals and activities may migrate to these sites” allowing for “prostitution-
type arrangements to foster within the Sugar Culture.”).
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Gaetz would split the costs of “drugs, hotel[s], and girls.” For exam-
ple, the Committee reviewed evidence that such activity occurred
in July 2017. Specifically, evidence showed that Representative
Gaetz, Mr. Greenberg, and others gathered at a rental property lo-
cated in the Brickell neighborhood of Miami, Florida for a weekend
beginning on July 7, 2017; Representative Gaetz and Mr. Green-
berg also spent time in Fort Lauderdale during the Miami stay
(during which time Representative Gaetz withdrew at least $1,200
in cash from three different accounts at a single ATM). On June
22, 2017, Representative Gaetz paid $6,308 for that rental book-
ing.39 On July 9, 2017, Mr. Greenberg paid Representative Gaetz
$1,600 by check; Mr. Greenberg stated the check was reimburse-
ment for a share of the rental.4® Mr. Greenberg also noted that
they met up with another individual for dinner that weekend, and
he shared a photo of Representative Gaetz, himself, and the other
individual on social media on July 8, 2017.41

The Committee received evidence confirming that Representative
Gaetz at times personally made payments to women who attended
parties with him and Mr. Greenberg, using various peer-to-peer
electronic payment services, as well as checks and cash. The Com-
mittee’s record also indicates that Mr. Greenberg sometimes paid
women for having sex with Representative Gaetz and was some-
times reimbursed by Representative Gaetz.42 Witnesses indicated
that there were times where a lump sum would be sent to one
woman, who would then distribute the money evenly among others
who attended the parties. Likewise, in one instance Representative
Gaetz sent $400 to Mr. Greenberg with the note “Hit up [Victim
AJ”; Mr. Greenberg then sent two women payments totaling $400,
including Victim A.43

On August 19, 2020, Mr. Greenberg was indicted on charges re-
lated to his misuse of motor vehicle records and identification docu-
ments in his role as Seminole County tax collector and his attempt
to falsely accuse a political opponent of being a pedophile; he was
additionally charged with sex trafficking of a child (Victim A), wire
fraud, bribery of a public official, theft of government property, and
related charges. He pleaded guilty to six charges, including sex
trafficking of Victim A, in May 2021 but his sentencing was de-
layed until December 2022 due to his ongoing cooperation in sev-
eral other matters. As part of his cooperation, he provided informa-

39 Personal Checking Account #3. Records obtained by the Committee show that this vacation
rental was booked via an account belonging to one of Representative Gaetz’s former congres-
sional staffers and paid for via Personal Checking Account #3.

40 Exhibit 1. Mr. Greenberg claimed that he and Representative Gaetz did drugs the entire
weekend. Venmo records show that Mr. Greenberg paid several hundred dollars to two of the
women he identified as present for the weekend, with a note that the payment was for “food.”
One of the women identified by Mr. Greenberg asserted her Fifth Amendment privilege when
asked questions about the purpose of the payments from Mr. Greenberg, including whether any
of the payments were for drugs.

41*Joel Greenberg (@JoelGreenbergTC), X (formerly Twitter) (July 8, 2017, 10:00 PM), https://
x.com/JoelGreenbergTC/status/883868335955480576.

42For example, the Committee reviewed a contemporaneous text message showing that one
of the women with whom both Representative Gaetz and Mr. Greenberg engaged in sexual activ-
ity contacted Mr. Greenberg to complain about not receiving expected money from him; Mr.
Greenberg responded at the time indicating that he was waiting on money from Representative
Gaetz. Exhibit 2 (Woman 4 testified that she saved Representative Gaetz on her phone as
“Marissa” for discretion. (18(a) Interview of Woman 4.)). Financial records reviewed by the Com-
mittee generally corroborate Mr. Greenberg’s assertions that Representative Gaetz would some-
times send him money to cover his portion of payments owed to women.

43 Personal Venmo Account #1; Mr. Greenberg Venmo Account #1. Representative Gaetz’s ini-
tial attempt to send the payment did not go through; in that attempt, the note stated, “Don’t
forget to hit [Victim A] up. She was on me.”
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tion that was ultimately corroborated and ended in successful pros-
ecutions.*4

2. Representative Gaetz’s Interactions With Women He Met Through
Mr. Greenberg

i. Transactional Nature of the Interactions

From 2017 to 2020, Representative Gaetz made tens of thou-
sands of dollars in payments to women that the Committee deter-
mined were likely in connection with sexual activity and/or drug
use.%® Payments were made to these women using peer-to-peer pay-
ment platforms such as PayPal, Venmo, and CashApp; while Rep-
resentative Gaetz had accounts in his name on each of those plat-
forms, he also sometimes paid women through another person’s
PayPal account, or through an account held under a pseudonymous
e-mail account.#6 Representative Gaetz also paid some of the
women by check or in cash.47

The following chart summarizes payments made by Representa-
tive Gaetz to Mr. Greenberg and to women via peer-to-peer pay-
ment platforms or checks:

Recipient Amount 48 Timeframe
Woman 1 49 (former girlfriend) $63,836.58 2017-2020
Woman 2 $4,189.82 2019-2020
Woman 3 $2,651.69 2018-2019
Woman 4 $6,198.75 2017-2019
Woman 5 $4,025.27 2018-2019
Woman 6 $5,251.23 2018-2019
Woman 7 $200.00 2018
Woman 8 $600.00 2017
Woman 9 $1,280.00 2018-2020

44 Nonetheless, as the Committee has acknowledged, there are concerns regarding Mr. Green-
berg’s credibility. Representative Gaetz was also aware that Mr. Greenberg was not an entirely
trustworthy individual: “We all joked about how Joel is going to get us in trouble one day”; Rep-
resentative Gaetz was “aware” that it was not smart to “be hanging out with [Joel] because he
wasn’t a very [uplstanding person” (18(a) Interview of Woman 5); Mr. Greenberg’s personality
was “not one that really lends to what you would call a traditional, conventional friend”; Mr.
Greenberg “exists in a manic[ ] state”; “Congressman Gaetz and I had many conversations about
concerns about what kind of guy Joel Greenberg was”; and Mr. Greenberg would “walk|[ ] around
with a bunch of young women he met online and things like that” (18(a) Interview of Chris-
topher Dorworth).

45The Committee determined that a small portion of the payments was for drugs. See Exhibit

3.

46 Personal Venmo Account #1; Personal CashApp Account #1; Affiliated PayPal Account #1;
Affiliated PayPal Account #2. The pseudonymous e-mail account was subject to a user-initiated
deletion in September 2017 and purged of all records including emails, photographs, and cal-
endars, as well as access to certain applications, subscriptions, and content. Google only main-
tains deleted accounts for short periods in case a user wishes to recover it. See Google Account
Help, Delete Your Google Account or Google Services https:/support.google.com/accounts/answer/
32046?hl=en; Google Account Help, Recover a Recently Deleted Google Account, https:/
support.google.com/accounts/answer/62362957sjid=7679482182268347965-NA. Representative
Gaetz appears to have initially set up the pseudonymous e-mail account in order to make pay-
ments relating to cannabis products, and then also used it to make payments to women. The
witnesses interviewed by the Committee consistently testified that Representative Gaetz was a
frequent user of marijuana. See, e.g., 18(a) Interview of Woman 5 (“I provided him some car-
tridges . . . [olf marijuana.”’); 18(a) Interview of Woman 3 (“I know [Representative Gaetz] had
his weed pen on him a lot of the times.”); 18(a) Interview of Woman 7 (“I've seen him smoking
marijuana.”).

470ne male witness recalled seeing Representative Gaetz give cash to a woman at a party
at his home. He asked Representative Gaetz whether the payment was for sex, which Rep-
resentative Gaetz denied. When asked whether he believed Representative Gaetz, the witness
stated only that he “wanted to believe” him. 18(a) Interview of Individual 1. Mr. Greenberg also
received cash reimbursements for paying women on Representative Gaetz’s behalf.

48 Amount does not include cash or checks to cash that may have ultimately been received
by the women; it also does not include amounts paid by other individuals to women on behalf
of Representative Gaetz.

49 Amount does not include payments of attorney’s fees.
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Recipient Amount 48 Timeframe

Woman 10 $400.00 2018
Woman 11 $500.00 2017
Woman 12 $2,135.48 2018-2019

Joel Greenberg $3,950.00 2018-2019

The Committee’s record indicates that Representative Gaetz was
in a long-term relationship with Woman 1, and therefore some of
the payments may have been of a legitimate nature; however, as
discussed further below, Woman 1 asserted her Fifth Amendment
right when asked whether the payments to her from Representa-
tive Gaetz were for sexual activity and/or drugs, or for her to pass
on to others for such purposes. Based on that assertion combined
with evidence received from other sources, the Committee found
substantial reason to believe that most of these payments were for
such activity.

The Committee was not able to speak with every woman who re-
ceived payments from Representative Gaetz that were suspected of
being part of illicit activity. Several women initially were respon-
sive to the Committee’s outreach but later told the Committee they
would not voluntarily participate. Other women were clear at first
contact that they feared retaliation or were unwilling to voluntarily
relive their interactions with Representative Gaetz. Due to the
women’s reluctance to cooperate, as well as the delay caused by
DOJ’s deferral request and subsequent refusal to provide meaning-
ful cooperation, the Committee was unable to determine the full ex-
tent to which Representative Gaetz’s payments to women were
compensation for engaging in sexual activity with him. However,
the record before the Committee provides substantial reason to be-
lieve that many of the payments in the chart above were made in
connection with sexual activity and/or illicit drug use. The Com-
mittee was also not able to quantify the amount of cash payments
Representative Gaetz made to women,’© or the amount of pay-
ments that other individuals, such as Mr. Greenberg, made on be-
half of Representative Gaetz.

Representative Gaetz refused to answer questions about his rela-
tionships with the women involved. There was, however, evidence
that he understood and shared many of the women’s transactional
views of their arrangements. In one text exchange viewed by the
Committee, Representative Gaetz balked at a woman’s request that
he send her money after he accused her of “ditching” him on a
night when she was feeling tired, claiming she only gave him a
“drive by.” The woman asserted to Representative Gaetz that she
was being “treated differently” than other women he was paying
for sex.’1 The Committee also obtained text messages in which

50 Representative Gaetz withdrew more than $25,000 in cash from 2017-2018 alone. See Per-
sonal Checking Account 2; Personal Checking Account 3; Personal Checking Account 4.

51Some women appeared mindful of their own potential liability and were reluctant to ac-
knowledge explicit discussions of sex-for-hire. The Committee received some testimony indi-
cating that there may have at times been miscommunications about the transactional nature
of their interactions, but that it was ultimately made clear. One woman testified, “[mJaybe I
was under the impression that Joel [Greenberg] had talked to [Representative Gaetz] about kind
of what was supposed to happen. I think maybe [Representative Gaetz] even didn’t really under-
stand at some points because maybe that’s why he wasn’t giving me what I wanted. So I think
there was definitely some miscommunication, and then maybe Joel promised stuff, and he
wasn’t keeping it. I don’t really know what was going on behind the scenes with them or that
kind of stuff. But I would assume that he understood, considering he did send me money at
one point.” 18(a) Interview of Woman 4.
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Representative Gaetz’s then-girlfriend informed some of the women
who were typically paid for sex that “the guys [Representative
Gaetz and Mr. Greenberg] wanted me to share that they are a little
limited in their cash flow this weekend . . . [M]att was like[,] if it
can be more of a customer appreciation week. . . .”52 A few
months later, she noted that, “Btw Matt also mentioned he is going
to be a bit generous cause of the ‘customer appreciation’ thing last
time.” Another woman specifically recalled a conversation with
Representative Gaetz about issues with Mr. Greenberg’s “following
through” with expected payments after Mr. Greenberg’s encounters
with her.53 Mr. Greenberg told the Committee that Representative
Gaetz was aware that the women they had sex with and paid had
met Mr. Greenberg through the “sugar dating” website.

Representative Gaetz did not appear to have negotiated specific
payment amounts prior to engaging in sexual activity with the
women he paid. Instead, the women had a general expectation that
they would typically receive some amount of money after each sex-
ual encounter. In 2017, using a pseudonymous account, Represent-
ative Gaetz made payments to women largely without a description
of the purpose of the payment. After several months, he began to
use other payment accounts, including ones with his own name,
using innocuous descriptions to indicate the purpose of the pay-
ments.54 Representative Gaetz did not provide any information re-
garding the tens of thousands of dollars in payments he made to
over a dozen women despite being offered the opportunity to do so
by the Committee. Representative Gaetz was provided with a list
of women who the Committee found received payments from him
beginning in 2017 and was asked to inform the Committee of the
purpose of those payments, as well as to inform the Committee how
he knew the individual and whether, “if you engaged in any sexual
activity with the individual, did she ever indicate to you that she
expected payment for engaging in sexual activity with you?”55
Rather than answer the questions, Representative Gaetz asserted
incorrectly: “You ask, in part, whether I've had sex with a list of
adult women over the past seven years. The lawful, consensual,
sexual activities of adults are not the business of Congress.”

Many of the women interviewed by the Committee were clear
that there was a general expectation of sex. One woman who was
paid more than $5,000 by Representatlve Gaetz between 2018 and
2019 told the Committee that “909 percent of the time that [Rep-
resentative Gaetz and I] were hanging out, there was sex in-
volved.” 56

Text messages obtained by the Committee show that Representa-
tive Gaetz would also ask women to bring drugs to their ren-
dezvous, in some instances requesting marijuana cartridges and re-
paying the women directly, but in other cases requesting “a full
compliment [sic] of party favors,” “vitamins,” or “rolls.”57 Rep-

52 Exhibit 4.

5318(a) Interview of Woman 5.

54 See Exhibit 3.

55 See Appendix A (emphasis added).

56 Id. See also 18(a) Interview of Woman 13 (“Matt Gaetz paid me for sex, that was the extent
of our interaction.”); 18(a) Interview of Woman 5 (“it was understood . . . that [sex for money]
was the arrangement.”).

57Exhibit 4; Exhibit 5. Woman 5 explained that “rolls” referred to ecstasy. See also Slang
Terms and Code Words: A Reference for Law Enforcement Personnel, Drug Enforcement Admin-

Continued
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resentative Gaetz sent one woman several hundred dollars for
marijuana cartridges.>® One woman stated that, with respect to a
2018 Bahamas trip, “[Mlyself and [Representative Gaetz’s then-
girlfriend] brought drugs with us, and I do know that Matt sup-
plied [his then-girlfriend] with money.” >® Another woman said that
she brought cocaine to at least one event with Representative
Gaetz and that she witnessed him taking cocaine or ecstasy on at
least five occasions.?9 Mr. Greenberg told the Committee that he
would typically provide drugs, such as ecstasy, for events he at-
tended and Representative Gaetz would pay him back in cash. Sev-
eral other women observed Representative Gaetz to be under the
influence of drugs.6! Additionally, nearly every witness interviewed
observed Representative Gaetz using marijuana.2

ii. Selected Interactions

Based on the evidentiary record, the Committee identified at
least 20 occasions from the beginning of 2017 through the middle
of 2020 where there was substantial evidence that Representative
Gaetz met with women who were paid for sex and/or drugs. The
Committee also received testimony related to multiple additional
events, trips, or parties where Representative Gaetz may have paid
women for sex and drugs, although the Committee could not deter-
mine the specific dates or locations for all of them. To the extent
Representative Gaetz paid money to women in connection with
those trips, at least some such transactions are reflected in the
chart discussed in the prior section.

One of the women that Mr. Greenberg met on
SeekingArrangement.com and introduced to Representative Gaetz
in or around March 2017 became Representative Gaetz’s girlfriend,
when he was almost 35 and she was 21 years old; their relation-
ship continued for over two years. The relationship was not exclu-
sive, and the Committee received evidence that Representative
Gaetz’s then-girlfriend sometimes participated with him in sexual
encounters with other women who were active on the website or
otherwise involved in sex-for-money arrangements. The Committee
also obtained text messages where she appeared to act as an inter-
mediary between Representative Gaetz and the women he paid for
sex. She herself was paid tens of thousands of dollars by Rep-
resentative Gaetz over the course of their two-year relationship;
she stated “Matt always paid for anything for me.” 63 However, she

istration (July 2018), https:/www.dea.gov/sites/default/files/2018-07/DIR-022-18.pdf (listing “vi-
tamin E” and “rolls” as slang for ecstasy/MDMA/molly). The Committee was not able to deter-
mine how and when Representative Gaetz paid for “party favors” such as ecstasy and cocaine.

58 See Personal Venmo Account #1; 18(a) Interview of Woman 5.

5918(a) Interview of Woman 5 (also noting that she (Woman 5), Representative Gaetz’s then-
girlfriend (Woman 1), or Mr. Greenberg would typically supply drugs).

6018(a) Interview of Woman 6.

61 See, e.g., 18(a) Interview of Woman 4 (stating, for example, on one occasion Representative
Gaetz was “talkative, sexual[]. . . he stayed up late, like probably the whole night with every-
body” and that the “appearance of his face, eyes” were indicators of his having taken ecstasy);
18(a) Interview of Woman 5 (stating that on a different occasions Representative Gaetz “exhib-
ited signs of being on ecstasy”).

62See, e.g., 18(a) Interview of Woman 3; 18(a) Interview of Woman 4; 18(a) Interview of
Woman 5; 18(a) Interview of Woman 7; 18(a) Interview of Individual 1; 18(a) Interview of Chris-
topher Dorworth.

6318(a) Interview of Woman 1. This amount does not include the $50,025 Representative
Gaetz paid her attorneys at the outset of DOJ’s investigation. His then-girlfriend indicated he
paid for her attorneys “because he cares for me, wants me to be protected and safe.” Id. Other
witnesses indicated that they understood Representative Gaetz to have a financial relationship
with his then-girlfriend.
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invoked her Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination in
response to several questions, including what the purpose of spe-
cific payments was, whether Representative Gaetz ever paid her
money for sex, and whether she was aware of Representative Gaetz
paying others for sex. She also invoked her Fifth Amendment privi-
lege when asked to explain an increase in payments from Rep-
resentative Gaetz in 2019, whether any of the payments from Rep-
resentative Gaetz were related to drugs, and whether payments
she received from Mr. Greenberg were related to Representative
Gaetz.64

The Committee obtained messages between Mr. Greenberg and
a 20-year-old woman he met through SeekingArrangement.com
who noted, “I usually do $400 per meet.” As shown in the following
exchange, Mr. Greenberg and the woman made plans to each bring
a friend to their meet. The Committee found that the language
used by the woman and amount proposed were consistent with typ-
ical “pay per meet” arrangements made by wusers of
SeekingArrangement.com at that time.

64 See, e.g., Lauren Seabrook, UCF Sugar Babies Talk Sugar Daddy Foot Fetish, Arrangements
Netting Up to $500 a Date, WFTV9 (Apr. 26, 2019), https://www.wftv.com/news/9-investigates/
ucf-sugar-babies-explain-arrangements-that-net-up-to-500-a-date-talk-sugar-daddy-foot-fetish/
943137086; Anonymous, I'm a “Sugar Baby” Who Gets Paid $500 a Date—Here’s What It’s Real-
ly Like to Date Sugar Daddies and Get Cash, Gifts, and 5-Star Hotel Stays, BUSINESS INSIDER
(Aug. 8, 2022), https://www.businessinsider.com/sugar-baby-relationship-sugar-daddy-what-its-
like-2019-8; REDDIT (r/sugarlifestyle forum), https:/www.reddit.com/r/sugarlifestyle forum.
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So what do you have in mind for
tonight?

-prone) - Sep 22, 2018

Messages between Joel Greenberg
and 20 year-old Female

If you have a friend that is down, perhaps
all four of us can meet up later.

Do you party at all?
Sep 22, 2018

Oh that's perfect. | have a friend
who introduced me to the website
that | could bring. She's very pretty,
great personality. | usually do $400
per meet, does your friend use the

My friend

website as well? And yes | do like to

go out sometimes & Sep 22, 2018
I one) - Sep 22, 2018 Oooh my friend thinks he’s really

cute!
Very cool. Yes he understands the deal :)
_iProne) - Sep 22, 2018
What does your friend look like? Well, he’s down here only for the day, we
7 work hard and play hard.
$400 is not a problem. Are you both old
enough to drink ? Have you ever tried molly
Sep 22, 2018 Sep 22, 2018

Evidence reviewed by the Committee shows that, on several occa-
sions, Representative Gaetz met with the woman who corresponded
with Mr. Greenberg in these messages; he continues to follow her
on social media and has paid her more than $2,000 since late 2018.

The Committee received evidence indicating that the 20-year-old
woman in the above messages joined Mr. Greenberg and Rep-
resentative Gaetz at a hotel in Florida less than two weeks after
her initial encounter with Representative Gaetz. The Committee’s
record indicates that Representative Gaetz also invited another
woman who he regularly paid for sex to meet him at the hotel,
without disclosing to her that others would be present. The other
woman, who was 21 years old, had recently asked the congressman
for his help with her tuition. She recalled that Representative
Gaetz agreed and told her to meet him at that hotel room, where
he would provide her with a check, which, according to the woman,
“was interesting because he had normally sent Venmo pay-
ments.” 66 When she arrived to pick up the check, she found Mr.
Greenberg and the 20-year-old woman present. The 21-year-old
woman told the Committee there was an “expectation” of a “sexual
encounter.” The four of them had sex and afterwards Representa-
tive Gaetz gave her a $750 check made out to cash with “tuition
reimbursement” in the memo line, which she deposited the next
day to help pay her tuition.67 The 21-year-old woman told the Com-
mittee she believed that the encounter “could potentially be a form

66 18(a) Interview of Woman 5.
67 Personal Checking Account #4.
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of coercion because I really needed the money.” 68 Representative
Gaetz’s financial records confirm that he wrote the check, and that
he was present at the hotel identified by the woman, on the date
identified by the woman.69

As another example, the Committee obtained text messages that
appeared to show Representative Gaetz messaging a woman he
knew through Mr. Greenberg, inviting her to travel on a private
plane to Key West from May 19-21, 2017, with “2 guys, 4 girls. A
very high-quality, adventurous group.”7? She initially responded,
“Yeah I'm in,” to which Representative Gaetz stated, “Fantastic. As
is true with all time you spend w[ith] me, it'll be fun and very
chill.” The same woman was photographed with Representative
Gaetz on May 19, 2017, in Orlando. The photograph depicts Rep-
resentative Gaetz in a casual shirt with his arm around her in a
dimly lit bar. She was also photographed in front of a helicopter
with three other women associated with Representative Gaetz
around the same time, including his then-girlfriend. After the Com-
mittee obtained copies of the text messages and “selfie” photo,
there was public reporting about the evidence.”! In response to the
reporting, Representative Gaetz’s spokesperson released a state-
ment asserting that “Rep. Gaetz does not know anything about the
woman you're referencing, though he takes thousands of selfies
each year.” 72 Payment records reviewed by the Committee, how-
ever, show that Representative Gaetz paid $600 to the woman the
same day he was photographed with her.

In February 2018, Mr. Greenberg introduced Representative
Gaetz to two women with accounts on SeekingArrangement.com.
They were generally older than the other women that Mr. Green-
berg had previously introduced to Representative Gaetz, and they
had a slightly different relationship with the two men. They were
the only women paid by Representative Gaetz who denied to the
Committee that the payments they received from the congressman
were compensation for engaging in sexual activity.

One of the women, who was 25 years old when she met Rep-
resentative Gaetz, testified that she understood herself to be more
“sophisticated” than some other women on
SeekingArrangement.com. In contrast to the women who almost ex-
clusively interacted with Representative Gaetz in hotel rooms or at
private parties,’3 this woman attended events as Representative
Gaetz’s date, for which she was paid between $500 and $1,000 per

6818(a) Interview of Woman 5. Contemporaneous messages reviewed by the Committee show
that Representative Gaetz also understood the urgency of the woman’s need to pay for classes
on a deadline.

69 Personal Checking Account #2; Personal Checking Account #4.

70 Exhibit 6.

71 See Will Steakin, House Panel Obtains Texts Allegedly Showing Gaetz Setting Up 2017 Flor-
ida Keys Trip with Woman His Associate Paid for Sex: Sources, ABC NEws (Feb. 14, 2024),
https://abecnews.go.com/US/house-panel-obtains-texts-allegedly-showing-gaetz-setting/
story?id=107126493 (herein after February 14 ABC Article). Representative Gaetz repeatedly ac-
cused the Committee of being responsible for “leaking” this information to the press. The Com-
mittee was not responsible for the disclosure of evidence. The same records were in the posses-
sion of multiple individuals at the time of the disclosure due to the civil litigation relating to
the allegations against Representative Gaetz.

2]d.

73The Committee received evidence that Representative Gaetz invited some of the younger
women to hotels where political events were occurring. Representative Gaetz advised the women
on what to wear when attending such events. See Exhibit 5 (Rep. Gaetz: “let’s talk wardrobe
. . . [dlo you have a cute black dress? . . . Can’t be toooo short. But sexy def OK.”).
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event.”* She also stated that she did not feel pressured to have sex
with Representative Gaetz, and only did so on some occasions.?>
She told the Committee that, in December 2019, Representative
Gaetz had his congressional assistant arrange travel for her to
Washington, D.C. for one night.”® According to the woman, she at-
tended a dinner with Representative Gaetz and a few other individ-
uals.”” She stayed overnight at a hotel with Representative Gaetz
and had sex with him. Representative Gaetz sent the woman
$1,000 around that time. The woman told the Committee she was
paid to be his date and that sex was not necessarily an expecta-
tion.”8

The other older woman, who was 27 years old when she met Rep-
resentative Gaetz, was the only woman interviewed by the Com-
mittee who did not view their relationship as transactional in na-
ture.” The first time she met Representative Gaetz, however, she
had sex with him and was paid $1,000 by Mr. Greenberg, which
she understood to have been at Representative Gaetz’s direction.
She told the Committee that she viewed her relationship with Rep-
resentative Gaetz as “more or less” dating, although “it was never
anything serious.”8% She said she was not familiar with his then-
girlfriend, and said she was not aware that he was also having a
sexual relationship with her friend, the 25-year-old woman. She
frequently commented on his social media, and he still follows her
on social media.

Most of the sex-for-money encounters that the Committee re-
viewed occurred in Florida, particularly around Orlando. Several of
the women involved were students based in that area. On several
occasions, however, Representative Gaetz did travel with women
that he paid for sex.

On September 13, 2018, Representative Gaetz, two other men,
and six women traveled to the Bahamas. Representative Gaetz ar-
rived by commercial plane later than the others, who arrived on
private planes. The group stayed at a vacation rental booked and
paid for by one of the male travelers.8 The attendees stated that
this was a social trip—they sunbathed, chartered a boat, and went
to dinners and to a casino as a group. Representative Gaetz en-
gaged in sexual activity with at least four of the women on the
trip.82 Several of the women recalled that Representative Gaetz ap-

7418(a) Interview of Woman 6 (stating that the money was “pretty much to stand there, take
pictures, and smile.”).
75

76 Personal CashApp Account #1.

77 Representative Gaetz referenced this dinner in a March 30, 2021 media interview: “[Y]ou
and I went to dinner about two years ago, your wife was there, and I brought a friend of mine,
you’ll remember her. . . .” Teo Armus, Tucker Carlson Denies Gaetz Claim That He Met Witness
in FBI Probes: One of the Weirdest Interviews I've Ever Conducted, THE WASHINGTON PoOST
(Mar. 31, 2021) (herein after Carlson Interview), https:/www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2021/
03/31/tucker-carlson-matt-gaetz-17.

7818(a) Interview of Woman 6.

79 As one example, the Committee asked this woman about a $550 payment she received from
Representative Gaetz in 2018, which occurred around the same time she attended an event with
Representative Gaetz and had sex with him. The woman told the Committee that the $550 pay-
ment was reimbursement for a dress she purchased to wear to the event. 18(a) Interview of
Woman 3.

80 [d.

81 Exhibit 7.

8218(a) Interview of Woman 1 (stating that she was a “witness” to Representative Gaetz en-
gaging in sexual activity with other women on the trip); 18(a) Interview of Woman 4 (“I had
sex with [Representative Gaetz] at the Airbnb that we were staying in in the Bahamas.” How-
ever, in the civil litigation, Woman 4 stated that she did not participate in sexual activity in
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peared to be under the influence of drugs and that they took ec-
stasy during this trip; one woman said she witnessed Representa-
tive Gaetz taking ecstasy as well.83 Most, if not all, of the women
involved had some history of sexual interactions with Representa-
tive Gaetz for which they had been paid. While there were no spe-
cific payments to the women in connection with the Bahamas trip,
according to one woman, “the trip itself was more so the pay-
ment.” 8¢ The group returned to Orlando on September 16, 2018;
Representative Gaetz flew on a private plane with another man
and three women, while the remaining individuals flew on another
private plane.

Representative Gaetz paid for two women to travel to New York
City in January 2019 to meet up with him and his then-girlfriend.
The Committee reviewed text messages in which Representative
Gaetz asked the women about obtaining drugs in advance of the
trip, stating, “[wlho can help w[ith] party favors?”85 In addition to
paying for their travel costs, the Committee received evidence that
Representative Gaetz sent the women money to compensate them
for sexual activities they engaged in with him during the trip.86

While all the women that the Committee interviewed stated their
sexual activity with Representative Gaetz was consensual, at least
one woman felt that the use of drugs at the parties and events they
attended may have “impair[ed their] ability to really know what
was going on or fully consent.” 87 Indeed, nearly every woman that
the Committee spoke with could not remember the details of at
least one or more of the events they attended with Representative
Gaetz and attributed that to drug or alcohol consumption.88 The
women also discussed instances where Representative Gaetz would
try to convince them to have sex with him or Mr. Greenberg: “[Hle
would make me feel bad about not having sex with him or [] Joel
Greenberg” and that he would say, “Why don’t you want to have
sex with me” or “[Mr. Greenberg] looks very sad over there . . .
Make him happy.” 82 Another woman said that their relationship at
some point was a “loving friendship,” but over time came to feel
like a “task.”90 A third woman said, “[W]hen I look back on certain
moments, I feel violated.” ! One woman said, “I think about it all
the time I still see him when I turn on the tv and there’s nothing
anyone can do. It’s frustrating to know I lived a reality that he de-
nies.” 92

the Bahamas.); 18(a) Interview of Victim A(“I joined in . . . when[ ] [Representative Gaetz] was
with all of those women in the bedroom.”).

8318(a) Interview of Victim A.

8418(a) Interview of Woman 5.

85 Exhibit 8.

861d.; see also Exhibit 3; 18(a) Interview of Woman 5.

8718(a) Interview of Woman 4.

88]d.; 18(a) Interview of Victim A; 18(a) Interview of Woman 1; 18(a) Interview of Woman 5.

8918(a) Interview of Victim A.

9018(a) Interview of Woman 5.

9118(a) Interview of Victim A (also commenting that she “thought all of those people were
my friends . . . I know now that [] they’re not.”).

9218(a) Interview of Woman 13.
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3. Representative Gaetz’s Interactions With the Minor He Met
Through Mr. Greenberg

Numerous witnesses told the Committee that, on July 15, 2017,
Representative Gaetz attended a party at Mr. Dorworth’s home.93
This party was also attended by Mr. Greenberg, Representative
Gaetz’s then-girlfriend, and several others, including Victim A, who
was 17 years old at the time. The record overwhelmingly suggests
that Representative Gaetz had sex with multiple women at the
party, including the then-17-year-old, for which they were paid.9¢

Mr. Dorworth testified that Representative Gaetz was a frequent
guest at his home.?5 To enter the community where Mr. Dorworth
lives, non-residents are required to present a driver’s license before
entering, and entry records are maintained.?¢ Mr. Dorworth be-
lieved that Representative Gaetz invited people to his home on the
evening of July 15, 2017.97 Likewise, Representative Gaetz’s then-
girlfriend provided an affidavit in the civil litigation stating that
she and Representative Gaetz attended the July 15, 2017, party at
the Dorworth residence.?8

The Committee received testimony that Victim A and Represent-
ative Gaetz had sex twice during the party, including at least once
in the presence of other party attendees.?? Victim A recalled receiv-
ing $400 in cash from Representative Gaetz that evening, which
she understood to be payment for sex.100 At the time, she had just
completed her junior year of high school.101 Victim A said that she
did not inform Representative Gaetz that she was under 18 at the
time, nor did he ask her age. The Committee did not receive any
evidence indicating that Representative Gaetz was aware that Vic-
tim A was a minor when he had sex with her.

93]d.; 18(a) Interview of Woman 4; 18(a) Interview of Victim A; Sworn response of Joel Green-
berg.;) see also Exhibit 9 (showing that Woman 1, Victim A, and Woman 4 were present at the
party).

9418(a) Interview of Victim A; 18(a) Interview of Woman 1; 18(a) Interview of Woman 4. Mr.
Greenberg informed the Committee that the day after this party, Representative Gaetz bragged
that “he had sex with six girls in one day and named all of them,” including Victim A.

9518(a) Interview of Christopher Dorworth (stating that Representative Gaetz would stay at
his home three to five times a year, and that his home has seven bedrooms).

96 The records only list the vehicle and driver; it does not include passengers.

97 See Exhibit 9 (showing at least five individuals arriving between 3:20 p.m. and 11:16 p.m.).
Mr. Dorworth’s wife testified in the civil litigation that she also thought Representative Gaetz
was at her home on July 15, 2017, and another individual testified in that litigation that Rep-
resentative Gaetz was at Mr. Dorworth’s house when he arrived that evening. One woman pro-
vided an affidavit in the civil litigation stating that, “Over the course of the Summer and into
the Fall of 2017, I attended gatherings at the Dorworth Residence with alcohol; cocaine; middle-
aged men; and young, attractive females.”

98 Woman 4 also provided an affidavit in the civil litigation placing Representative Gaetz at
Mr. Dorworth’s house during the July 15, 2017, party.

99 Although one witness indicated that Representative Gaetz and Victim A had sex with Rep-
resentative Gaetz’s then-girlfriend present and participating, another witness indicated that
Representative Gaetz’s then-girlfriend did not have sex with Victim A at that specific party. One
individual stated she saw Representative Gaetz and Victim A having sex; her testimony was
consistent to both the Committee and in the civil litigation. The Committee also received evi-
dence that Mr. Dorworth may have observed Representative Gaetz and Victim A having sex at
the party; Victim A said he walked in on her and Representative Gaetz having sex and that
Mr. Dorworth was “joking about it with other people at the party.” 18(a) Interview of Victim
A. Mr. Dorworth testified that he was not home that evening. 18(a) Interview of Christopher
Dorworth. However, phone records for Mr. Dorworth indicate that he was home at approxi-
mately 7:00 p.m. and did not leave until the following day. Additionally, multiple individuals
provided testimony and affidavits in the civil litigation asserting Mr. Dorworth was home on
the evening of July 15.

100Tn the week leading up to this party, Representative Gaetz withdrew at least $1,200 cash
over three transactions. See Personal Checking Account #2; Personal Checking Account #3; Per-
sonal Checking Account #4.

101Victim A did not turn 18 until later in 2017.
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Victim A acknowledged that she was under the influence of ec-
stasy during her sexual encounters with Representative Gaetz at
the July 15, 2017, party, and recalled seeing Representative Gaetz
use cocaine at that party.192 Victim A told the Committee she was
“certain” of her sexual encounters with Representative Gaetz on
that night.193 As discussed further below, Representative Gaetz
generally denied engaging in sexual activity with a minor but re-
fused to answer specific questions relating to his interactions with
Victim A.

On August 2, 2024, Representative Gaetz sent the Committee a
copy of a social media post from Mr. Dorworth regarding his law-
suit against Victim A, in which he had accused her of being part
of a conspiracy to defame him. In that post, Mr. Dorworth dis-
cussed his recent settlement with Victim A (in which no funds were
exchanged). He asserted that he had “succeeded” in proving that
Victim A “lied” about him, and that “[s]he didn’t just lie about me,
she lied about Gaetz as well in a federal criminal investigation that
resulted in no charges against the congressman because our false-
accuser has no credibility and had no evidence for the crime that
didn’t occur.” The same day, Mr. Dorworth revised his post (after
Victim A’s attorneys contacted his attorneys) to remove his claim
that he succeeded in proving the Victim A had lied but maintaining
his assertion that she falsely accused Representative Gaetz. Mr.
Dorworth testified to the Committee that he himself was not
present for the July 15, 2017, party at his own home, despite Vic-
tim A’s assertions to the contrary. After the Committee’s interview,
and after he settled his lawsuit against Victim A, Mr. Dorworth
was deposed and confronted with cell phone records showing that
he was in fact at his residence during the party. Mr. Dorworth
stated, “I don’t have an answer to these questions” and “I am not
going to opine on cell phone data when I don’t know anything
about [it]. . . . I don’t know. I do not believe I was there. . . .
There could be a million reasons for that.” As the questions about
his cell phone pinging from a tower less than a mile from his home
continued, Mr. Dorworth became irritated, informing the attorney
“I'm telling you that I was not at that party. So if you believe those
[phone records] somehow impute that I was or that they make it
just undeniable, then that is certainly your belief.” The Committee
requested, through counsel, that Mr. Dorworth clarify his testi-
mony regarding his whereabouts on the evening of July 15, 2017,
his counsel did not respond.

4. Representative Gaetz’s Response to the Allegations of Sexual Mis-
conduct and Illicit Drug Use

Representative Gaetz categorically stated to the Committee that
the allegations he “may have engaged in sexual misconduct includ-
ing violations of federal laws relating to sex trafficking and state
laws relating to prostitution and statutory rape,” were “false” and

10218(a) Interview of Victim A. See also 18(a) Interview of Woman 4 (“[TThe state everyone

was in . . . made me assume that [Representative Gaetz] was probably on [some drugs] 7).
103 18(a) Tnterview of Victim A (A: [Wlhen[] I first got to that party [] I wasn’t that drunk
at the beginning of the party, and [] those two memories are [] so huge in my head . . . Q:

[Ils there any chance that you are misremembering whether or not you engaged in sexual activ-
ity with Matt Gaetz when you were 17 years old? A: No.). Mr. Greenberg claimed to have wit-
nessed Victim A having sex with Representative Gaetz at the home of Individual 1 when she
was 17 years old; however, Victim A did not recall such an instance occurring. Victim A also
had hazy memories of other occasions on which she saw Representative Gaetz.
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that “[t]hese allegations were investigated by the Department of
Justice and the investigation was completely dropped.” He also re-
peatedly, incorrectly stated that the DOJ investigation “exoner-
ated” him. Representative Gaetz did not provide any explanation
for his assertion that the allegations of state law violations were
false, even though those violations were not within the jurisdiction
of DOJ. He also denied the allegations that he used illicit drugs.104

The Committee provided Representative Gaetz with the names of
15 women who were alleged to have received payments from him
or on his behalf relating to sexual misconduct and illicit drug use,
as well as the approximate payment amounts and transaction
years, but he did not provide any explanation for those payments.
Representative Gaetz responded publicly to allegations that his
payments to women were for sex by stating that “someone is trying
to recategorize my generosity to ex-girlfriends as something more
untoward.” 195 He also repeatedly denied having ever paid for
sex.106 When given the opportunity to put that assertion in writing
in this matter, however, Representative Gaetz refused to respond,
asserting that “asking about [his] sexual history as a single man
with adult women is a bridge too far.”

Representative Gaetz did broadly address the allegation that he
engaged in sexual activity with a minor; he asserted in his Sep-
tember 26, 2024, letter to the Committee: “Your correspondence of
September 4 asks whether I have engaged in sexual activity with
any individual under 18. The answer to this question is unequivo-
cally NO. You can apply this response to every version of this ques-
tion, in every forum.” 107 The Committee’s September 4 letter, how-
ever, specifically asked him whether he was present at the July 15,
2017, party at Mr. Dorworth’s, whether he ever engaged in sexual
activity with Victim A and when, and whether he ever gave Victim
A money (directly or indirectly) and if so, for what purpose. Rep-
resentative Gaetz did not answer any of those questions.

B. ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO THE HOUSE GIFT RULE

In 2021, news outlets reported that federal investigators were re-
viewing the 2018 Bahamas trip.198 According to these reports, the

104 See, e.g., @FmrRepMattGaetz, X (formerly Twitter) (Sept. 26, 2024, 12:29 p.m.), https:/
twitter.com/FmrRepMattGaetz/status/1839341409582846196 (hereinafter, September 26 X Post)
(“I have not used drugs which are illegal, absent some law allowing use in a jurisdiction of the
United States. I have not used ‘llicit’ drugs, which I consider to be drugs unlawful for medical
or over-the-counter use everywhere in the United States.”).

105 See, e.g., Will Steakin, Witness Tells House Ethics Committee That Mait Gaetz Paid Her
for Sex: Sources, ABC NEWs (June 19, 2024), https://abcnews.go.com/US/witness-tells-house-
etl}(i)gs]—;ommittee-matt-gaetzpaid/story?id:111217102; Mar. 30 NYT Article.

106 February 14 ABC Article (a spokesperson for the congressman stated, “Rep. Gaetz has
never paid for sex.”); Michael S. Schmidt and Katie Benner, Indicted Gaetz Associate is Said
to be Cooperating with Justice Dept., THE NEW YORK TIMES (Apr. 13, 2021), https:/
www.nytimes.com/2021/04/13/us/politics/joel-greenberg-matt-gaetz.html (a spokesperson for Rep-
resentative Gaetz stated, “Congressman Gaetz has never paid for sex”); Marc Caputo, The Con-
gressman and His Wingman, POLITICO (Apr. 6, 2021), https:/politico.com/states/florida/story/
2021/04/06/the-congressman-and-his-wingman-1371840 (hereinafter April 6 Politico Article) (“1
have never paid for sex”); Representative Matt Gaetz, Rep. Matt Gaetz: The Swamp is Out to
Drown Me with False Charges, but I'm Not Giving Up, THE WASHINGTON EXAMINER (Apr. 5,
2021), https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/1933067/rep-matt-gaetz-the-swamp-is-out-
to-drown-me-with-false-charges-but-im-not-giving-up/ (hereinafter April 5 Washington Examiner
Article) (“[Llet me address the allegations against me directly. First, I have never, ever paid for
sex.”).

107 See Appendix A.

108 Major Garrett et a 1., Matt Gaetz Trip to Bahamas is Part of Federal Probe into Sex Traf-
ficking, Sources Say, CBS NEWs (Apr. 8, 2021), https:/www.cbsnews.com/news/matt-gaetz-baha-
mas-trip-federal-probe-sex-trafficking.
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trip was paid for by an associate of Representative Gaetz with con-
nections to the medical marijuana industry, who allegedly also paid
for female escorts to accompany them on the trip.199 The only other
male attendee was also connected to the medical marijuana indus-
try. According to press reports, DOJ was investigating allegations
that the trip may have been part of an illegal influence effort on
behalf of the medical marijuana industry.110

As discussed above, the Bahamas trip took place from September
13 to 16, 2018, and included Representative Gaetz, two other men,
and six women. Representative Gaetz flew on a commercial airline
from Washington, D.C. to the Bahamas on September 13, 2018.
Representative Gaetz’s associate paid for a vacation rental for the
group but told the Committee that Representative Gaetz paid for
various expenses in the Bahamas, such as meals, and that these
expenses covered Representative Gaetz’s share of the vacation rent-
al. No other individuals recalled whether Representative Gaetz
paid for their meals, vacation rental, or other activities on this trip,
with the exception of his then-girlfriend. No one recalled Rep-
resentative Gaetz making cash payments, and his bank statements
and credit card records do not show any transactions on these
dates occurring in the Bahamas, nor large withdrawals of cash dur-
ing or in advance of the trip. On September 16, 2018, Representa-
tive Gaetz flew on his associate’s private plane from the Bahamas
to Orlando, along with three female passengers between 20 to 29
years old.111

C. ALLEGATIONS RELATED TO MISUSE OF OFFICIAL RESOURCES

As discussed above, in early 2018, Representative Gaetz met a
woman through Mr. Greenberg; the same night they met, they had
sex and Mr. Greenberg sent her money. At that first meeting, the
woman also told Representative Gaetz she needed a new passport
for an upcoming trip. She did not initially know Representative
Gaetz was a congressman, but he connected her with his then-
Chief of Staff, who worked with the State Department’s congres-
sional liaison to secure a passport appointment for the woman
within days of their first meeting. An individual from the Depart-
ment of State, Miami Passport Agency sent the Chief of Staff an
e-mail confirming “an appointment for your constituent,” which the
Chief of Staff then forwarded to the woman, who lived in Orlando,
Florida—outside of Representative Gaetz’s congressional district.112

The woman acknowledged to the Committee that the money she
received from Mr. Greenberg was sent on behalf of Representative
Gaetz but denied that the money was compensation for their sexual
encounter. Instead, she said the $1,000 she received from Mr.
Greenberg was to assist her with transportation costs to go to the
Miami passport office from Orlando.113 The woman spent $195 to
obtain her new passport prior to her trip—a standard $60 fee for

109 14.

110 Evan Perez et al., Gaetz Probe Includes Scrutiny of Potential Public Corruption Tied to
Medical Marijuana Industry, CNN (Apr. 23, 2021), https:/www.cnn.com/2021/04/23/politics/
gaetz-probe-public-corruption-medical-marijuana/index.html. The Committee did not find any
evidence that the trip was intended as a quid pro quo or gratuity for Representative Gaetz’s
official actions.

111 Exhibit 10.

11218(a) Interview of Woman 3.

113 See Section IV.C supra.
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an in-person appointment, plus $135 for the passport. She contin-
ued to meet up with Representative Gaetz on other occasions, dur-
ing which they engaged in sexual activity.

The Committee reviewed other records relating to passport as-
sistance requests from the office of Representative Gaetz. It was
unusual for the Chief of Staff to process requests for expedited
passports from constituents; those casework matters were typically
handled by district staff. The Committee also received evidence
that Representative Gaetz tasked the Chief of Staff with assisting
Mr. Greenberg on occasion. The Chief of Staff was no longer em-
ployed in Representative Gaetz’s office at the time of the Commit-
tee’s review and did not respond to communications from the Com-
mittee.

D. OBSTRUCTION OF THE COMMITTEE’S INVESTIGATION

On May 23, 2023, the Committee informed Representative Gaetz
that it had reauthorized an investigation into several allegations,
including sexual misconduct and illicit drug use, and sent Rep-
resentative Gaetz a narrowly tailored request for information seek-
ing specific documents related to allegations squarely within the
Committee’s jurisdiction—namely, violations related to the House
Gift Rule or bribery and improper images on the House floor. The
request for information also asked for “any other information that
you believe may be relevant” to the matter as a whole. In response,
Representative Gaetz began sending letters to the Chairman and
Ranking Member asserting, among other things, that the Commit-
tee’s requests for a two-week response time and signed declaration
under oath (both of which are standard practice for the Committee)
were unreasonable and that he was being treated differently than
other Members of Congress. Representative Gaetz indicated that
the Committee’s request was overly burdensome, as he would need
to sort through six years’ worth of records, across various accounts.
In these letters, he also began making demands of the Committee
in exchange for his “good faith” cooperation while suggesting that
the Committee was being “weaponized” against him for various
changing reasons.

The Chairman and Ranking Member granted Representative
Gaetz an extension through August 11, 2023, to respond to the re-
quest for information, and explained the Committee’s standard
practices.114 Representative Gaetz missed the deadline, and stated

114The July 19, 2023, letter explained, among other things, that the Committee determined
that public allegations raised against Representative Gaetz should be reviewed, consistent with
longstanding practice regarding public allegations of sexual misconduct (see, e.g., Comm. on Eth-
ics, Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding
Representatlve John Conyers, dJr. (Nov. 21, 2017), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-release/
statement—chairw0man-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-jo-1;
Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on
Ethics Regarding Representative Ruben Kihuen (Dec. 15, 2017), https://ethics.house.gov/press-
release/statement-chairwoman-and-ranking-member- committee-ethics- regarding-representative-
8; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member of the Committee on
Ethics Regarding Representative Patrick Meehan (Jan. 22, 2018), https://ethics.house.gov/press-
release/statement-chairwoman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-
12; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics
Regarding Delegate Michael F.Q. San Nicolas (Oct. 24, 2019), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-
releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-delegate-michael-
f-q; Comm. on Ethics, Statement of Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics
Regarding Representative Katie Hill (Oct. 23, 2019), https://ethics.house.gov/press-releases/state-
ment-chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-katie; Comm.
on Ethics, Statement of Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding
Representative Alcee Hastings (Nov. 14, 2019), https://ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-
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he would only produce documents in-person at his district office.115
The Chairman and Ranking Member responded again, giving him
an extension through September 28, 2023, to comply with the re-
quest for information and reiterating the Committee’s standard
practices. Representative Gaetz again missed the deadline, ulti-
mately producing three pages that were not fully responsive to the
request for information on October 2, 2023. In his response, Rep-
resentative Gaetz produced his “boarding passes and itinerary”
used for the 2018 Bahamas trip, which he also stated he “paid for
personally.” However, the boarding passes and itinerary only show
his flight to the Bahamas and not his return (as discussed above,
Representative Gaetz flew out of the Bahamas via private plane).
Representative Gaetz intentionally omitted information relating to
his return transportation, indicating in later correspondence that,
because the Committee’s request was for documents “related to ac-
tual or planned travel to the Bahamas,” (emphasis added), he
should not be expected to have produced records of his transpor-
tation from that location. When the Committee noted that any doc-
uments involving his transportation from the Bahamas were clear-
ly “related to” the travel at issue, his response made clear that he
was not willing to provide good faith responses:
[Dloes the Committee also have interest in every dollar

I spent in the Bahamas on food, refreshments and other

travel provisions such as sunscreen? I ask because your re-

quest is unclear, unrelated to House Rules, and more than

a bit nosey. I can represent to the Committee that no

funds of mine were expended in the Bahamas for “illicit

drug use” or sexual misconduct.

Despite frequently suggesting he had insufficient opportunities to
respond to the allegations against him, Representative Gaetz sent
more than a dozen letters to the Chairman and Ranking Member
throughout the Committee’s review. In addition to alleging that the
Committee’s process was being “weaponized” against him, Rep-
resentative Gaetz repeatedly alleged that the Committee Members
and staff were leaking information to the press, that the Commit-
tee’s non-partisan staff were actually acting as Democrats, or that
the Committee was working on behalf of former-Speaker Kevin
McCarthy. He also demanded to know the sources of the allega-
tions against him and argued that the Committee’s investigation
should be closed because DOJ had “exonerated” him.

On May 20, 2024, the Committee requested Representative Gaetz
provide availability for an interview to be conducted sometime in
the first two weeks of June; the interview would be an opportunity
for Representative Gaetz to answer questions about and respond to

chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-alcee; Comm. on Eth-
ics, Statement of the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding
Representative Tom Reed (Apr. 9, 2021), https:/ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-
chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-tom).

115 As Representative Gaetz is undoubtedly aware, it is common practice to provide materials
responsive to a congressional request via e-mail, courier, or a secure cloud-based platform. In
fact, he provided documents via e-mail in the Committee’s prior investigation into his conduct.
Comm. on Ethics, In the Maiter of Allegations Relating to Representative Matt Gaetz, H. Rept.
116-479, 116th Cong., 2d Sess. (2020) (hereinafter Gaetz).
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the allegations.116 In that letter, the Committee appended a ful-
some list of allegations involving Representative Gaetz, to ensure
his awareness of all allegations before the Committee. On May 24,
2024, Representative Gaetz responded to the Committee’s letter.
He demanded the Committee investigate “leaks” to the press prior
to him submitting for an interview and argued (incorrectly) that
the Committee could not subpoena his testimony unless it
impaneled an investigative subcommittee.l1?7 He also referred to
“voluminous documentary evidence” he produced to the Committee
that he claimed showed his innocence and categorically denied all
the allegations.

On June 17, 2024, the Committee informed Representative Gaetz
that it would be both expanding and narrowing the scope of its in-
vestigation into allegations involving him. The letter also requested
evidence that DOJ had “exonerated” him,11® any records previously
produced to DOJ, and any other documents he believed the Com-
mittee should have already received comprising the “voluminous”
evidence he claimed to have provided. Finally, the letter reiterated
the Committee’s request that Representative Gaetz appear for a
voluntary interview and reminded him that, pursuant to Com-
mittee Rule 10(a), it would consider whether to use compulsory
process to obtain his testimony.

Representative Gaetz responded on June 24, 2024, stating that
he would need additional time to review “over ten thousand
records” he had previously submitted to DOJ.11° He also reiterated
his requests that the Committee provide him with confidential in-
formation about its investigative sources, as well as regarding any
investigation of disclosures in the press. He then publicly called the
Committee’s investigation “frivolous” and said it was an “obvious
fact that every investigation into me ends the same way: my exon-

116 The letter also noted that, should Representative Gaetz not submit to a voluntary inter-
view, the Committee may use its compulsory process to obtain his testimony. See Committee
Rule 10(a)(1).

117The Committee’s subpoena authority is not related to whether it establishes an investiga-
tive subcommittee, which is only one procedural path for investigation by the Committee. See
House rule XI, cl. 2(m); Committee Rule 10(a)(1); see also, e.g., Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter
of Allegations Relating to Delegate Michael F.Q. San Nicolas, H. Rept. 117-387, 117th Cong.,
2d Sess. (2022) (hereinafter San Nicolas) (ISC issued a subpoena after the Delegate declined
a voluntary interview and did not meaningfully respond to several opportunities to provide a
written statement to address the allegations against him); Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of
Allegations Relating to Laura Richardson, H. Rept. 112-642, 112th Cong., 2d Sess. (2012) (here-
inafter Richardson); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative
Charles B. Rangel, H. Rept. 111-161, 111th Cong., 2d Sess. (2010) (Member agreed to volun-
tarily produce documents after staff informed him the Committee issued a subpoena and the
subpoena was not served); McDermott; Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation
of Allegations Related to Improper Conduct Involving Members and Current or Former House
Pages, H. Rept. 109-733, 109th Cong., 2d Sess. (2006) (subpoenas served to preserve documents
at the outset of the investigation, rather than compel production of documents); Comm. on
Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation of Certain Allegations Related to Voting on the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, H. Rept. 108-722,
108th Cong., 2d Sess. (2004) (subpoenaing Representative Nick Smith, the only Member in the
investigation who declined to voluntarily interview); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct,
In the Matter of Representative E.G. “Bud” Shuster, H. Rept. 106-979, 106th Cong., 2d Sess.
at 94-98 (2000); Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Bar-
bara-Rose Collins, H. Rept. 104-876, 104th Cong., 2d Sess. (1997). Furthermore, an investiga-
tive subcommittee is not the most common process through which the Committee conducts its
investigations; most Committee investigations are conducted pursuant to Committee Rule 18(a),
as in this matter.

118 See Section II supra (regarding DOJ’s non-cooperation with the Committee).

119 Representative Gaetz did not explain in his letter why he has not produced those 10,000
records to the Committee despite having been informed of the Committee’s reauthorized inves-
tigation more than a year prior.
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eration.” 120 Representative Gaetz ultimately produced some addi-
tional documents to the Committee through early September, al-
though it is not clear how many of those documents had been pre-
viously produced to DOJ. The Committee also invited Representa-
tive Gaetz to clarify the relevancy of the records he produced, most
of which did not appear to be responsive to the Committee’s re-
quest, to which he stated only that he was prioritizing the evidence
that most clearly proved his innocence. Representative Gaetz also
falsely stated in a letter to the Committee, which he shared in a
public social media post, that he had “voluntarily produced tens of
thousands of records.” To the contrary, Representative Gaetz pro-
vided only a couple hundred records, more than 90 percent of
which was either irrelevant or publicly available. Despite multiple
extensions from the Committee to review and produce responsive
records from the “ten thousand” he claimed he would review, Rep-
resentative Gaetz ultimately declared he would “no longer cooper-
ate” with the Committee in the public letter.121

The Committee also reviewed allegations that Representative
Gaetz may have sought to tamper with witness testimony in con-
nection with its investigation or the DOJ’s investigation. DOJ re-
fused to provide a copy of an audio recording in which Representa-
tive Gaetz discussed the DOJ’s inquiry with one of the women he
paid for sex.

While the Committee did not find documentary evidence that
Representative Gaetz directly acted to prevent any woman from
testifying before DOJ or the Committee, some women cited a fear
of retaliation from the congressman when declining to speak on the
record with the Committee.

V. FINDINGS

A. THE COMMITTEE FOUND REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ VIOLATED STATE
LAWS RELATED TO SEXUAL MISCONDUCT

1. The Committee Did Not Find That Representative Gaetz Violated
Federal Sex Trafficking Laws

The Committee did not obtain substantial evidence that Rep-
resentative Gaetz violated federal sex trafficking laws. Transpor-
tation of an individual for purposes of commercial sex could violate
such laws if the individual was a minor, or if the sexual activity
occurred through force, fraud, or coercion.

Representative Gaetz was alleged in news reports to have paid
a minor to engage in sexual activity and travel with him on a trip
to the Bahamas in September 2018. However, the youngest person
who traveled with him and his associates was 18 years old at the

120 @FmrRepMattGaetz, X (formerly Twitter) (June 17, 2024, 4:41 PM), https:/twitter.com/
FmrRepMattGaetz/status/1802803825826304266. DOJ did not characterize the closure of their
investigation into Representative Gaetz as an “exoneration” to the Committee. Representative
Gaetz has also repeatedly claimed that “there are exactly zero credible (or even non-credible)
accusers willing to come forward by name and state on the public record that I behaved improp-
erly toward them.” April 5 Washington Examiner Article; see also Jake Tapper, Rep. Matt Gaetz
on Efforts to Oust House Speaker, CNN, at 6:10 (May 6, 2024), https:/cnn.com/videos/politics/
2024/05/06/the-lead-matt-gaetz-speaker-johnson-oust-niger-troops-jake-tapper.cnn (calling the al-
legations an “urban legend”); April 6 Politico Article. However, DOJ’s investigation involved
grand jury hearings, during which many of the women that the Committee contacted or inter-
viewed testified, in addition to conducting depositions under penalty of perjury with the Com-
mittee.

121 @FmrRepMattGaetz, September 26 X Post. Representative Gaetz also provided a copy of
the letter and its attachments to the Committee after having made his post public.
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time of the trip. Further, she and the other women who attended
the Bahamas trip did not recall being paid for sexual activity on
that occasion. One woman testified that she was not paid for sex
on the trip, although she did have sex with Representative Gaetz,
because “the trip itself was more so the payment.” 122

As discussed above, there is evidence that Representative Gaetz
paid women to travel to New York and Washington, D.C. for com-
mercial sex. At the time, each of the women was over the age of
18. While Representative Gaetz’s relationship with these women
involved an exploitative power imbalance, the Committee does not
have reason to believe that he used force, fraud, or coercion as
those terms apply under the applicable laws.

2. The Committee Found That Representative Gaetz Engaged in
Commercial Sex

There is substantial evidence that Representative Gaetz paid
women for sex, and had others pay women for sex on his behalf.
The Committee heard testimony from over half a dozen witnesses
who attended parties, events, and trips with Representative Gaetz
from 2017-2020. Nearly every young woman that the Committee
interviewed confirmed that she was paid for sex by, or on behalf
of, Representative Gaetz. A few of the women characterized their
relationship differently, describing a date-for-hire arrangement
that may not necessarily implicate state prostitution laws. Even as-
suming the payments to those particular women would not violate
prostitution laws, the Committee found evidence that Representa-
tive Gaetz spent tens of thousands of dollars on other women with
whom he had a shared understanding that they would be com-
pensated for sexual activity with him. There were potentially addi-
tional amounts spent on commercial sex that could not be specifi-
cally identified either because payments were made in cash or
through intermediaries. The Committee’s record thus indicates that
Representative Gaetz enticed and procured women to engage in
sexual activity for hire and purchased the services of women engag-
ing in sexual activity for hire, in violation of Florida state law.

Representative Gaetz refused to answer the Committee’s ques-
tions about his payments to women, despite opportunities to do so
in sworn testimony or in writing. While he has been unwilling to
address the allegations under oath, Representative Gaetz has made
several public statements regarding the allegations under the Com-
mittee’s review, including that his “generosity to ex-girlfriends” is
being misconstrued and that he has “never, ever paid for sex.” The
Committee found this to be untrue.

Members are required to uphold the laws of the United States
and all governments therein, and never be a party to their eva-
sion.123 Through his violations of state prostitution laws, Rep-
resentative Gaetz acted contrary to this ethical obligation.124 Rep-
resentative Gaetz took advantage of the economic vulnerability of
young women to lure them into sexual activity for which they re-

12218(a) Interview of Woman 5.

123 Code of Ethics for Government Service, 2.

124 While the statute of limitations to bring state law charges against Representative Gaetz
has long passed, that limitations period is not applicable to the Committee’s findings. Pursuant
to Committee Rule 18(d) and House Rule XI, cl. 3(b)(3), the Committee’s investigative authority
extends to any violations occurring since the third previous Congress (in this matter, since Jan-
uary 2017).



31

ceived an average of a few hundred dollars after each encounter.
Such behavior is not “generosity to ex-girlfriends,” and it does not
reflect creditably upon the House. The Committee thus found Rep-
resentative Gaetz to be in violation of House rule XXIII, clause 1.

3. The Committee Found That Representative Gaetz Violated Flor-
ida’s Statutory Rape Law

There is substantial evidence that Representative Gaetz engaged
in sexual activity with a 17-year-old girl. The Committee received
credible testimony from Victim A herself, as well as multiple indi-
viduals corroborating the allegation. Several of those witnesses
have also testified under oath before a federal grand jury and in
a civil litigation. Representative Gaetz denied the allegation but re-
fused to testify under oath. He has publicly stated that Victim A
“doesn’t exist” and that he has not “had sex with a 17-year-old
since I was 17.”125 The Committee found that to be untrue and de-
termined that there is substantial evidence that Representative
Gaetz had sex with Victim A in July 2017, when she was 17 years
old, and he was 35. Representative Gaetz’s actions were in viola-
tion of Florida’s statutory rape law.

Representative Gaetz has suggested that the allegations against
him have been manufactured and that Mr. Greenberg and Victim
A are not credible. The Committee has acknowledged that Mr.
Greenberg’s credibility is in doubt. The Committee received addi-
tional evidence from Mr. Greenberg that is not included in this Re-
port, much of it salacious but unverifiable, although consistent with
the nature of the conduct that the Committee learned of from other
witnesses. The Committee found no reason to doubt the credibility
of Victim A. Representative Gaetz has suggested the fact that she
has, through her attorneys, expressed an intention to seek civil re-
dress against him for raping her means that she has a financial
motive that undermines the veracity of her claims. The Committee
reviewed a letter from counsel to Victim A to counsel for Rep-
resentative Gaetz, which stated she intended to “pursue claims
against [Representative Gaetz] including child sex trafficking and
statutory rape.” 126 Regardless of whether Victim A had any pecu-
niary motive in sending such a communication, she cooperated with
DOJ’s investigation for years and was let down by the justice sys-
tem when reports circulated that DOJ would be unlikely to pursue
charges against Representative Gaetz.127 Victim A is entitled to all

125 Carlson Interview; April 6 Politico Article.

126 Letter from counsel to Victim A to counsel to Representative Gaetz (Dec. 30, 2022). Rep-
resentative Gaetz provided this letter to the Committee but did not produce subsequent cor-
respondence showing that his counsel engaged in discussions regarding a potential pre-filing set-
tlement. Over three months, Representative Gaetz’s counsel delayed Victim A’s counsel from fil-
ing her lawsuit by engaging in what were ultimately unsuccessful settlement discussions, in
part due to “constrain[ts] by [Representative Gaetz’s] limited [financial] resources.”

127 See, e.g., Evan Perez and Hannah Rabinowitz, DOJ Prosecutors Recommend Against
Charging Rep. Gaetz in Sex-Trafficking Probe, CNN (Sept. 23, 2022), https://www.cnn.com/2022/
09/23/politics/matt-gaetz-justice-department-probe/index.html. Victim A also noted in her re-
sponse in the civil litigation that she would not be precluded from filing counterclaims against
Mr. Dorworth: “the Complaint improperly seeks to preempt any claims [Victim A] may have
against Mr. Dorworth for raping and trafficking her by making a threadbare request for expan-
sive declaratory judgment.” Mot. to Dismiss Complaint by Victim A, Christopher Dorworth v.
Joel Greenberg, et al., No. 6:23—cv—00871 (M.D. Fla.). Victim A settled with Mr. Dorworth in
August 2024. On the same date as the settlement, Representative Gaetz produced a publicly
available Facebook post by Mr. Dorworth as evidence that Victim A was “not credible.” Letter
from Representative Matt Gaetz to Chairman Michael Guest and Ranking Member Susan Wild,
Committee on Ethics (Aug. 2, 2024). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Dorworth edited the post to remove

Continued
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of the protections and remedies available to her under civil laws,
and her intention to pursue claims against Representative Gaetz
and others does not negate her credibility. Moreover, as discussed
above, the Committee obtained testimony and documentary evi-
dence from other witnesses corroborating the allegations.

Representative Gaetz’s statutory rape of Victim A was a violation
of Florida law, the Code of Official Conduct, and the Code of Ethics
for Government Service. The Committee received evidence that
Representative Gaetz did not learn that Victim A was 17 years old
until more than a month after their first sexual encounters. How-
ever, statutory rape is a strict liability crime. After he learned that
Victim A was a minor, he maintained contact and less than 6
months after she turned 18, he met up with her again for commer-
cial sex. When Mr. Greenberg was prosecuted for sex trafficking
the same individual, Representative Gaetz denied that she ex-
isted.128 His conduct reflects discreditably upon the House.

B. THE COMMITTEE FOUND REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ USED ILLEGAL
DRUGS

There is substantial evidence that Representative Gaetz used co-
caine, ecstasy, and marijuana. At least two women saw Represent-
ative Gaetz using cocaine and ecstasy at different events.129 Even
more women understood him to regularly be using ecstasy. There
is also ample evidence that Representative Gaetz purchased and
used marijuana; he appears to have set up a pseudonymous e-mail
account from his House office in the Capitol complex for the pur-
pose of purchasing marijuana. Representative Gaetz denied using
illicit drugs in written correspondence to the Committee.

Members of Congress are not required to undergo the same back-
ground check process as other government officials who obtain a se-
curity clearance. That process includes answering questions about
use of illegal drugs in the seven preceding years. Representative
Gaetz used illegal drugs on numerous occasions between 2017 and
2020, in violation of state laws. The Committee also received evi-
dence that Representative Gaetz and his associates provided drugs
to women to facilitate the sexual misconduct described above. Rep-
resentative Gaetz’s conduct violated paragraph 2 of the Code of
gthio(l:S for Government Service and clause 1 of the Code of Official

onduct.

C. THE COMMITTEE FOUND THAT REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ VIOLATED
THE HOUSE GIFT RULE

There is substantial evidence that Representative Gaetz received
impermissible gifts in connection with his travel to the Bahamas
in September 2018. Specifically, Representative Gaetz accepted
travel via a private plane and other travel costs. Contrary to Rep-
resentative Gaetz’s claims that he provided “substantial” evidence
to the Committee “demonstrating his innocence” on this allegation,
he provided no evidence showing how he paid for any travel costs

various assertions, including allegations that Victim A was a “prostitute.” Representative Gaetz
argued that the initial Facebook post was “dispositive” in showing Victim A’s “unreliability.”

128 Caroline Linton, Matt Gaetz denies relationship with a 17-year-old and says he’s a victim
of attempted extortion, CBS NEws (Mar. 31, 2021), https://www.cbsnews.com/news/matt-gaetz-
denies-inappropriate-sexual-relationship-17-year-old-investigation/ (“The person doesn’t exist. I
have not had a relationship with a 17-year-old.”).

129 Mr. Greenberg also stated he witnessed Representative Gaetz take ecstasy and cocaine.
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other than his flight to the Bahamas, despite being given multiple
opportunities to do so.

As discussed above, Representative Gaetz’s associate provided
the lodging and return flight via private plane. Representative
Gaetz accepted this gift without first seeking approval from the
Committee.130 The Gift Rule requires Members to apply to the
Committee for a waiver to accept gifts of personal friendship with
a fair market value over a threshold amount.131 For travel via pri-
vate plane, the Committee has provided extensive guidance; less
than a year after Representative Gaetz’s flight from the Bahamas
trip, the Committee circulated a reminder about that guidance to
the House community, noting that “[plractically any flight on a
non-commercial aircraft will exceed $250 in value and hence will
require Committee approval.” 132 The flight, lodging, meal and “en-
tertainment” expenses on the Bahamas trip that were incurred but
not paid by Representative Gaetz were well in excess of the per-
sonal friendship threshold.133 The Committee also found evidence
that Representative Gaetz impermissibly accepted private plane
travel on other occasions. Representative Gaetz failed to disclose
the Bahamas travel gift, as well as other private flights he has
taken on his associates’ private planes, on his Financial Disclosure
forms.

Accordingly, the Committee found that Representative Gaetz vio-
lated House rule XXV, clause 5, by accepting impermissible gifts.
Consistent with the Committee’s longstanding precedent, Rep-
resentative Gaetz would be required to repay the value of the gifts
and amend his Financial Disclosure statements to disclose receipt
of the gifts.134

D. THE COMMITTEE FOUND REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ DISPENSED SPE-
CIAL PRIVILEGES AND FAVORS TO INDIVIDUALS WITH WHOM HE HAD
A PERSONAL RELATIONSHIP

The Committee found substantial evidence that Representative
Gaetz used the power of his office to assist a woman with whom
he was engaged in a sexual relationship in obtaining an expedited
passport. The woman was not his constituent, and the case was not
handled in the same manner as similar passport assistance cases.
Accordingly, the Committee found Representative Gaetz violated
House regulations and laws requiring the use of official resources
for representational purposes, and paragraph 5 of the Code of Eth-
ics for Government Service, which prohibits the dispensing of spe-
cial favors and privileges.

130 The personal hospitality exception to the Gift Rule would not be applicable in this matter
because Representative Gaetz did not stay at a personal residence of the gift-giver.

131 See Young (finding that on at least three occasions, although Representative Young “may
have been permitted to accept the gift of travel under the personal friendship exception to the
gift rule at the time,” because he did not seek approval from the Committee, “the exception was
inapplicable” and he was not permitted to accept the travel).

132 Comm. on Ethics, Non-Commercial Aircraft Travel (Apr. 10, 2019), https://ethics.house.gov/
sites/ethics.house.gov/files/Private%20Plane%20pinksheet%20FINAL.pdf.

133 Had Representative Gaetz applied for a waiver, the Committee would have considered mul-
tiple factors including the nature of the friendship, which could have involved questions related
to their joint interest in and past efforts towards lobbying for medical marijuana.

134 Comm. on Ethics, In the Maiter of Allegations Relating to Representative Madison
Cawthorn, H. Rept. 117-591, 117th Cong., 2d Sess. (2022); Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of
Allegations Relating to Representative Bobby L. Rush, H. Rept. 115-618, 115th Cong., 2d Sess.
(2018); Young.
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E. THE COMMITTEE FOUND REPRESENTATIVE GAETZ SOUGHT TO
OBSTRUCT ITS INVESTIGATION OF HIS CONDUCT

The Committee found substantial evidence that Representative
Gaetz engaged in obstructive conduct with respect to the Commit-
tee’s investigation. Representative Gaetz pointed to evidence that
would “exonerate” him yet failed to produce any such materials.135
Representative Gaetz continuously sought to deflect, deter, or mis-
lead the Committee in order to prevent his actions from being ex-
posed. This was most notable with respect to the Committee’s spe-
cific requests regarding the Bahamas trip; as discussed above, Rep-
resentative Gaetz intentionally withheld information relating to his
return trip via private plane. Representative Gaetz clearly under-
stood that he had acted contrary to House Rules by accepting pri-
vate plane travel but chose to try to cover up his actions rather
than comply with the Committee’s request.

Despite asserting he wanted an opportunity to address the alle-
gations against him, Representative Gaetz declined to provide testi-
mony voluntarily and did not appear when subpoenaed.13¢ Rep-
resentative Gaetz was also provided ample time to review and
produce documents requested at various points in the Committee’s
investigation, yet he produced only a handful of non-public docu-
ments to the Committee.137 These documents were largely irrele-
vant, corresponding to time periods after most of the relevant con-
duct occurred. Likewise, Representative Gaetz informed the Com-
mittee that he would “welcome” the opportunity to respond to writ-
ten questions, and the Committee then sent a list of 16 questions.
After requesting an extension to respond to written questions,
which was granted, it appears that Representative Gaetz used that
time to craft a public letter mischaracterizing the Committee’s re-
quests and asserting he would “no longer” voluntarily cooperate,
despite his uncooperative approach throughout the review.138 His
actions undermine not only his claims that he had exculpatory in-
formation to provide, but also his claims that he intended to co-
operate with the Committee in good faith. It is apparent that Rep-
resentative Gaetz’s assertions were nothing more than attempts to
delay the Committee’s investigation.

Representative Gaetz routinely ignored or significantly delayed
producing relevant information requested by the Committee. His

135 Representative Gaetz pointed to news articles, the lack of a DOJ indictment, evidence that
Mr. Greenberg is an unreliable witness, and a letter from a jailhouse informant as exonerating.
However, he did not produce any contemporaneous documents that showed he did not engage
in the conduct under investigation, such as his own text messages, peer-to-peer payment plat-
form records, calendar entries from relevant time frames, etc. In an X (formerly Twitter) post,
Representative Gaetz suggested, without actual knowledge, that the Committee’s “star witness”
is Mr. Greenberg. As noted at several points in this Report, the Committee agreed with Rep-
resentative Gaetz that Mr. Greenberg is not entirely credible and sought evidence from numer-
ous other sources. Representative Gaetz also produced a letter from a jailhouse informant and
a subsequent interview conducted by “two former federal investigators.” However, those inves-
tigators were not objective third-party interviewees; rather, they appear to have been hired by
Representative Gaetz’s counsel. @ FmrRepMatt Gaetz September 26 X Post.

136 The Rules of the House do not apply any standard to service of process, unlike the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, and other individuals, including Members of Congress, have been
served subpoenas by e-mail in recent Congresses. As noted, Representative Gaetz acknowledged
that he received the subpoena from the Committee.

137 Representative Gaetz further asserted that he would need to ascertain whether “privilege
or confidentiality” applies to documents that he previously produced to DOJ. The Committee is
not aware of any privileges that would permit withholding documents that were previously pro-
duced to another governmental entity, and there is no basis to withhold documents for “con-
fidentiality.”

138 @FmrRepMattGaetz September 26 X Post.
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failure to respond required the Committee to issue subpoenas to fi-
nancial institutions for Representative Gaetz’s financial records re-
lated to alleged transactions. Those records show that Representa-
tive Gaetz bought and sold stocks and cryptocurrencies from a
trading account he opened in March 2021.139 Some of the trades
were below the $1,000 reporting threshold but others were not.
Representative Gaetz not only failed to file the required Periodic
Transaction Reports, but he also failed to disclose the transactions
in his annual Financial Disclosure Statement. The Committee’s
longstanding practice is not to take enforcement action where a
failure to file required disclosures is inadvertent, but because of his
lack of cooperation the Committee was unable to determine the
reason the transactions were not disclosed.

The Committee reminded Representative Gaetz of his duty of
diligence and candor to the Committee.140 Representative Gaetz’s
response was to suggest that the Committee had a duty of candor
to him and must reveal the confidential sources supporting the al-
legations against him. The Committee’s rules prevent such disclo-
sures. Moreover, the Committee had serious concerns that Rep-
resentative Gaetz might retaliate against individuals who cooper-
ated with the Committee. In 2020, the Committee admonished Rep-
resentative Gaetz for his conduct towards a witness in a congres-
sional proceeding, finding that he acted in violation of the Code of
Official Conduct for a public statement that was perceived by some
as a threat towards a witness.14! In that matter, the Committee
did not find sufficient evidence to conclude that Representative
Gaetz had the requisite criminal intent, and noted that he had ex-
pressed regret for his conduct. In contrast, in the current matter,
there is sufficient evidence of Representative Gaetz’s intent to de-
rail the investigation.

The Committee determined that Representative Gaetz’s attempts
to mislead and deter the Committee from investigating him impli-
cated federal criminal laws relating to false statements and ob-
struction of Congress. Even if Representative Gaetz’s obstructive
conduct in this investigation did not rise to the level of a criminal
violation, it was certainly inconsistent with the requirement that
Members act in a manner that reflects creditably upon the House,
in violation of House rule XXIII, clause 1.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the above, the Committee determined there is substan-
tial evidence that Representative Gaetz violated House Rules and
other standards of conduct prohibiting prostitution, statutory rape,
illicit drug use, impermissible gifts, special favors or privileges, and
obstruction of Congress.

139 Personal Checking Account #1 (showing over 50 purchases of stock or cryptocurrency on
Cognbase an)d Robinhood from March 2021 through June 2021 in amounts ranging from $100
to $3,105.62).

140 Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative George Santos,
H. Rept. 118-274, 118th Cong., 1st Sess. 55 (2023); San Nicolas at 5; Comm. on Ethics, In the
Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative David Schweikert, H. Rept. 116-465, 116th
Cong. 2d Sess. 6 (2020); see also Richardson at 95 (explaining that the public’s trust in the in-
tegrity of the House is at risk when a respondent demonstrates “such little respect for the inter-
nal discipline of the House that [the respondent] would evade its questioning, rather than sub-
mittlirég to the fact gathering process in good faith.”).

141 Gaetz.
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VII. STATEMENT UNDER HOUSE RULE XIII, CLAUSE 3(c)

The Committee made no special oversight findings in this Report.
No budget statement is submitted. No funding is authorized by any
measure in this Report.

VIIL. VIEWS OF CHAIRMAN MICHAEL GUEST ON BEHALF
OF THE DISSENTING COMMITTEE MEMBERS

I write on behalf of the members of the committee who do not
support the release of the report regarding former Representative
Matt Gaetz. We believe and remain steadfast in the position that
the House Committee on Ethics lost jurisdiction to release to the
public any substantive work product regarding Mr. Gaetz after his
resignation from the House on November 14, 2024.142

While we do not challenge the Committee’s findings, we take
great exception that the majority deviated from the Committee’s
well-established standards and voted to release a report on an indi-
vidual no longer under the Committee’s jurisdiction, an action the
Committee has not taken since 2006.143

House Rules give the Committee jurisdiction over current Mem-
bers, officers, and employees of the House.144 Consistent with these
rules, when a member who is under investigation by the Com-
mittee leaves the House, the Committee’s standard practice is to
close its investigation and make no further statement on its find-
ings. We do not believe the rules authorizethe Committee to con-
tinue or expand its jurisdiction as it sees fit. Any precedent to the
contrary is extremely rare, inconsistent with the rules, and out-
weighed by the vast majority of matters—too numerous to list—in
which the Committee took no material action after losing jurisdic-
tion.

Representative Gaetz resigned from Congress, withdrew from
consideration to serve in the next administration, and declared that
he would not seek to be seated in the 119th Congress. The decision
to publish a report after his resignation breaks from the Commit-
tee’s long-standing practice, opens the Committee to undue criti-
cism, and will be viewed by some as an attempt to weaponize the
Committee’s process.

We believe that operating outside the jurisdictional bounds set
forth by House Rules and Committee standards, especially when
making public disclosures, is a dangerous departure with poten-
tially catastrophic consequences.

Finally, we join the views of the Committee as expressed in its
December 23, 2024, public statement addressing the significant
and unusual amount of public reporting on the Committee’s review
of this matter. As expressed by the Committee, “[t]o the extent that
any of the public reporting on this matter came from unauthorized
disclosures of confidential Committee information, we strongly con-
demn such unauthorized disclosures, which are damaging and
harmful to the Committee’s work.” 145

MICHAEL GUEST,
Chairman.

142770 Cong. Rec. H5985 (daily ed. Nov. 14, 2014).

143 Comm. On Ethics, Investigation of Allegations Related to Improper Conduct Involving Mem-
bers and Current or Former House Pages, H. Rept. 109-733, 109th Cong. 2d Sess. Unlike the
matter of Representative Gaetz, this 2006 matter also involved the conduct of current members.

144 House Rule 11, Clause 3.
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April 9, 2021

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matt Gaetz

1.8, House of Representatives

1721 Longworth House Office Building
‘Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

TheCommittee on Ethics (Committee) is aware of allegations that you'may have: engaged
in sexual misconduct and/or illicit drug use, shared inappropriate images or videos on the House
floor, misused state identification records, converted campaign funds to peisonal use, and/or
accepted a bribe, improper gratuity, or impermissible gift, in violation of House Rules, laws, or
other standards of conduct: Pursuant to its investigative authority under Rule X1, clause 3 of the
House of Representatives, and Committee Rule 18¢a), the Committee hasopened an investigation
into these allegations.' The Committee will publicly announce its review today.

We request that you provide the Committee with a response to the allegations, along with
any other information you believe may be relevant to this matter, within 14 days of the date of this
letter? Please provide your response in writing, under-oath or affirmation (we have enclosed a
declaration for this purpose).

Your cooperation and assistance will help the Committee complete ity review as
expeditionsly as possible. We thank you in advance for your cooperation. If you have any
questions, please contact the Comunittee”s Staff Director and Chief Counsel, Tom Rust, at (202)

2257103,
) Sincerely, / .
e Qe Weloesks
= F
Theodore E. Deutch Jackie Walorgki
Chairman Ranking Member

! Accordingly, we hereby direct yon not to destroy; allow to be destroyed, or alter, any documents of any kind
related to the aforementioned allegations or the specific issues and réquests outlined in this fetter. By this letter, we
also remind you of your right, pursuant to Committee Rule 26, to be represented by counsel at your own expense.

* Committee staff can provide you with Tinks to press reports in-which the allegations were raised at your request:
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. . Declaration
I, Representative Matt Gaetz, declare (certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the

responses and factual assertions contained in the attached letter dated , 2021,
relating to my response to the April 9, 2021, Committee ori Ethics letter, are true and correct.

Sigﬁature:

Name:  Representative Matt Gaetz
Date: - , 2021
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Chairman . % 2 ’ Staff Director and Chief Counsel
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Ranking Member f  Counsel 1o the Chairman
David P. Joyee, Ohio . e David Armojo
John H. Rutherford, Florida ONE HUNDRED EIGHTEENTH CONGRESS Counsel 1o the Ranking Member
Andrew R. Garbarino, New York
Michelle Fischbach, Minnesota , 1015 Longworth House Office Building
‘Washington, D.C. 20515-6328
T — U.S. House of Representatives  “xncsns s
Mark DeSaulnier, California Facsimile: (202) 2257392
Deborah K. Ross, Nerth Carolina COMMITTEE ON ETHICS
Gilenn F, Ivey, Maryland
May 23, 2023

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matt Gaetz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

As you are aware, in the 117® Congress, the Committee on Ethics (Committee) initiated
an investigation into allegations involving you.! Pursuant to House Rule XI, clause 3 and
Committee Rule 18(z), the Committee has reauthorized the investigation for the 118® Congress.
At this time, the Committee is secking information from you relating to allegations that you may
have (1) shared inappropriate images or videos in the Hall of the House,? and/or (2) accepted a
bribe, improper gratuity, or impermissible gift. The Committee may request information relating
1o the other allegations within the scope bf ths ré¥Visw at a later date.

In order to properly review these allegations at this time, the Committee requests the
following:®

1. From January 3, 2017, to present, identify any individuals, including House Members, to
whom you have shown images or videos of nude women in the Hall of the House. For any
such individuals, identify the approximate date(s) on which you showed them the images
or videos.

2. Provide all documents related to actual or planned travel to the Bahamas by you in or
around 2018.

3. From January 3, 2017, to present, provide records of any financial transactions with Jason
Pirozzolo and/or any individual affiliated with the American Medical Marijuana Physicians

! See Comm. on Ethics, Statement of the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding
Representative Matt Gaetz (Apr. 9, 2021), available at https:/ethics house.gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-
and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-22. By this letter, we also remind you of your
right, pursuant to Committee Rule 26, to be represented by counsel at your own expense.

2 For purposes of this letter, the “Hall of the House” consists of the House Chamber and its galleries, as well as the
cloakrooms for each party organization and the Speaker’s Lobby.

3 For any documents produced in response to any of these requests, produce those documents in accordance with the
enclosed Committee on Ethics Data Delivery Standards.
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The Honorable Matt Gaetz
Page 2

Association. This request includes any payments involving you or any entity you own or
control, including your campaign.

4, Describe the efforts you made to identify documents responsive to these requests.

Accordingly, the Committee requests that, within 14 days of the date of this letter, you
provide the requested information and documents to the Committee, along with any other
information that you believe may be relevant to this matter. To the extent that any part of your
response is not a complete written response signed by you, we request that the response be
provided under oath or affirmation. (We have enclosed a declaration for this purpose.)

In addition, this letter serves to provide notice that it may be necessary for Comrmittee staff
to conduct interviews with members of your staff. We ask that you make your staff available for
this purpose when requested. The Committee also requests that you inform your staff that they
are to fully and honestly cooperate with the Committee’s requests for interviews and information
and that their cooperation will not result in any adverse action against them by you or at your
direction. Please note that the Committee may view any such adverse action taken against your
staff as retaliatory and that the Committee may take such actions it deems necessary to address
any retaliatory actions by you or at your direction.

‘We thank you in advance for your cooperation. If you have any questions concerning this
matter, please direct your questions to Committee staff at (202) 225-7103.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman . Ranking Member

Enclosures
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Declaration

1, Representative Matt Gaetz, declare (certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the
responses and factual assertions contained in the attached letter dated
relating to my response to the May 23, 2023, Committee on Ethics request for information, are
true and correct.

Signature:

Name: Representative Matt Gaetz

Date: 2023
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COMMITTEE 1 DISTRICT OFFICE:
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ey Waghington, BE 20515 PENSACOLA, FL 32502

(850) 475-1183

bitpsi/igactz.housegov

May 26, 2023
Dear Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild: '
I am in receipt of your letter dated May 23, 2023.

Despite publication of the much-anticipated Durham Report, it scems Washington has yet to kick its habit of investigating
prominent Republicans absent sufficient predication. And of course, complicit Republicans are frequently used to whitewash
fmproper investigations into fellow Republicans (See Mueller, Cheney, Kinzinger). Indeed, you have initiated this instant
action without so much as a filed complaint, pursuant to Committee Rule 18(2), "Commxttee-lmtlated Inquiry or Investigation”
{"notwithstanding the at of a filed complaint"). .

1 am further in receipt of = letter of the Committes dated April 9, 2021, and the statement of the then-Chairman and Ranking
member, both of which provided no factual basis for their investigation. To date, I have never received any information
providing any, let alone a reasonable basis to have opened this investigation. In the years that have followed, I have been
thoroughly investigated by the FBI and DOJ. Though just this year, in an unrelated matter, the DOJ was willing to charge
another Member of Congress in two separate counts for financial violations in the mere hundreds of dollars, no charges were
brought against me of any kind. During this time, the "sources" of the New York Times have remained anonymous and
uncorroborated, calling the entire credibility of the story upon which you predicate this investigation into serious and obvious
doubt.

It would be an affront to ethics itself for the Committee to take third hand so-called "public reporting," itself citing anonymous
sources (which could not be corroborated after year's of trying by the FBI)-as a sole basis for continuing this charade. Do you
have any other basis?

Furthermore, while the Committee appears more than willing to open up an investigation predicated on unsworn, third-hand,
-anonymous hearsay, you nevertheless demand of me that my response be provided under oath. It is beyand absurd that the
evidentiary burden of responding to a frivolous and unpredicated investigation should be higher than opening it. Such a double-
standard literally invites frivolity such as this.

Moreover, the timeline you set forth in your letter is as unreasonable as it is luminating as to the true motives behind this
exercise. With ten days until the Secretary of the Treasury signals America's default, you have given me fourteen days to
review over six years of financial, travel, and calendar records. Many of these records may be held in different accounts and
places, including likely Florida. I am in Washington working to save our country from financial ruin. I request the committee
permit me to utilize the August Work Period to take account of my rights and obligations as a member of the House in more
fully responding to your correspondence and producing documents, if applicable.

The irony is thick. For the 118th Congress, I serve on the Select Subcommittee on the Weaponization of the Federal
Government. In a very short order, the investigative work I have done has exposed political capture at the FBI, election
interference at the CIA, a government-backed Censorship Industrial Complex, and brutal retaliation against whistleblowers.
One must wonder whether it is my very work in Congress to fiether government ethics that has resulted in the Ethics
Committee being weaponized against me.

Sincerely,

Matt Gactz.,
Member of Congress
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STMATT GAETZ 202¢ Mgmmmi BULDING
1 Disthict, FLORDA . WaSHINGTON, DC 20515
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COMMITTEE . :
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JUDICIARY Waghington, BC 20515 (850) 4791133

hitps://gaetzhouse.gov
June 30, 2023

Dear Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

1 am in receipt of correspondence from a person called Brittney Pescatore on June 14, 2023, who purports
to be the “Director of Investigations” for the Committee, acting on your behalf. While I've been told that
Committee staff is non-partisan, FEC records (Attached hereto as Exhibit A) seem to show Ms. Pescatore
is a multi-time ActBlue/Obama Donor. Is this the same person? Am [ to proceed assuming that this
Obama Donor holds full proxy to speak for the Republican Ethics Chairman (and ranking member) in
correspondence with me?

Additionally, does the Committee intend to offer a more fulsome response to the significant concerns
raised in my letter to you dated May 26 (and attached hereto as Exhibit B)? If not, the Pescatore response
is incomplete and insufficient.

Will the Committee have any response to my concerns regarding the lack of predication for the
Committee’s re-authorization of action against me? Am I to assume that, by ignoring these concerns, the
Comumittee is conceding that it is acting solely based on years-old, third-hand, anonymous hearsay in
debunked public reporting? Sad!

Will the Committee either admit or deny the allegation I have made that this is a weaponization of the
Comumittee against me?

It seems that the events since my May 26 letter only reinforce the contentions I have made regarding the
political nature of this exercise. Predictably, “news” of the Committee’s reauthorization of this
investigation against me leaked to none other than Jake Sherman at Punchbowl News, a reporter widely
known as a mouthpiece of Republican Leadership to distribute authorized leaks to harm their critics. (See”
Exhibit C). Pathetic, shameful, and telling.

Moreover, the correspondence from Ms. Pescatore seems to conflict with the Committee’s Data Delivery
Standards. The Standards call on me to make demands of third parties to provide responsive

documents. Ms. Pescatore’s correspondence places a hard deadline on my production at August 11. I
cannot possibly warrant the timeframe of the production of others.

Rather than the “rolling” production proposed by Ms. Pescatore, I propose the following to facilitate a
voluntary “one-time” production by me to the Committee, if applicable:

1. The Chair and Ranking Member will provide a fulsome response to my letter dated May 26 within a
reasonable time;
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2. I will make a production of responsive records and information to the Committee, in paper form,
Bates stamped, for the RFI sent to me dated May 23, at a mutually agreed time during the August Recess
in my district office in Crestview, Florida. I will work in good faith to ensure that production is
coordinated after any third parties have competed the production of any responsive, non-privileged
records to me.

Other features of Ms. Pescatore’s correspondence to me are confusing, such as vague references to
“substantial” production. Does this mean a substantial number of documents? Or a substantial number of
questions in the RFI answered? Is a sole document that substantially disproves third-hand, anonymous,
publicly reported rumors sufficiently substantial?

No matter, though, as ] have presented a reasonable, accommodating way to cooperate with any good
faith actions by the committee in cortesponding good faith.

In Conclusion, I would observe to the Committee that the false public reporting upon which the
Committee seems to exclusively rely has caused me and my family great harm. We were the victims of a
terrible crime in which Stephen Alford and others used a criminal shakedown (based on a pile of lies) to
attempt to defraud my family out of millions of dollars. He pleaded guilty to this crime, lost all appeals
on sentencing, and was sent to federal prison for years.

-
As I continue my important work in the 118%Congress, it is noteworthy that those who have spread these
lies about me have found themselves debunked, defeated, and imprisoned over time.

T await your response.

Respectfully,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congtess
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Exhibit B

From: "Pescatore, Brittney” 4

Date: Wednesday, June 14, 2023 at 11:29 AM
Foulillian Wyant

Subject: RE: Ethics Committee letter

lillian,

The Chairman aad Ranking Member have reviewed and idered Rep ive Gaetr's May 26, 2023,

tetter. The Chairmanand Ranking Member have agreed to provide Representative Gaete an additional extension
to respond to the Commiittes’s requast. Specifically, they rag that Rep tivie Gaetz provide a substantial

responseto the G ittee’s latter by July 11, 2023, complete production of all responsive information
August 11, 2023, This will allow him the full June/July Work Period before any response‘is required, and a
significant portion of the August Work Period to complete the resporise,

Plaase confirm receipt and let us know of any questions.

Thanks,
Brittney

HREEE RN AR TR

Brittney Pescatore
Director of Investigations

Caommittes on Ethics

United States House of Represantatives
1015 Longworth HOB

Washington, DC 20515

Phone: 202,225 7103

Fax: 2022355892
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MATT GAETZ 102 RAYBURN House OFFce BURRNG
o 10t
15T INSTRICT, FLORIDA WASHINGTON, DC 20515

ARMED SERVICES Congress of the Wnited States oz
COMMITTES Bouse of Representatives 08 s L
O e Washington, BE 20515 e s
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Tuly 14, 2023

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Attached hete, please find the most recent repotting resulting from leaks of your investigation into me. These
leaks cause my constituents hat as I endeavor to represent them.

Under the Rules of the Committee on Ethics, “Committee memberts and staff shall not disclose any evidence
ot information relating to any investigation ot proceeding of the Coramittee or a subcommittee to any person
ot organization outside the Committee, unless authorized by the Committee.” The cascade of leaks in matters
telating to myself and my office, because they ate not authotized by the Committee, must result in investigation
and appropdate action by the Committee.

Please let me know, by July 21, 2023, what actions the Committee intends to take relating to these mattets.
Sincerely,

Member.of Congress
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House Ethics Committee reaching out to witnesses in
revived Matt Gaetz probe

enn.com/2023/07/13/politics/matt-gaetz-house-ethics-committee-investigation/index htm

Paula Reid, Alayna Treene, Annie Grayer July 13, 2023

CNN — '

Investigators fram the House Ethics Committee have begun reaching out to witnesses as
part of a recently revived investigation into Rep. Matt Gaetz of Florida, focused on
allegations that he may have engaged in sexual misconduct, illicit drug use or other
misconduct.

At least one witness in Florida told CNN they have spoken fo investigators about the
Republican congressman in recent weeks about alleged lobbying violations, and sources
familiar with the Ethics Committee probe say other witnesses also have been contacted.

A source familiar with the House panel's work told CNN that the Justice Department’s
decision not to bring charges against Gaetz does not impact what the committee will and
won't investigate. The committee plans to examine the same allegations they were looking
into when they opened the investigation in 2021, the source told CNN.

The Ethics Committee, which at the time was ontrolled by Democrats, originally opened an
investigation in 2021, publicly announcing that they were examining a range of allegations
including that Gaetz violated sex trafficking laws, shared inappropriate images or videos on
the House floor, converted campaign funds to personal use and accepted a bribe, among
other claims.

Gaetz has repeatedly denied any wrongdoing.

Gaetz told CNN on Thursday, the investigation is “not something I'm worried about, 'm
focused on the work.”

“The Ethics Committee typically operates through leaks and so this is no surprise, but the
Ethics Committee has never found me to be in violation of House rules, though they've been
investigating me during my entire seven years in Congress,” he said. "it's also funny that the
one guy who doesn't take the corrupt lobbyist and PAC money seems to be under the most
Ethics investigation.”

The committee deferred its investigation at the request of the Justice Department, which was
simultaneously probing the allegations. The committee resumed its work earlier this year, as

first reported by Punchbowl News, after the DOJ concluded its investigation without bringing

charges.




51

The Ethics Committee declined to comment for this story.

The new contacts are the first known instances of the committee reaching out to witnesses
since the panel resumed its investigation earlier this year. So far, the focus of the
committee’s recent questions has been on possible lobbying violations, according to the
source who was interviewed. This subject was also previously raised in the Justice
Department investigation into the congressman.

However, a source familiar with the panel’s probe told CNN that while some witnesses may
have only been asked about one aspect of their investigation, that does not mean other
witnesses are not being asked questions on other aspects of the probe.

Now chaired by Republican Rep. Michael Guest of Mississippi, the panel quietly restarted its
investigation earlier this year without publicly laying out its targets anew. The decision to
begin reaching out tc witnesses, made by Guest and ranking Democratic member, Rep.
Susan Wild of Pennsylvania, is the first formal step the committee has taken since the ethics
investigation resumed.

House Speaker Kevin McCarthy told CNN this week he doesn't "know anything about” the
investigation, noting that he’s barred by House rules from discussing it with commiittee
members. The Republican-led investigation into Gaetz comes as the Florida congressman
finds himself repeatedly at odds with his party’s leadership.

“} never know anything on (the) Ethics Committee,” McCarthy told CNN. "l don’t know what
investigations they have. | don’t know anything about it.”

Asked to comment on whether he thinks the investigation should move forward, McCarthy
declined to do so and referred questions to the committee. ’

As speaker, McCarthy appoints members to the committee but is not involved in the
processes of the committee’s work. The panel's work is conducted in closed-door executive
session, and the only people by rule who are allowed to bé involved in committee
investigations are Ethics Committee members and staff, a source familiar with the probe told
CNN.

The source added that McCarthy has no power over the Ethics Committee’s investigation
into Gaetz, and any level of his involvement would violate committee rules.

This story has been updated with additional developments.
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July 19, 2023

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
‘The Honorable Matt Gactz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

We are in receipt of your letters dated May 26, 2023, June 30, 2023, and July 14, 2023,
regarding an investigation of the Committee on Ethics (Committee) into allegations involving you.
Your letters raise several concerns with the Committee’s process. Contrary to your suggestions, the
continuation of this matter is standard practice when the Comumittee has not yet resolved an
investigation of allegations that remain within its jurisdiction.! Indeed, all of the concerns raised in
your letters appear to relate to standard Committee practices; the Committee has not treated you
differently than it has other respondents.

As you are aware, the Committee announced on April 9, 2021, that it had initiated a review
into public allegations involving you. While you have raised concerns about the “predication” for the
Committee’s investigation, the Committee has merely determined that the very public allegations
raised against you should be reviewed. This is consistent with the Committee’s longstauding practice
with respect to public allegations of sexual misconduct by Members.? In the 117% Congress, the

1 See, e.g., Statefnent of the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regardi ive
Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez (Mar. 2 2023), https://ethics house.gov/press- relea§e5/§tatement-chamnan-and -ranking-
ber-committee-ethi DI ive-70 (noting i ion of review of referral received in the
117% Congress); Summary of Activities of the One Hundred Seventeenth Congress, H. Rept. 117-706, 117th Cong.,
2d Sess. 18 (Jan. 2, 2023), available at https:/ethics house.gov/sites/ethics house.gov/files/documents/CRET:
117hept706_0.pdf (“In addition to confidential matters, the Committee also carried over several public matters from
the 116™ Congress. In the 117th Congress, the Committee continued to address the matters concerning
Representative Sanford Bishop, Representative Bill Huizenga, Representative Steven Palazzo, and Delegate Michael
San Nicolas.”).
2 See, e.g., Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member Regarding Rep ive John Conyers, Jr. (Nov.
21, 2017), https;//ethics.house.gov/press-release/statement-chairwoman-and- ranking-memher-committe&ethies-
regarding-representative-jo-1; Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member R ding R ive Ruben
Kihuen (Dec. 15, 2017), mmwmwgmwm
committee-ethics-regarding-representative-8; Statement of the Chairwoman and Ranking Member Regarding
Representative Patrick Meehan (Jan. 22, 2018), https://ethics house. gov/press-release/statement-chairwoman-and-
ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-representative-12; Statement of Chairman and Ranking Member
Regarding Delegate Michael F.Q. San Nicolas (Oct. 14, 2019), hitps:/ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-
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Committee deferred its review of allegations involving you at the request of the Department of Justice.
This Congress, the Department withdrew its deferral request and we jointly determined to continue
the review. At this time, the Committee has made no determinations about the merits of the
allegations and is seeking your cooperation in order to independently and. fairly make such
determinations.

Committee Members and staff are not responsible for any “leak” of information regarding
this investigation. The Committee’s review is governed by the confidentiality requirements of
Committee Rule 7, which prohibits Committee Members and staff from disclosing information about
Committee proceedings unless authorized under the Rules. Those same confidentiality requirements
prevent us from disclosing details about the investigation to you at this time, including sources of
information considered by the Committee. The Committee’s confidentiality rules are not binding on
witnesses contacted by the Committee, although the Committee routinely requests such witnesses’
discretion to avoid influencing other witnesses or unfairly prejudicing any subject of the matter.
Should the Committee determine there is substantial reason to believe a violation has occurred, you
will be afforded all due process, including notice and an opportunity to be heard, consistent with the
requirements of House and Committee Rules.

All investigative steps and staff communications have been fully authorized by us pursuant to
Committee Rule 18(a). Our professional staff is fully compliant with the requirements of Committee
Rule 6. We have full confidence in our staff’s ability to operate in a fair and noppartisan manner, as
they have always done. As staff communicated on our behalf in the June 14, 2023, email to your
Chief of Staff, we determined to authorize an extension of time for you to respond to our initial request
for information and in doing so requested a substantial response by July 11, 2023, and a complete
production by August 11, 2023. If our request for “substantial” production was confusing, that was
not our intent. Instead, it is a term we toutinely use and is purposefully broad, as you are in the best
position to know what specific documents or information can be produced more quickly than others.
We provided you the opportunity to make a more than de minimis initial production, with additional
time to complete the response. Indeed, nothing about the response to your extension request was
particularly unusual; in fact, in communicating the extension, staff used template language that has
been used in other matters. ’

As to the Committee’s Data Delivery Standards and request for a signed declaration, they
are the standard practices the Committee seeks from all Members who are requested to provide
information from the Committee. The Data Delivery Standards also explicitly state that “Committee
staff can work with you to identify reasonable alternative production standards.” The Data Delivery
Standards do not call on you to demand documents from third parties. Instead, they clarify that
the Committee seeks all responsive records in your possession, custody, and control, and asks that

chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-regarding-delegate-michael-f-q; Statement of Chairman and
Ranking Member Regarding Representative Katie Hill (Oct. 23, 2019), https:/ethics house.gov/press-
releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-committes-ethics-regarding-representative-katie; Statement of
Chairman and Ranking Member Regarding Representative Alcee Hastings (Nov. 14, 2019),
https://ethics.house.gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethicg-regarding-
representative-alcee; Statement of the Chairman and Ranking Member Regarding Representative Tom Reed (Apr.
9, 2021), https://ethics.house. gov/press-releases/statement-chairman-and-ranking-member-committee-ethics-

regarding-representative-tom.
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you take appropriate steps to collect such records.” We understand that collecting documents from
staff can take additional time, which is why the Committee regularly recommends a rolling
production to respondents who seek an extension of the deadline to respond.

Your letter proposes that a production be made at a “mutually agreed time” in August but is
not clear as to whether the Committee’s requested date of August 11 is mutually agreeable. The
Committee recognizes that not all respondents are able to produce documents by the requested
deadline, even after an extension is granted; our staff routinely works with respondents or their
counsel to identify ways to narrow the Committee’s requests or otherwise reduce the burden of a
response, particularly where there is reason to believe the respondent is working in good faith to
provide the requested information. If the August 11 deadline does not work, please suggest an
alternative date in August. If you prefer to make your production in hard copy, we will accept such
a production and then assess whether additional requests, including for electronic data, are necessary.*

We remind you that all Members have a duty of candor to this Committee.® If you have any
questions concerning this matter, please direct your questions to Committee staff at (202) 225-7103.
Should you retain counsel in this matter, your communications should be directed through your
counsel.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman Ranking Member

3 In addition to your personal records, this would include, for example, accessible campaign email accounts, or your
congressional office’s records, to the extent such sources may contain relevant materials.

4 To the extent you are proposing that Committee staff physically retrieve the documents from your district office,
that would be highly unusual; instead, the Committee will work with you to arrange delivery by US Mail or arrange
a FedEx or UPS pickup.

5 See Comm, on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Delegate Michael F.Q. San Nicolas, H. Rept. 117-
387, 117th Cong,, 2d Sess. 5 (Juge 24, 2022); Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to
Representative David Schweikert, H. Rept. 116-465, 116th Cong., 2d Sess. 6 (July 30, 2020); see also Comm. on
Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Repr ive Laura Richardson, H. Rept. 112-642, 112th Cong.
2d Sess. 95 (2012) (explaining that the public’s trust in the integrity of the House is at risk when a respondent
demonstrates “such little respect for the internal discipline of the Flouse that [the respondent] would evade its
questioning, rather than submitting to the fact gathering process in good faith.”).
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Dear Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

1 am in receipt of your correspondence dated July 19, 2023. It raises additional concerns regarding your
investigation into me, without resolving the serious concerns I’ve raised, repeatedly, often with an
incomplete response from you.

As I stated previously, it is an affront to ethics itself to weaponize this Committee against me arising from
facts, which have led my accusers to prison and the Department of Justice to exonerate me. You allege:
“the Committee has not treated [me] different than other respondents.” 1f the Committee can evidence
this claim, it will facilitate an expeditious resolution of this matter. In what other matters has anonymous,
third-hand reporting functioned as the exclusive predication for continuing an investigation that has been
completed and discharged by the Department of Justice? Are there any others?

T’ve asked whether your sole predication for this matter is the anonymous, third-hand hearsay in public
reporting from years ago, which has been debunked by a DOJ investigation. Your last correspondence
essentially admits that it is, wherein you solely cite “very public reporting” as your basis for this
endeavor. If you had any other basis, I assume it would have been referenced. Iask again: Do you have
any other?

In attempting to justify this exercise, you cite two examples of other investigations into members of
congress as corollaries. The first is the matter of Rep. Ocasio-Cortez attending the MET Gala. You seem
to be interested in whether she received an unlawful gift. This rather simple question seems to have
flummoxed the Committee for years, but no matter.

The obvious distinction is that there are literally photos of Rep. Ocasio-Cortez committing the offense
you are investigating. This is hardly comparable to my matter, wherein not a single person (not currently
in federal prison for fraud) has publicly put their name behind any accusation of impropriety regarding
me. To compare photographic evidence to a two-year-old anonymous rumor, which has been investigated
and debunked by the DOJ, is quite revealing as to the true motives of the Committee. You seem more
intent to smear me with disproven rumors and leaks than to enforce an equitable standard of ethics.

To justify your interest in anonymous, disproven allegations into my sexual conduct, you cite the matter
of former Rep. John Conyers. This too is comically misplaced. Rep. Conyers used taxpayer funds to pay
off female staff who made claims of sexual harassment against him. He improperly used member
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representation account funds to travel with his staffers with whom he was allegedly sexually

involved. An actual person got actual money from the House after she alleged that Rep. Conyers
mistreated her. Allegedly, Rep. Conyers would regularly drop his pants in the office, creating a hostile
work environment. The Committee has clear equities to consider when a member uses taxpayer funds to
resolve credible allegations of sexual misconduct or misuses public travel funds for their sexual
conquests. No such credible allegations exist against me. Rep. Conyers resigned following the disclosure
of his taxpayer-funded payoffs and dalliances. His portrait currently hangs in the Judiciary Committee
Room (with pants still affixed!). .

On information and belief, the “very public reporting” you cite as the only predicate for this matter was
caused by felons Joel Greenberg and Stephen Alford. They attempted to wrongfully (and at times
criminally) ensnare me in their problems that did not involve me. Both currently sit in prison for their
crimes, including crimes against my family. Your willingness to regurgitate their lies is shameful and
brings discredit upon the House, in violation of House Rules.

You take occasion to remind me of my “Duty of Candor” to the Committee. Does the Committee have a
corresponding Duty of Candor to me? 1 ask because you assert, without evidence, that: “Committee
members and staff are not responsible for the ‘leak’ of information regarding this investigation...”

How utterly self-affirming and conclusory of you! While you correctly cite rules requiring
confidentiality, those rules have clearly been violated to my detriment. What is your plan to investigate or
remediate the harm caused to me? Will you investigate whether the Obama Donor you’ve assigned to
investigate me is leaking for the sake of partisan politics? Is your use of quotes to demark the leak in this
matter intended to deem the leak as something other than a leak? This was a leak provided to CNN’s
Washington, D.C. based reporter, Annie Grayer. You seem to imply, again without evidence, that those
you’ve spoken to in Florida may be the source of these leaks. Direct evidence runs contrary to your
claim. The CNN article points to the Commiittee itssif 45 the source of the leak: “at least one witness in
Florida... and sources familiar with the Ethics Committee probe say other witnesses have also been
contacted.”

To proceed in good faith, as I intend to do, the Committee owes me some explanation as to the basis for
your claim that the Committee is not the cause of harmful leaks about me. One might reasonably
conclude that you haven’t investigated these leaks because you already know where they came from — the
Committee!

Your last correspondence leaves unresolved the matter and process of production of documents and
responses to your questions. If the Committee will embrace reciprocal good faith, I intend to respond to
your questions and provide responsive documents. You deemed it “highly unusual” that I offered to make
a one-time production of documents and responses in my District Office in Crestview, Florida,
notwithstanding the production protocols you prefer. While you did not outright reject my request, you
offered me the opportunity to provide responses by mail. I decline this option. Please let me know
whether you’d like to receive documents and responses from my District Office, and I am happy to
coordinate a mutually agreeable time for pickup. Per your request, and utilizing the clarifying language of
your pnor correspondence, I can represent to the committee that my response will be “more than de
minimis.” If these terms are acceptable, and I receive a sufficiently prompt response thereto from the
-committee, I can provide a list of dates for pickup in Crestview during August. Whether I can meet the
August 1 I‘h deadline you’ve suggested is dependent on how long it takes to resolve the issues we've
discussed regarding the manner of production.
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It is my hope to resolve these issues with you as soon as possible and I look forward to your response.
Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz g
Member of Congress
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MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
‘The Honorable Matt Gaetz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20515 -

Dear Representative Gaetz:

~ We are in receipt of your letter dated August 4, 2023, regarding an investigation of the
Committee on Ethics (Comumittee) into allegations involving you.

At this time, we are prohibited by Committee Rules from disclosing confidential information
you have requested about the Committee’s investigation into you. Similarly, we cannot disclose
nonpublic information to you about other Committee investigations. We note, however, that the
Committee has previously acknowledged its continued review of matters following the conclusion of
a Department of Justice (DOJ) investigation.! Tndeed, it is not unprecedented for the Committee to
continue to review allegations after the closure of a DOJ investigation, even if the Committee
ultimately concurs in DOJ’s conclusion.? This is not surprising given that the Committee’s role is
different than that of DOJ. The Committee is generally not a law enforcement entity, but instead
makes recommendations to the House in order for the House to execute its constitutional authority to
discipline the behavior of its own Members.? As such, the Committee is tasked with enforcing a
broader set of standards with a different burden of proof. For example, even if receipt of an improper
gift by a Member of Congress does not rise to the level of a crime, it can still be the subject of
Committee enforcement.” Accordingly, the Committee will continue to investigate the allegations
involving you in a manner consistent with House and Committee Rules.

! Comm. on Ethics, Summary of Activities for the 115" Congress, H. Rept. 115-1125, 115th Cong., 2d Sess. 35 (Jan.
2, 2019) (noting the Committee deferred its investigation at the request of law enforcement and that the Committee
had not closed its review of Representative Robert Pittenger after DOJ ended its investigation into the congressman).
2 See e.g., Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Repr ive ¥ern Buch H. Rept. 114~
643, 114th Cong. 2d Sess. 2 (June 24, 2016) (noting that the matter was “the subject of review by four different
entities, the Cornmittee, OCE, FEC, and the Department of Justice™ and that the DOJ investigation concluded in
2012); ¢f id at 27 (noting that the Committee would not defer to decisions by other law enforcement agencies,
including DOJ).

3 See Art. 1, Sec. 5, cl. 2 of the U.S. Constitution.

4 Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Repr ive Don Young, H. Rept. 113-487, 113th
Cong. 24 Sess. 2 (June 20, 2014) (explaining that the Committee moved forward with its investigation of certain
gifts received by Representative Don Young after DOJ ended its investigation of the congressman and referred
evidence in the matter to the Committee).
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At this time, you have failed to provide the information requested in the Committee’s May
23,2023, letter either by the original due date or by the eXtended deadline we provided. Further, you
have not provided a legal reason as to why the documents should not be provided to the Committee
by electronic means or by delivery to the Committee’s office. If there is some legal impediment to
your production of documnents in the normal manner, please let us know. If the documents are too
voluminous to email and you need technical assistance with one of the many House-
approved electronic file sharing providers, we would be happy to arrange that. Moreover, the first
request in the Committee’s May 23, 2023 letter does not require the production of documents, and
simply asks for a written response. You have not identified any reason that you cannot provide
that response by email, immediately.

We hereby direct you to submit your written response to the Committee’s requests for
information within 7 days of the date of this letter, and to provide a complete production of responsive
documents and signed declaration within 14 days of the date of this letter.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest‘ »“Susan Wild
Chairman Ranking Member
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Septetnber 15, 2023

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

I am in receipt of your letter dated September 14, 2023, a full 41 days after my written response to your
Committee. Itis notable for an ostensibly “independent” body that your letter comes immediately after Speaker
McCarthy publicly signaled to you to put the heat on.' In fact, the Speaker’s vety words—belittling my
principled stand on the approptiations fight—show exactly what is going on here: “Matt is upset about an ethics
complaint. T don’t cate what they threaten against me, Pm not going to intetject into an independent committee
like ethics.” And of course, by saying those words, he was instructing you to shoot yout shot.

After years of wasteful investigations into me by your office, undet Democratic leadership then and
Obama-donor staff now, I have learned that your intetest in me waxes and wanes given my interactions with
House leadership.

Your response to me fails to address the setious concerns I have and the hatm caused to me personally
and my office. Specifically, I ask again: Whit affitmativé Steps will you take to ensure that any materials I tarn
over will not be leaked by the partisan staff on the Committee? What steps, any steps, are you taking to
investigate the leaks to the media that were made in the instant matter? I ask again, because while these questions
represented the bulk of my last Jetter to you, pethaps you missed them.

As you are surely aware, the arbitrary deadline you set in your letter to me is 14 days. Well, Mr. Chaitman
and Ranking Member, we are 15 days from a government shutdown on September 30. I remain focused on the
job my constituents sent me to Washington to do. However; I will provide my fulsome response to you in
fewer calendar days than it took for youtr instant response.

Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congress

1 Kevin McCarthy stares down another right-wing revolt | CNN Politics
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October 2, 2023

Cominittee on Ethics

U.S. House of Reptesentatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

1 write to bring your attention to public reporting explicitly and cotruptly linking this matter to my
giving notice of my intent to vacate the Chair pursuant to Rule IX of the House. Yout last letter to me, of
September 14, 2023, came immediately after Speaker McCarthy signaled to you through the media to turn up
the heat on me. (CNN, “McCarthy-Gaetz showdown takes centet stage again,” September 14, 2023).

Now, we see the connection between my legislative business and this matter in technicolor. Indeed, one
“anonymous House Republican” told Fox News over the weekend that he had petsonal knowledge of a draft
report of your office, and that the report was directly tied to my announced plans to move to vacate the chair
of the House. (Fox News, House GOP members seek to expel Gaetz amid renewed threat to vacate House
Speaker McCarthy).

It is widely known that the Fox News reporter who broke the story is dating Representative Brian
Fitzpatrick, whose connection to the members 6f thé Ethics Committee is well-documented. Indeed, this
connection might also explain how Jake Tapper, interviewing me over the weekend, was able to cite “personal
communications” made by me linking Speaker McCatrthy to this ethics matter: The relevant communication is
very likely my September 15, 2023, letter to you. So much for your Committee’s alleged “independence.” Most
critically, on information and belief, the Speaker’s office has coordinated with yout office on the ethics matter,
related to me, pending before you, and I utrge you to fetain your relevant records.

1 have been cleared by the Department of Justice (in February this year) and by the Federal Elections
Commission  (Federal FElections Commission, ILettet of August 13, 2023, awilable x

fec.gov/files /legal/murs/8034/8034 09.pdf). This exercise by you is nakedly political.

The critical substance of out correspondence over the past few months has, in fact, related to the leaks
to the media by membets and staff, in violation of your Committee rules and House rules. Yet again, over the
weekend, it has been proved that your office leaks like a sieve, to my detriment. What has your Committee done
to investigate these leaks? And to remedy the fact that my letters have not run to-and-from the members, but
through a staff member with a track record of donating to Obama and other Democratic carapaigns? Surely
nothing. But you'll find the time to leak and lambaste me in the media, and again, I expect an imminent
nastygram, because the Speaker has so requested.

I am unawate of individuals who meet the criteria set forth in your first question to me on May 23,
2023. T have attached as Exhibit 1 the travel records I maintained on my phone related to my only trip to the
Bahamas in 2018. They are the boarding passes and itinerary I used for this travel, which I paid for personally.
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Finally, I have sought, and cannot locate, a list of people affiliated with the American Medical Madjuana
Physicians Association; thus, your thitd question to me on May 23, 2023, is unanswerable.

It is a disgrace that the Ethics Committee is being weaponized in this way.

Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congtess
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Qctober 4, 2023

Commnittee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

The following is yet another leak from your Committee in the matter pending befote you, related to
me. This was published yesterday in the New York Times (“Gaetz’s Challenge to McCatthy Draws Attention to
His Ethics Issues,” October 3, 2023, awmilable at https:/fwww.nytimes.com/2023/10/03/us/politics/gaetz-
ethics-committee-house.html).

“Once the Justice Department inquiry ended, the Ethics Committee resumed its work, according to
people familiar with the matter, reaching out to witnesses for interviews. However, 2 person familiar
with the matter said the committee, which is made up of an equal number of Republicans and
Democrats, has not yet reached out to a key witness at the center of the most serious allegations against
M. Gaetz.

The people familiar with the situation spoke 4bout the investigation on the condition of anonymity
because it is confidential”

Needless to say, I respectfully request that you investigate these, and the numerous other leaks I have
brought to your attention. Furthermore, I request that you inform me of any steps you are taking, or plan to
take, in so doing. And needless to say, as before, I expect radio silence in this matter, because as you have
noted to me before, all staff actions have been taken pursuant to your explicit authorization, presumably
including these leaks.

Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz _g=X
Member of Congtess
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October 23, 2023

Comimittee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Yet again, Representative Kevin McCarthy (CA-20), has sought to influence your Committee wotk
and.abuse his (former) position with public commentary related to the instant matter. As reported by the
Washington Excaminer on October 22, 2023, McCarthy expressly tied my ethics investigation to unrelated
matters: “I legally can't be involved in it — must be rather serious to put this much jeopardy into this nation.”

While I have not once linked my Motion to Vacate the Chair to anything other than the
Representative’s failures as Speaker, he seems to know something I do not—-that there is a link between my
actions in Conference and on the House floor and this investigation. Indeed, his own monomaniacal
commentary on the issue is a far more robust factual predicate for opening an inquity into the
Representative’s contacts with your office (related to the instant matter) than any third-hand hearsay forming
your sole basis for opening this inquiry.

Thankfully, the current occupant of the Spealiér’s suite has no more formal authotity over your
Cotmmittee, but I understand the position you are in. However, now is an opportune time to consider a few
of my requests in the interest of good government:

(1) Consider investigating the numerous media leaks related to the instant matter;

(2) Consider improving internal processes for investigating and responding to such leaks;

(3) Consider improving ethics rules to prohibit House leadership from commenting on pending
investigations, given the appearance of improptiety and likelihood of undue political influence
upon your operations; and

(4) Consider investigating the contacts between Representative Kevin McCarthy (CA-20) and your
Committee telated to the instant matter.

‘Sincerely, .

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congress
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February 2, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

How many letters have I sent your office, alerting you to continued leaks of the Committee, and
trequesting that you investigate? None of my communications with your office have been made public, although
I am sure that if it were to your political advantage, these would also find their way to your preferred outets,
whether CNIN or the New York Times. )

Last night, another news item indicating malfeasance of your staff was published by CNIN. The article
is entitled “First on CNIN: House Ethics Comtnittee reached out to Rep. Matt Gaetz’s ex-girlfriend amid ongoing
investigation.” (available at http:/ /www.can.com/2024/02/01 /politics/matt-gaetz-ethics-
committee/index.htmi).

This exclusive to CNIN again cites “a source familiar with the ethics probe” into me, and leaks nonpublic
information: specifically, that your committee reachéd Sut to an ex-girlfriend of mine. What is particulasly
interesting about this leak is that the article takes a potshot at the witness, noting that she is “not expected to
voluntarily coopetate with the Ethics probe.” Given that the piece cotrobotates the leak with her attorney,
who made 1o other comment, and given that any lawyer worth his salt would emphatically not be telling CNIN
that his client would be non-cooperative, this is strong evidence that this leak was, as we suspect in all the other
leaks, your staff.

One leak might be chalked up to a witness alerting the media. Two leaks might. But three, and four,
and five leaks is a pattemn that can only be attributable to Ethics Committee staff. That many leaks with no
attempt to correct the problem (shouldn’t protocols for dealing with witnesses change if they run to the media
every time your staff speaks with them, and speaks with them, surprisingly, only in my case?) suggests directive
from above.

Add to that the tagline: “FIRST ON CNN.” This tagline suggests an “exclusive,” which is the type of
comms strategy that professional staff engage in, not the type of behavior a witness who was granted immunity
by the FBI and who made no other comment, and who was attacked in the very piece itself, would engage in.

What do you plan to do about this?

Sincerely,

1\%&




Member of Congress
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February 12, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20513

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

My letter to your Committee of ten days ago, yet again left on read, alerted you to another leak of your
Cotmmittee—the most setious one yet. I mentioned that your leaks had a familiat pattern, involving your preferred
outlets, “whether CNIN ot the New York Timss.” That leak involved CNN, and I must be a fortune teller, because
today’s involves the New York Times.

Last Friday, that outlet refreshed the attacks on me, largely through the lawyer of convicted felon Joel
Greenberg, who has been allegedly “cooperating” with your Committee. Given his history of fraud and les, and
given that he literally was indicted in federal court for fabricating sexual abuse allegations against someone, I can
only assume that the reason your staff is reaching out to him is to draft the section of your report explaining how
the Committee has to be careful with handling unreliable witnesses. Because it would be embarrassing to be using
him as your star witness in some hit on me.

While that article, “Chief Witness Against Gaetz Is Cooperating With House Ethics Investigation™ (amsslable
at https:/ /werw.nytimes.com/2024/02/09 /us/ politics/ gagtz-sex-trafficking html), only mentions possible leaks by
your Committee once (“The investigation of Mr. Gaetz has been slow moving as investigators have been sent a
range of tips.’), it is still notable in the context of (1) repeated leaks by Committee staff and (2) your inability and
unwillingness to investigate these leaks, suggesting your noncompliance with Committee and House rules.

Morte crucially, however, I deaw your attention to last week’s comments of former Speaker Kevin McCarthy,
yet again intimating his firsthand knowledge of confidential information possessed by your Committee. Specxﬁcaﬂy,
in an interview with the Washingron Examiner, McCatthy noted:

“Y think people see how far Matt Gaetz will go and the fear he has of what's in the ethics complaint. He's
trying to protect himself, and that harms our caucus, that harms our majority. In the end, people will see
why Gaetz would want to do that. And I think in the end, Gaetz would have a hard time being 2 Member
of Congress and with staying out of jall too”

Again, this kind of inappropriate commentary fits a pattern of behavior for Kevin. While you have no
jurisdiction over a former metnber of Congress, it does suggest the need for you to investigate and repott on his
contacts with your office over this matter, while he was actually in Congress.

Sincerely,

Member of Cbn’gress
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Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

This s, at least, the seventh letter in tecent months alerting your Comumittee of leaks. You have simply
ignored most of themn, and have not proposed a single action that you would take in investigating them. My February
2, 2024 letter highlighted a new and more illuminating type of leak by you or your staff: the “exclusive” given to a
news outlet. Well, today I alert you to another “exclusive” you ot your staff gave to a left-wing outlet; this time, it
is to ABC News.

Yesterday, Will Steakin, a reporter known for publishing leaks from House leadership, published “House
panel obtains texts allegedly showing Gaetz setting up 2017 Florida Keys trip with woman his associate paid for sex:
Sources” (February 14, 2024, available ar htps:/ /abcnews.go.com/US/house-panel-obtains-texts-allegedly-showing-
gaetz-setting/story?id=107126493). This piece yet again explicitly indicates leaks by you ot your staff:

Congtessional House Hthics investigatots have obtained text messages allegedly showing that a few months
after first joining Congress, Florida Rep. Matt Gaetz asked a young woman, who at the time had received
payments fot sex from Gaetz's then-close fenid Joél Greenberg, to join him and others on a three-day trip
to the Florida Keys in May 2017, multiple soutces tell ABC News.

Needless to say, this is probable cause to suppott an investigation into these specific leaks by you or your
staff. It might also warrant review of standing policies of yout Committee work, But also needless to say, I am
certain that this will result in no action on your part. Disappointing (do your jobl) but not surprising.

Joel Greenberg, again, is a convicted felon, who may or may not have engaged in a whole host of conduct
on his own, such as the conduct alleged here. Itis beyond ridiculous that you continue to facilitate these leaks, often
(as with this one) having no apparent tie to any conceivable House Ethics rule. “The process is the punishment”
and these are clearly meant solely to smear me. And it is telling that the news media and former Speaker McCarthy
have greater opportunity to review your work product than do I T have as yet had no opportunity to review or rebut
any particular allegations.

Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congress
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Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives -

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

T'm sute this letter, by my count my eighth or ninth alerting you to unaddressed leaks out of your Committee,
shouldn’t come as a surprise. Last week, citing “multiple” sources on your staff, and obtaining “a swon written
statemnent that has been obtained by the Ethics committee,” ABCNews published a piece entitled “Matt Gaetz
attended 2017 party where minor and drugs were present, woman's swota statement obtained by Congress claims”
(Aptil 19, 2024, avadlable a4t htps://abenews.go.com/US/matt-gaetz-attended-2017-patty-minor-drugs-
preseat/story?id=109324572).

The piece is replete with intimate knowledge of the Committee’s investigation, including specific questions
asked of differently situated witnesses. Mr. Chairman and Ranking Member: these are leaks, and you know they are
leaks by your staff.

Were this a serious investigation by law enforcement, investigators would be running internal investigations
into the leaks, or secking gag orders or sanctions on parties that they had reason to believe were responsible for the
continued leaks and media circus, or both. And yet, to-date, you have not only not remedied this obstructive
behavior, you have not made any ¢ffors to do so. The continued, steady drip of leaks is clear evidence of this.

Sincerely,

Member of Congtess
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May 20, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Here we are again: another leak from your staff. On May 16, Pojitino published an article entitled “House Ethics
panel subpoenas DOJ for Gaetz records.” Of course, it’s theoretically possible that the Department of Justice
itself has leaked the subpoena against it, but this flies in the face of the overwhelming pattern of conduct of
your committee and staff.

Please be advised.

Sincerely,

Member of Congress
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Chairman Staff Director and Chief Counsel
Susan W;d, Pennsglvania Keelie Broom
Ranking Member Counsel to the Chairman
David P, Joyce, Ohio David Arojo
John H. Rutherford, Florida ONE HUNDRED EIGHTEENTH CONGRESS Counsel 1o the Ranking Member
Andrew R. Garbarino, New York
Michelle Fischbach, Minnesota 1015 Longworth House Office Building
U.S. Bouse of Representatibes Voo domsison
Veronica Escobar, Texas * + Telephone: {202) 225-7103
Mark DeSaulnier, California N Facsirmile: {202) 225-7392
Deborah K. Ross, North Carolina COMMITTEE ON ETHICS

Glenn F, Ivey, Maryland

May 20, 2024

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matt Gaetz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

As you are aware, the Committee on Ethics (“Committee™) is reviewing allegations
involving you. To make sure you are aware of these allegations, we are providing a list of
allegations in the enclosed Appendix. In arecent communication you stated that you “have as yet
had no opportunity to review or rebut any particular allegations.” Please feel free to provide any
information you wish the Comumittee to review regarding these allegations.

The Committee has determined that your testimony is necessary to its investigation of the
aliegations described above. Accordingly, we hereby request that you appear for a voluntary
interview with the Committee. You will have an opportunity at the interview to respond to the
allegations against you and relevant questions arising out of the review. To schedule your
interview, please provide at least three potential dates and times from June 3 to June 14, during
which you will appear for an interview of approximately two hours to take place at the
Cormittee’s office in 1015 Longworth House Office Building.

The interview will be conducted by Committee counsel and any Committee Members who
are able to attend. The entire interview will be transcribed by a House reporter. You may be
accompanied by an attorney at your own expense; if you will be accompanied by an attormey,
please bave your attorney provide the Committee with a completed copy of the enclosed Notice of
Appearance in advance of the interview.

Please provide the requested dates and times no later than May 23, 2024 Should you
fail to cooperate with this request in a complete and timely manner, the Committee will consider

using compulsory processes to obtain your testimony. Enclosed with this letter is a copy of the
Rules of the Committee for the 118th Congress, as well as a copy of the Rules of the House of
Representatives for the 118th Congress regarding the rights of withesses.
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The Honorable Matt Gaetz
Page 2 of 3

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

chael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman : Ranking Member

Enclosures
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The Honorable Matt Gaetz
Page 3 of 3

Appendix

The U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Ethics (Committee) is reviewing the following
allegations relating to Representative Matt Gaetz at this time:

1. Representative Gaetz may have engaged in sexual misconduct, including violations of
federal laws relating to sex trafficking and state laws relating to prostitution and statutory
rape.

2. Representative Gaetz may have engaged in illicit drug use, including the use or
distribution of cocaine and marijuana, including in connection with commercial sexual
activity.

3. Representative Gaetz may have shared inappropriate images or videos on the House
floor, including videos or images of a nude woman.

4. Representative Gaetz may have misused state identification records, including
unauthorized review of Florida driving license records and/or obtaining fraudulent or
unauthorized identification records.

5. Representative Gaetz may have converted campaign funds to personal use, including
expenditures for lodging intended to facilitate commercial sexual activity and/or illicit
drug use.

6. Representative Gaetz may have accepted a bribe, improper gratuity, or impermissible
gift, including through travel-related expenses in connection with a 2018 trip to the
Bahamas.
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Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

I am in possession of your cotrespondence dated May 20, 2024, wherein you identify the areas of
your investigation into me and seek my two-hour testimony before the Committee between June 3
and June 14.

1 appreciate the opportunity to directly address the matters you have raised. This letter represents my
sole response at this time, and I remind you that my prior responses to yout inquity have included
substantial evidence proving these allegations false.

You allege: “Representative Gaetz may have engaged in sexual misconduct, including violations
federal laws relating to sex trafficking and state laws relating to prostitution and statutory rape.”

This allegation is false. These allegations were investigated by the Department of Justice and the
investigation was completely dropped. You are eminently aware that this was a thorough
investigation that exonerated me, because numerous leaks from your Committee suggest you are
reinterviewing witnesses interviewed by DOYJ, and you are seeking release of the DOJ case file.

You allege: “Representative Gaetz may have engaged in illicit drug use, including the use or
distribution of cocaine and matijuana, including in connection with commercial sexual activity.”

This allegation is false.

You allege: “Representative Gaetz may have shared inappropriate images or videos on the House
floot, including videos or images of a nude woman.”

This allegation is false.
You allege, “Representative Gaetz may have misused state identification tecotds, including
unauthorized review of Flotida driving license recotds and/or obtaining fraudulent or unauthorized

identification recotds.”

This allegation is false.
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You allege: “Representative Gaetz may have converted campaign funds to personal use, including
expenditutes for lodging intended to facilitate commercial sexval activity, and/or illicit drug use.”

This allegation is false. The Federal Flection Commission investigated allegations of misuse of
campaign funds and found them baseless. They voted #manimonsly to hold that there was “no reason
to believe” that I converted campaign funds to personal use. Not that they just believed my story:
there was no evidence to refute it. See Attached Exhibit “A.”

You allege: “Representative Gaetz may have accepted a bribe, improper gratuity ot impermissible
gift, including through travel-related expenses in connection with a 2018 trip to the Bahamas.”

This allegation is false. Again, these allegations wete investigated by the Department of Justice and
no charges were brought against me. Purthermore, you have received voluminous documentaty
evidence from me, demonstrating the falsity of this allegation.

To my detriment, your Comumittee, with publicly reported Democratic staff at the helm, reopened
this apparently endless investigation this Congress, without any complaint by anyone. And it seems
your investigation exists largely as a platform to release harmful leaks about me, often falsely implying
improper conduct on my part. As you know, Rules 18 and 19 of the Committee contemplate
establishing an Investigative Subcommittee for matters wherein 2 member could be compelled to
offer testimony. :

Furthermote, 1 have written you thirteen times regarding the leaks springing from your
investigation. See my correspondence attached 2s composite Exhibit “B.” You have failed to stop
these leaks, remediate them ot even slow them down. Thus, I demand that the committee address
this issue prior to me providing any oral testimony to the Committee.

Knowing how politically motivated this all is, however, I fully expect you to simply move forward,

including with improper leaks to the liberal press, during the height of campaign season.

Respectfully,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congtress
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of }
3 MUR 8034
Friends of Matt Gaets and Steven G. 3
Martin tn-his official capacity as b
treasurer; Matt Gaetz 3

1, Vicktoria L Alles, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive
sission, do hereby certify that on August 08, 2023, the Commission took the following actions in
the above-captioned matter;

L

2. Decided by avote of 5-0 to:

4. Find no reaton to believe that Friends of Mant Gaetz and Steven G,
Martia as treasurer and Matt Gacte violated 52 US.C. § 30114(b)
by converting campaign funds to-personal use.

b, Approve the Factual and Legal Analysis, as recommended in the
Fiest General Counsel’s Report dated March 9, 2023, subjectto the
edits cwreulated by Vice Chairman Cooksey’s Office on August 4;
2023 at 102 tam,, and further subject to the deletion discussion at
the table on page 10, line 1

<. ‘Approve the appropriate letters,

& Closethe file:
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Federal Election Compnission : Page2
Certification for MUR 8034
August ¥, 2023

‘Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Lindenbaum, and Trainor voted
a:fkﬁrmmiwiy‘ for the decision. Commnigsioner Weintraub abstained:
Attest:
Vicktoria J
Allen

| Dhsmaty st by Vgt )
E Date 203808 A FRTIY
st 13,2023 il

Vicktoria 1. Allen
Deputy Secretary of the Commission

Date’
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Desr Chatrinin Guestand Ranking WMember Wild:
¥ o vceeing of yoie letter dated My 23,2003,

Despite ‘publication 6€ the mushanticindied Dirham Report, § sems Washmgtﬁn has
prmmmm Rmhium : mfﬁam pmdmism msd esfmm&, conplic

t o mx its nm af investigating

rvw) Indeed, 4
action withost so mehiass filed mpi&m& gmuaa{ e Y:mamﬁm Rule I186a), Lammmwmmd Tquiryor Inwmgmm’*

rotwithstaniding the absense of o fled domplaint™y:

T frther in receipt of Ize:w of the Cominities duted April 9, 2R and the statement oF the then-Chairan and: Ranking
member, both ol which: provided ne factual basis for their: mwmm Yo date. | have never received. any m&wmﬁm
providing any. et alone 8 masonable i ; e
thoroughly mmigsm by the FBI an DOy Thwgh

Wxagmmmwfm Kind. D ‘i«m.m mm-s " oF the New York Thnes have ”mym:smd
ungorroborated, ealling %ﬁc entire eredibility of the story ipon whith yoi pmiicm this mvestigation intocserions and obvinas
doubt,

Tt wiowded be an affront (o sthies HOOIT for the Committes to take thind hand soecutled "public mptmmg,, inselt citing anouyriiony
soursis {which cobkd not be comoborated alter vears of yiig by the FBIY as @ sole basly for continuiig this charsde. Do vou
e nmy other basis?

Fustherimare, whils the Connmiiive appehes more ihan willing to open up i tavestiption pradicated oo mmmn, thirdihand,
ERoRyYmous hetrmay, vou nbvertheless sl oF e that my response be ‘provided wider onth. B i i sl that the
evidentipry Buvden of responding to'a i slous and unpredicated vestigation should be h@gizer than ppesing it Sucha double-
stinckid Hternlly invites frivolity such as this:

Moreoves, the vimeling You set forth by your letier is 35 unreasonable as 16 ihuninating 4 6 the tue motives Hehind this
exercise, "With ten vy until the Seeretary of the Treasury. sinals Ameriéa's defilt, you have given e fourteen dys to
Foview over six venrs of fmanclal, trivel, and calendar seconds. ?s&xxy of these vecords may be held fn different accounts and.
places, mchwimg Tikely Floridh. Lam in Washington working to save our country from Bracial rein. Frequest the committes
penmit mecte unime the: Angast Wexrk Period o take account of my rights snd u&i«gamxs a¢ wingmber of the House dn more

fully responding b your correspondence and p i«mg&ncmgiﬁmmm

Tha ircuy s thick.: For' the: 118t Congress, 1 serve o the Selver. Kubeammittes on the Wesponization of the. Federal
Goveriiment. biv e vory ﬁﬁm wrder t%w imﬁngmwc wurk I have: doiie Fag expnseci pommal captureat the FBI elevtion
- ; il )

e must ‘wonder whether it mmy oy wkméang;es&mﬁwﬁwgmmmﬁﬂhmmm&mﬁe&mm Eitigs
anmme: being weiponized agaiist me;

Sinwerely, ‘

Mt Gastr 2
Meniberof Congron
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Dear Chairman Guestand Ranking Member Wild:

Fanvin veesipl of correspondence from g person Salled Rrsttnﬁ} Peseatore oo June 14,2023, who purports

the “Director of }mmmgaimm for the Committee, acting onvour behall. While: Fye besen told that
Cammm staft is non-partisan, FEC records [Attiched hersto us Exhibit. A} seem 1o show My Pescatore
ahistime ActBloe/Obumi Donors: Tx this the seme person? Am Lo proceed assuming that this
Obama Donor holds fll proxy tospeak for the Republican Ethies Chatoman fand ranking miember in
corrdspondence with me?

Additionally, does the Conmitter-intend 1o offer & mont fulsome response o the steniticant bongems:
‘palsed my e o ¥ Wiy 26 Land attached heretd as Exhibit BI2 1801, the Pescators responis

15 incomplots and fasulty

Will the Committee have any. wsponse {0y contems reganding the fack of pre fi;catmn for the :
{‘memﬂm i ’ ) ion apainst me? Am T o sssune that by i | m congerns, ﬁw:
Commitiee is conceding that 1t is acting solely based on vodrsold, third-hand; i‘(!‘iﬁn} mous harsay in
debunked public reporting? Sad!

Will the Commitiee either admit or deny zln: atlepation T Have rpde that this.is 2 weaponization af the
Commitice against me?

Tesecis that the events slace my May 26 letier only réinforcthe contentions 1 have made regarding the
Ji’m&mi}ﬁs m:m wf‘tﬁe Commitite’s renuthor mm at‘ s

Ewdmhfp 1o dt”ﬁil‘tiww amh«mzed feaks 1o mmi thx:rr eri
teliing.

Mareover. the tomespondesce From Ms. Pescatote Seems o conflict with the {?ammmﬁ:e § Data Delivery
Sturedards: The Srandards call on e tormakedemands of third parties t pro )
i vorresponsdence places 2 hard deadline onmy production. a Augm el
it ;mami:iv wmnnﬁa timefeame of the production of others:

Reather than the “ralli mg " production proposed by M Pescatore, [ propose the Rlloing i facilitae g
voluntary “ore-time™ produstion by me o the Comaritee; if apphs:a&?@

i Ttm Chuteand Raﬁkmg Member will provide s Tulsome responsg o m@f Tetter dated May 26 within'y
mawaah%x. time;



85

2 bwill ma&e @ pmémtmn ct ruspanmsz* ru:xmi‘: Mﬁmi’amm‘tmn nthe {,amm:tte:, inpaper form,

roed time d rmg ihe ug:mt Recess

mc e mmm:ex} the pre}dmtmu ofany xespousu% nm«pm Hewed

coordiated alter any third
records foome;

Oher Satures 5F My, Pescatores correspondence to me are confusing, such 8¢ vague relerences 6
Nutwtaaﬁmi* production. Does this mean a substantial manber.o documents? Or a substantial number of
festions in the RFLanswered? Is asole dogurment ‘that substantially-disprovey third-hand, anonymous,

publichy reported rumors: sufficiontly subsiantial?

Noniatier: though as | have presented s reasonable; asconunodating Wa?ma;mp&:m&;ﬁ: with any good
faith actions by the eonumittee in'gorrisponding pood faith,

‘irs {Z‘k)mlixg‘zim 1 m:uxid (sbs&rw o t&w C@mmitm that thi; f&i&i:

bﬁs mmmng apeﬁ whk:h the

tw;bi‘. Lr;me m wh tephm mﬁmd‘and others usmf # mim‘iml‘ &ixakmigw {Bas [
attempt o c&t‘rsmd my family ot of mitlions of dollars, Ve pleaded ity 1o this Grime; !czst all ?cpp‘:a&s
onsentencing and was sent to federal prison for years.

Asd cammun 11y inporang \mz'i{ in ﬁm HI8%Conpress itis potewirthy i&m those whe have spread thess
Hies about me have found themsebees debunked; defested, and fmprisoned over Hme,

Tawaityour responge,

Respectully,

M Gavez
Menber of Conpress’
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Exhibit B

Subject: RE: Ethics Committes latter

Sillian,

The Chateman and Rarlkdag Mambier have reviewed am wxsxim Represeniative Gosts's Muy 26,2003,
seﬁer m f;&mm md kankwg mmm m agwﬁ m pm% aegmmﬂm»re G&m an aﬁémcmi ax;aensﬁm

iwﬁtan% mﬁmn o ziw Augu&s: wm i’e{iﬁ& i twwi%i& ﬁiﬁ r&spmm
Please confirm receiptand et us know of any guestioss.

Thaks,

]
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W
REERATEIRN RO O .
[

@twmss of the Tuited ﬁtatm

Wastington, BE 20515

July 14,2023

Conmitiée o Hihics

LLS, Hose of Repeesntitives

1015 Lovgworth House Office Building THOB)
MWashington, DC 20515

Chateman Guese and Ranking Member Wild:

Anachied here, please find the mott recent reporting resaliing from leaks of yourinvestigation inro e, These
feaks cause my constitaents hapm as Fendeavor to seprevent them.

Undder the Ruics r»f thw: ( mmmzu on | 5 hm& *‘ﬁ mme members ind saff shall not disclose any evidente
Committer or uibcomunitiee to any person
the Committes” The eascade.of feaks in matters
mtatmg o 0y f and mx* nfﬁce, hecaise rﬁmv Ko Hoy autimxm:d by the Committes, st resultin investigation

sndupproprite action by the Committee.

Plessi et mie know, by July 21, 2023, what serions the Comumitres intends o take reliring bo these matters,

Shncerely;

A e (xssat.‘; o
Memberaf ("mgrm
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House Ethics Committee reaching out to witnesses in
revived Matt Gaetz probe
Bl

Pl Reid, Aldyns Trasne; ARve Giayer iy 13, 3003

CNN —

Inivestigators from the House Eihics Committes have begun reaching out to wilnesses as
partof a recently revived investigation into Rep. Malt Gastz of Florida, focused an
allegations that he may haveengaged in sexual misconduct, tﬁ%c&f dmg use orother
misconduct

At least ohe witness in Floiida told CNN they have spoken 1o invesligators about the
Republican congressman i recent weeks about alleged lobbying violations, and sources
familiar with the Ethics Committee: probe say other wilnesses alsohave been contactad.

Asource fam%ﬁa’r with the Houss panel’s work told CNN that the Justice Department's
idecision not to bring charges against Gaetz does notimpact what the commitiee will and:

won'tinvestigate. The. committee plans fo examing the same al llsgations they wers looking
into when they opened the investigation in 2021, the source told CNN.

The Eihics Committos, which at'the time was controlied by Democrats, originally ppened an.
investigation in 2021, publicly announcing that they were examining & range of allegations
including that Gaetz viclated sex trafficking laws; shared nappropriate | images or videos on
the House floor, converted aampa:gn funds to- personal use:and accepted a bribe, Among
other claims.

Caetr has repeatedly denied any wrongdoing.

Gaetz told CNN on Thursday, the investigation is “not Something I'm worried about, I'm
focused on the work.”

“Thie Ethics Committés typicaliy operates thrwgh lgaks and so this s no surprise, butthe
Ethics Committee hasnever found me to be in violation of Hause rules: thougn they've been
mve&tsgatmg me dumg my enfire seven years. in Cengress, hersaid. “Wsatso funny that the
ohe guy who doesi’t take the corrupt icbbwst and PAC money seems 1o be under the most
Ethics investigation™

The commities deferred ﬁs investigation at the requestof the Justic ;
s:maitan&ﬁusly mnbmg the ai!egatmns The semﬁtea m@m{i rts wm'k &amer tms yem,
first reportad By Punchbow! News affer the DOJ congluded its investigation g{mmmgmg
charges.

1z
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The Ethics Committes detlined to comment for this story:

The new contacts are the first known instances of the commitiee reaching aut to witnesses
since the panel restumed Its investigation eatlier this yaar 8o tar, the facus of the
‘cammﬁtae s recent questions has been on possible iobbymg w:;%a{mns amcrdmg ta the
souree whc was mtemewed This subject was also previousty fai 3
aninto the congressman

Howaver, & source familiar with the panel’s probe toid CNN that whils some ‘witnesses may
have only been asked about one aSpect of their investigation, that does not mean other
wilnesses are not being asked gquestions on other aspects of the probe.

Now chaired by Repulilican Rep. Michasl Guest of Mississippl, the panel quistly restarted its
mwashgahcn earlier this year without publicly laying cut its targets anew. Thedegision to
tegin reaching out to winesses, made by Guest and ranking Dermocratic member, Rep.
Susan Wikl of Perrisyivania, is the first formal step the committse has taken since the ethics
investigation resuried,

‘House Speakar Kevin MoCarthy told CNN this week he doesn't "know anyﬁ'mg abcﬂt" the
investigation; twmg that he's baired by House rifles fmm emussmg itwith commiittes
members. The Republican-led investigation into Gaetz cores 48 the Fimda mngfesﬁman
finds himself repeatedly at odds with his pany’s feadership: -

| never know any&hmg an {the} Ethics {:@mmae, McCart?ty told CNN. "L don'tknow what
investigations they have. | don't know anythmg about it”

Askect to comment on whethet be thinks the investigation should move forward, Mc{:a:my
declined to do so and referred questions o the committas,

As speaker, Met:arthy appoints members to the: eﬂmrmﬁae butis not mva¥ved inthe
processes of the committes’s wmk The: ;:anel‘s work bs mnducted in-closed-door executive
session, and the miy paa;s!e by tuile who are aliowed To be iavolved in commitiee
irivestigations are Ethics Commitiee memibers and stafl. a source familiar with the probe told
CNN.

The source added that M::Car:hy has na power over the Etm:a Committes's investigation
into Gastz, and any iemi of his involvement would viglate committee rules:

This story has been tupdated with additional developments.

25
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Congress of the Enited States st
S Fouse of Representatives

by Washington, DE 20313

August 4, 2023

Commities on Ethics

LES House of Rémﬁmnvm .

1015 Longworth Honse Otffice Building {L. H(XB}
Washington, DC ZﬂﬁiS

D Chadiman Giest and Rapking Member Wil

Lanvin m::exm s{ yourcormespondence dated July 19,4 2023, Tt raises additiorial comcems regarding your
i ithout resulving the serivus conetrns I've raised, Jrepeatedly, sften with an

As T stated previoushy, it fsan affront to othies itself toowesponize this Connnittee-againgt we atising from
Taets, which have led miy deeusers to prison and the Department of Justice 1o exonerate e You allege:
“the ﬂemmuwe has nod weated {me} diferent than eher dospondents.™ 1f the Commities can evidence
this elaing Wwill faciliate an eopediions resolution of this natter: In whatathermatiers has anenymous,
thive-hand reporting functioned as the exchisivi predication for continuing an Tnvestigation that bas been
completed and cixschargnd by the Department of Jugtice? Are there day othens?

P &s&m‘l whﬁhu‘ymr sole predication for this mmt::s‘ is zf:e anonyimous; mm%ham tmwa}f i gub&t

md«a‘ma% ‘if o had any other b::im, 1 assxmm it waiﬁcﬁ have ixcsm mfmmx‘ﬁ 1 zwk agam Do you tave
any othee?

w bn mu,mmd in wﬁemar *;ahs: reigive d em un%wtul mﬁ Thiy mﬁmr mmp& qu{sﬁm
Pummoxed the Committes for years, but no maties.

ﬁm t“;%:maus {éismmmn is ﬁ\a& iﬁm are Fntem{!y phﬁms nf Rizp Ouasio-Corter x:ommmmg !l‘&‘i ﬂﬁi.‘ﬁ'%‘
m tsrén‘ai

md dﬁbﬂﬂkﬁ."if by e DOL s qmm mwahﬂg s m‘{iw e miotives of the € i:smmme; ‘g o Seetn tote
inttent to smeur mie with disprovenrumors and feaks than o enforce an equitable standard of ethics:

T ﬁgmngy your interest in anonymous. dxspmwn allegations into my sexualconduct: vou ¢ite the matier
of former Rep: John Conyers. This too 18 comically: mas;.ﬂ.!ce& Rep. Conyersused taxpayer funds o pay
off fernale sl who made clalmyaf sexal haragsmient against B, b improperly used msmber
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representation aceount finsds to travelwith his staffers withowhon he was allegedly sexually

involved, Antciual person got actual money fronvthe House after shx. aﬁcgs:& that Rep. Conyers
mistreated her. Allegediy, Rep. Convers would regularly drop his pants in the office, creating a hostile
\m& em'tm}mmm The Conmiittee hus elear equities to vonsider whn s member wses taxpayer funds to
¢ allegations of sexunl misconduct or misuses: pubhc tmwzi funds fm their snewzxi

1y m«c;&mf«iuﬂdﬁ pamﬁ“g and dnihmm Hig mﬁm: cwfem}v kzmg& inthe Jﬂdmsars mexalm*
Roomy {(with paots stll allixed!):

@n mit)rmatmu ami ix:%lef ih& w:s} pﬂb%m npmfimg vmx ;stﬁ; as tfw tmiy pmdwa& f‘m l%ns nmiwr was

ke ﬁg, ic)r ii& mku 0{" pamszm pu!stzc%" Is your use-of quotes to demark the teak in this
h ot wmmhmg c!{her Thana h.ak‘? ’I’his wasy kmk ;:mvuéea m CNN%

| artxclu ;mmzx o m ( omamitte wif EL ] ﬂu mw af the M&« “at hmst csm: withess in
Florids, . il sowroes familinewith the F{hmﬁ Committee probe sav gihor wimesses have alvo been
contacted

To proceed fngood Gt as T intend to'do; the Comindites pwes e some ‘esplanation as 1 the bisis for
youe claim that the Comiities s not the cause ol Barnifiul leaks sbou e, One might reasonably
conclude thal youhiven't investigated these leaks because youw alreadly know where they ceme from - the
Commpittee!

Ymsf im mm&mmdwm imx s& umewtwﬁ tim mam,r and mﬁ% of pw«iwtm of cﬁmumms and

4 onitine pmdut.tn}
m"utm{hsm\dmg the 3;

commitie ec, Fean ;xécmée alistof dams for pickupin k(’_ resiview éurmg Am.usr Wlm%mr i can meet ﬁ’}i:
August T deadling you! wwggaszz:d s dependent on how Tong ivtakes to resolve the dssues we v
discussed regasding E}e manner 6F production.
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1t is miy hope o resolve these issues with You us soor as posstble and T look forward to-your response,

Sincerely,

%v;at{ Gacm e

Member of C!’i‘lﬁi&
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MATTGAREZ

gt Ruasan - o ;
bR Congress of the Tnited States
o Bouse of Representatives e
&W&ﬂg&& st 1 Washington, BE 20313 I
N ‘mg = .‘ - g
Seprember 15,2023
Commiteee on Et}mm
L5 House of Repreventatives
ﬁi 1015 Lomgworth Howse Office ﬁuﬂ&mg
Washington, DC 20515
Chatrman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:
Fyout letrer dured September 14, 2023, £ Sl 41 dayé after my waithen respanse 1o yous

(- smredintedy after *‘vpimimr

Committee: Tt & nomble fot saostensibly Tidependent” body tharyon
vords—belittling my

MeCavthy publicly signnled 1o you to put the heat oo i faet, the Spuaker's very

tacip! o stand onthe appropriations ﬁgk:»—s&ow esacty whatis goingon here “Matris upseraboutan e:hm
complaing. T don't carewhat they theaten against me, Prnnot gmng o ingorfect nto a independent commitice
like ethics” And of covrss; by saying those words; hewas imstructing yow to shoot your shot.

Aﬁtt years of wasteful fav csngam:m mm o b3 gmr affm under: ﬁ::mcwmnc imticmhx@ dxem ;md

h . swgm will pou ke to ensure ﬂm any ﬁmwm& I
et wxli not %m isakx:ti iay thie’ partisan stdf on the Sominites? What! ms;ua, @y SPRare vou mkmg W
inwestigate the Jeaks to the miedia thatw do-donthe instunt matter? Task agam; beoswse while these questions
represented the bull ofmy kst letrer to you, perbaps you missed them.

Adyoutare surly swee, thie dehivary deadline yousetin vour &:m tome is T4 days Well, Me, Chaieman
‘s Ranking Meinber, we are 15 days fronmia poverment shutd 18
b nyy constiteents sent me 1o Washington todoc However, Fwill pxmai& oy Rilsome response o you'in
‘fewer calendar diys than it teok For piiur issae - respoise.

Sincerely,

Mant Gaetr.
Member of Congress
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,«f?{;i&(; *&ﬁm <3 mmm mxmigmty S

A SRS Congress of the Enited States i
cousi s Touse of Representatives e

conmtrrne o e Washington, DE 20515 S

SR
Qetober 2, 2023

Conpiittee on Eoies

18 House of Represeniitives

1015 Lonpworth House Office Buillding (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chaleotan Craestand Ranking Member Wikd:

e to hrmg your attention 6 public reporis m‘.pkmﬁk s cortapdy linking dis master o my
giving notice of my intenr tovacate the Chair pursiane 1/ Rule tX of the Howser Your bt letor to.me of
“Seprember 14, 2023, cim immediately aftes Spesker McCanthy sigaalied o vou theoagh the media 1o i up
the heat vn me (CINNGY ?sic(l‘mhw«@aﬂx showdown mkes center stage apain.” Seprember 14, 2023

Now, we seethe connection bt iy fegisarive business and thiy mateer i technicolor. Indeed, ane
“anonymous House Republican™ willl Fox News over the weekend that he hiad pessonal knowledge of a deaft
Teport of youe office, and that the repore v direetly tied tomy snnounced plans 1 taove to Ve the chalt
of the House, \m; ﬂmsu GOV members sezk te expci Gaety ainid renewed theent o vacate House
Speaker McCarthy).

Tt i widély knowen. thar the Fox News rpriter whe broke the stoey i ﬁanmg Representitive Bosa
anp&mck ss:iuma 6 msmzk o the mem%ms of the Fihicy € thee 1% well-document fndttstl. this
exp 'y = tiw w_ﬁk&né s able to it pcmmsi

mm::aﬁ), on mfﬁtmamm amiémimf tht *pmk:cr < olfice I“m m@t&m&tm& \mh o r::fﬁce off the :t:?mcs s,
elared vo we; peading betore vou, and Lutpe vou 1o retein vour relevant reeotds,

L'hinve been cléared by the Department of fustice G Pebruaty this yeas) and by the Federat Blections
C@mmmmn {1” ederal ts:cmma Commission, Legee “of  Auguse 1% 2003, asdbbk  owr
¢ . 9 pdt This exercise by pou is akedly political.

The critical substance of ot mmsp@mi%nce over the past few mionths hays w fack; related o the Jeaks
0y the tadis b rmembers and o rinlation of your Committes riles aivd House reles. Yetipain, over the
sweekond, it s beea proved that youroffice leaks ke wsivve; ooy demiment What has your Conuites done
i investgare these leake? Avul 1o remedy thie fact thar my Tevers bave vt tun toandsfrom the members, but
dhiough s stilf member with & prack record of donatig 16 Obama snd athier Democtatic campuigns? Sueely
sothing Bot jeoll find the dme to ek and tsxm%mw ohedn the wediag g mgam, Texpect an imiminent

i

‘nstygrany beciuse the Speaker has 5o reg

Fam aiawire oF lodividals whs meet the criteria Set forh i s fiest thatm o me od ’»{a» &
0231 have stmched as Bxhibie 1 the teovel secords | maintaisied on iy phone
Babsmas in 2018; Thevare the boasding passes and itioerary T used For this travel; which I;md f’m pemm}w
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Finally, T have sought, and cangot locate, = list of people affilisted with the-American Medical Magjoans
Physiciais Assodiation; ths, your thied question 1o me oo May 23, 2023, s unaniswerable.

Tty o dispiuie that the Bthica Corittes is beig weaponised i this way,

Member of Conpress
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ATTACHMENT 1

Tha Sep 13 Washington = Nassau:
PR 0708 PM - D055 PM

rlines Flight 3478

e Washingon Didles Tt Alrpert{ ALY Washingion

Kaviver  Ntiami ot Alpor (MIAY Mismi

Ecariomy, Class-Nrbus A3 1%

1S P LLR PM
\ Amechian Airing Flight4
. Oponited

1

N

Depart:  Miami mi!me{&!lﬁ&&}iﬁmi -
Amives - Lyoden Plodting Bl Alrport INAS ) Nasea

Eeonomy Class~ Embracr 175
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SHarroAEn
N Eongress of the Wnitel States
‘Touse of Representatives
o nﬂmtg‘; ks Whashington, BE 20515
Crerober 4, 323
Commities on Ethics

15: House of Repmmmmm
1015 Longworh House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DG 20515

Chiateran Guigst and Raoking Member Wikl

s anothes leak feoi: your G umxmtre:c e matmr pmﬂmg keforcmm rglate«:i T
v ini the Now York 13 1 3
i Firhies' Tasues” October .5, D023, vl h@s f‘e‘www ﬁytmmw&ﬁf iWﬂBﬁmﬁp@imc&fgaew
sthics-commitice-house html),

The follosing

“Onee the Justice Diepartnent inguiry ended, the Ethics Comminiee resamed its work, scconding o
people familize with the matter; mas:}smg oyt o wimesses Torinterviews: However, o person: familiar
withithe miatter said the committes; which, js made up ofan gl number-of Repuﬁ¥mas ]
Dewoieraes, has not yer reachied out so.n key witniésd st the center of the mostietious alleiations agatnst

Me G Faetz.

The pwp%e Earnibiae with the: sivvistion spokeabout the invéstigation: on the condifion of snonymity
Bevsuse o v contidental ™

Needless o sag; Frespectfully sequist thit vou mvmngxts these snd the nomerous other feaks e
bmusght o your attention. Furtberoore, L requist that vou infons meof A $teps youw are ukmg arplnte
tke, iy g0 c&cmg A needlens wocsay; s befare, Texpect edio slence in this matter, because s you have
nosted 4ot before, il saif actions ave been mken pursuant i vour explict authorization, presamably

including these leaks:

Sineerd \

‘;ﬁ\;m{éa:t& .

Meraberof Congress
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Congress of the Wauited Hlates

| e Toouse of Representatives :
&Nﬁ;&iﬁf e Washinglon, DE 20513 e e iy
. s besas o
Qetober 23,2023

Comminee on Behic

U8 Housenf Re{xm:mmmw

W15 Longworth House Office Bs:ﬁdmg {LHOB}
‘X(asizmgﬁm, DO 20515

Chaisman Guest sl Ranking Member Wild:

Yer again, Reprosenmtive Kevin McCanhy (CA-00), b souht fo influence vour Consmitee werk
wiid ahuse- s (formes) position with public commentasy related 16 the instint maten A§ feported by e
Wasdington Examiner on Octobed 22, 2003, McCathy expmmi\ tedt iy ethics. fovestigation to usirehited
vosttars: 1 legally can’t be iovolved in it~ must be st setions fo put this b jeopredy into thisomton”

While' T bavenor onee linked my Motion to Vacae the Chair we snvthing other. thas the
chresmmwe ‘s faihures s Speaker, be seems 10 know mmt:ziung Tidor ﬁmmthm there i o Bink berween oy
aetions in Conference and on' the House Roor and this mwwgammm Irdied, M owy mnmmnmal
commentry. on the dssue B3 oa B more robust ﬁ{:mai predicate for opening ancdoquiry into. the
‘Representati with your office (refated tothe instant matter) thas any thied-hand iwarsax Forming
youtsole bisk fm‘ Gpentng this inguiry. )

Thankfully, the curent mﬁupmt of the Speﬁ&t:w suite has v mode: &mmtl amiumn over mut
Committres, but Lunderstand the position yoware i However, now s an-oppostune tite fo ider s fow
-of my regiicsts 0t iierdst of good govempent:

(1) Consider inv m%gamg thie dubherous medis lealls selied €6 the insling niatier;
€2y Consider smpmvmg it procesies for inv stipating: wid: respz:zaﬁmg g0 sach Jeaks;
{3} Comsidex mgmxzng ethice rules to pmhﬁm Hotse leadesship: Frony commenting i paniding
investigitions, piven. t’hf: appeantice uf denpsoprivty sad Shelibood of undue polineal influence
Y ey £
4 (ulimxdex tnvestigating the contcts between Reprasenvitive Kevin McCarthy (CA20) andd your
Tormimiteee elated tothe instnt inattes.

Sincerely,

Nag Ciaces
Memberof Congres
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&é;z{(‘g\mi
Congress of the Wnited Htates
e Touse of Beptesentatives
‘*"“"i‘“&éﬁ? " Washington, DE 20515
February 2, 2024

Committee oo Brhics

8. House of Representatives:

1015 Eongworth House Office Building {LHQB}
W’as&mgmn, BC. 2515

Chlriag Guest and Rasding Member Wilds:

How o ey have b senn v office, alérdig you o continued & b Commities, snd
“requesting that vou ivestipate? None ofmy commusications with your uifice e have been Hde public, although
Latn sure thatif it were to your political advmmgc:, these would alse find their way to-your preferred oudets,

whether CNN orthe New Yerk Trwes.

Fast night, anothes petvs it indicating malfessance 6F your staff was published by VN, The article
I entithed ™ ot on (NN girlitiend amidongoing

House Ethics Connites reachied our to Repi Mast Gretr'sexs
vestigation,” {m«rxf’m o htq} o fewwienn mmf"(?”»iftﬂjm f’?@ib{iCSjmﬁfﬁ gaete-cthics:
commitren/ inde brml). . i B .

. V aggains eecs S sburce Familiar with the ethics probe” iniro e, snd leaks nonpublie
Information: specificelly; that your committée seiched But th st e guifmn& of mise, What I pasticalarly
inreresting about. this leak i that the anicle thes & potshot at thesvitness, Boting tha she s “novespected w0
voluntily eooperate with the Hihisy probe™ Given that the plece corobonites the leak with hee ateomey;
whe tade no other comment and gmm thatahy izx\mcr werth Bis st would emphaﬂm}}v Hot i:«: telling NN
that his chent sould Be non-coopertive, this i strong evidence that this leak wis, as we sasg call therother
Teaks; your staft

Orne Teak might be challked up 10 & witoess alerting the medin, Twe Icakﬁ amight. Buk three, and foiir,
and five feiks i 4 parern thar can only be stisbumble to Ethits Compmirtes suff That many leaks with nia
nttent to cotvect the problem: Ghoulde't provoccls foe dealing with witesses change if they aun o the mediy
Svery e four wtaff speake with them, and speaks with thein, surprisingly, sl i my cm:?} sugpests divective
fmm above

A o that the taghinet “FIRST ONICNN This taghve suggestsan “m:hssa ef* wmch s the: Type of
comims stategy thatprofessional s engage in, not the type 5 behaviog ]
by thie FBLand swhio made noother comiment; snd wh s armcked o dhe very picce iself, WM etppein,

Whit i yost plan to: do abous this?

Sincerely,

;‘\im\ Gaetz g
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MATTEMTE
Py, S

Congress of the Tnited States

R Pouse of Representatives s
R Waktington, BE 20015 e

Febraary 13, 2004

Cormites va Erhicy

U House of Represipiatives.

3(’ iI:s Tongwosth House Office Building (1L.HOB}
Kashingron, ] 515

Chissions Guest s Ranking Member Wik

B¢ desner 66 i Gomemitiee oF w days ago, yer agam lelton fead, aiemfé i amher lmk of your
Commniitee-—ithe most seroay one vet. | mentioned that y ¢ fantl :
outlers; Mwhather ¢ thie New Yok Thmes”™ That b
today’s favolves the Now Yok Time.

. Lt Friday, - dhat énles sefreshud the-attacks viome, Jugele theoogh: the Tiwyer of ronvicied fdon Joel
Eseesherns, whohas been s}kgrﬁiv Fegoperating” st your Computtes: Ciiven: his Mistory of froodsnd Ties, and
giverthar heftelly v indivied in federal coure for: fzthxmmg sexual abuse: :kll::gatwm agatast someone, o
oly assurme thae the reasaf your sm‘i s veachisig our so hint i 10 drat the setdon of your report explaiuing how

: &mg ynieliable witnesses. Bmm :

xzynmx vc:f Me, (m:t‘; hm i:cm slowm asdnv ‘ngamw haw: biversent &
:mge c:f“ tps ’} i Bl ine thie cantext'of (1) vepeared leaks by Committer st and (2 your tnabiling sid
nawillingness o vy ssﬁgam these ek, suppiesiing vouk nodcompliance oith Comiitres ind House piles,

Mote rutially, however, Tdeaw youir attertion to e weekds commenes of farmer Speaker Kevia MeCanby,
firsthinod knowledge of contidential infarmation possessed by vour Cobimitie ‘speuims&im
; WWW Eovamsnr, McCarthy nioted:

1 thisik proplesee how Tae Mate Gaesr wil g und the fear e Hasoob what's i the ethies complaint He's
Teving 1o protect himself, aod that harms our cavous, thit hanns out piasjority. T the end, prople will see
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June 17, 2024

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matt Gaetz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

As you are aware, the Committee on Ethics (“Committee™) previously publicly announced
areview into allegations involving you. Based on its review to date, the Committee has determined
that certain of these allegations merit continued review. Through the course of its investigation,
the Committee has also determined that there are additional allegations that merit review.
Accordingly, pursuant to Committee Rules 14(a)(3) and 18(a), the Committee is reviewing
allegations that you may have: engaged in sexual misconduct and illicit drug use, accepted
improper gifts, dispensed special privileges and favors to individuals with whom you had a
personal relationship, and sought to obstruct government investigations of your conduct. The
Committee will take no further action at this tinie on the allegations that you may have shared
inappropriate images or videos on the House floor, misused state identification records, converted
campaign funds to personal use, and/or accepted a bribe or improper gratuity. The Committee will
make a public statement regarding the current scope of its review.

The Committee’s request for your testimony remains. In a May 24, 2024, letter, you stated
your “demand” that the Committee address “leaks springing from [its] investigation” prior to you
providing any oral testimony to the Committee. First, we remind you that, although Committee
proceedings are confidential, the Committee’s confidentiality rules are not binding on witnesses
or other third parties. We can confirm that the Committee has reason to believe that most of the
information reported may have come from witnesses contacted by the Committee during its
investigation. The Committee has not been able to determine whether the Department of Justice
was the source of any of the disclosures. The Committee is confident in the integrity of its process.

As stated in our prior letter, the Committee will consider whether to use compulsory
process 1o obtain your testimony if you do not agree to a voluntary interview. Pursuant to House
Rule X1, cl. 2(m) and Committee Rule 10(a)(1), the Committee can authorize a subpoena
regardless of whether an Investigative Subcommittee is impaneled.

Your letter also asserts that the Committee is “eminently aware™ that the Department of
Justice “exonerated” you. The Department has denied this characterization to the Committes. As
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we have explained previously, the Committee has a longstanding practice of reviewing public
allegations of sexual misconduct by Members, regardless of whether a complaint was filed, and
its jurisdiction and mandate is separate from that of the Department. In any event, we request that
you provide all records relating to your assertion that the Department has “exonerated” you, as
well as any information produced to.the Department by you or on your behalf in connection with
the Department’s investigation of you. :

In your letter, you also reference providing “substantial evidence proving these allegations
false,” and “voluminous documentary evidence” demonstrating the falsity of one of the
allegations. However, the only “evidence” we have received from you consists of the three pages
demonstrating your one-way flight itinerary on September 13, 2018 (enclosed). If you believe we
should have additional evidence submitted by you, please let us know.

The Committee requests that you provide the requested information and documents to the
Committee, along with any other information that you believe may be relevant to this matter, no
later than June 25, 2024. To the extent that any part of your response is not a complete written
response signed by you, we request that the response be provided under oath c?;r affirmation. (We
have enclosed a declaration for this purpose.) |

1]

We thank you in advance for your cooperation. If you have any questions concerning this

matter, please direct your questions to Committee staff at (202) 225-7103.

Sincerely, 1
. |

Michael Guest Sdsan Wwild
Chairman Ranking Member

'

Enclosures
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Declaration

1, Representative Matt Gaetz, declare (certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the
responses and factual assertions contained in the attached letter dated
relating to my response to the June 17, 2024, Committee on Ethics request for information, are
true and correct.

Signature:

Name: Representative Matt Gaetz

Date: , 2024
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June 24, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

I am in receipt of your June 17, 2024 letter. I'm further aware of your subsequent public announcement
that you ate abandoning four investigations into me and continuing or initiating others. It seems the Committee
has moved past its “Leaks Eta” into directly attempting to smear me with released public statements.

1 remain deeply concetned that the fourteen leaks, which have already sprung from the Committee’s work,
have greatly impaited my due process tights. Itis my hope to remedy these impairments, in otder to be able to
provide the Committee the answers to the questions it has, so that all remaining allegations meet the same fate of
the four you have just abandoned.

You are finally on record acknowledging the leaks associated with this investigation, referring multiple
times in yout letter to acknowledged improper “disclosures.” In addition, your public statement concedes that
there “has been a significant and unusual amount of public reporting on the Committee’s activities this Congress.”

But neither your carefully wordsmithed public statement nor your letter to me explicitly states that the
leaks were not authorized by the Committee ot its staff. Both refer multiple times to improper “disclosures,” but
ate surptisingly careful not to say that they are “unauthorized.” Cutious. Rather, you lightly disclaim your own
responsibility for these leaks by stating: “We can confirm that the Committee has reason to believe that most of
the information repotted may have come from witnesses contacted by the Committee duting its investigation.”
May? Of course they “might” be from third-party witnesses: that’s called “plausible deniability” and is why an
investigation is warranted. If there were no possibility of a lawful explanation, you wouldn’t need an investigation;
you could just fire the Committee staff who leaked. In a court of law, your dodging wouldn’t fly: a judge would
immediately order a show cause hearing and get to the bottom of it.

So what is the basis for your belief that the leaks were caused by third-party witnesses? Actuaily, back up:
is # the belief of the Comimittee that these fourteen improper leaks were made by third-party witnesses? Your
statement and letter don’t even make that assertion. Your public statement lists only twelve witnesses, a
manageable number to investigate. I myself am in no position to investigate this: I don’t know, for example, your
interview calendar, or the timing of other actions of the Committee which would tell me who might ot might not
have been in a position to make the leaks to the press. Which witness or witnesses do you think are utilizing your
investigation to improperly smeat me without due process? The attorney of the incarcerated felon Joel Greenberg
has publicly stated that he is providing information to the Committee. Is the Committee providing information to
Mz. Greenbetg or his attorney to distribute to the press with their own agenda and stated bias? If the Cornmittee
is in possession of tecords which form the basis for this belief, or which constitute communications wherein the
Committee is authorizing leaks through witnesses, I instruct the Committee to retain and produce those records.
Were this, I would remind the Committee that in anticipation of litigation, it must retain and prevent the spoliation
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of such records. Remediating what the Committee apparently knows about witnesses taking action in the press to
harm the integrity of this investigation is critical to facilitating my continued voluntary cooperation.

You further state: “The Coromittee has not been able to determine whether the Department of Justice was the
source of any of the disclosures.” This is 2 heavy insinuation, and would be certainly relevant to the House’s
recent holding Attorney General Merrick Garland in contempt. For my part, I believe in Ockham’s Razor, and
absent specific evidence that DOJ was the soutce of these leaks, I would personally not be making this allegation.
Did the Committee inquite about this matter with the Department of Justice? If so, did the Department of Justice
respond? I would request that you retain and produce any recotds evidencing any formal or informal investigation
the Committee undertook into the Department of Justice’s potential disclosures. Given the fact that the
Committee’s work has generated at least fourteen leaks over a petiod of time, I would request the Committee
inform me as to when the Comnittee began and concluded its assessment of the DOJ’s potential involvement in
improper disclosures.

You have made three additonal requests fot docunents of me:
Request 1 seeks records relating to the Department of Justice’s exoneration of me.

Request 2 seeks, “Any information produced to the Department by you or on your behalf in connection with the
Department’s investigation of you.”

On information and belief, combined, these requests lkely constitute over ten thousand records. As you are
aware, the House and Article IIT courts recognize different privileges and immunities. Thus, I will need ample
time to review and produce records responsive to this request. Your demand that they be produced by today is
unteasonable, and something no state or federal judge would allow in ordinary discovery. When you arbitrarily set
today as a deadline, you were obviously unaware of the scope of the documents you were newly requesting. Iam
willing to agtee to a rolling, voluntary production of unprivileged, non-confidential documents responsive to
Request 1 and Request 2 50 long as the Committee follows the House’s longstanding practice of obtaining
docutmnents voluntarily priot to initiating any compulsory process regarding documents or testimony. If this is of
interest to you, please let me know so we can discuss a timeframe for rolling production, consistent with ordinary
legal practice in all 50 states and federal courts.

Request 3 states: “If you believe we should have additional evidence subsmitted by you, please let us know.”

Thank you for this opportunity. It is highly likely that there is evidence which will exculpate me of any allegation
that I have violated House Rules. Please let me know what conduct you believe I engaged in that is violative of
said rules, with specificity, including when you believe I engaged in this conduct, and with whom, so that [ am able
to ascertain what evidence will exculpate me, and provide this information in response to the request. I cannot
ascertain the time it will take to assernble this evidence untl I have notice of the allegations.

Pinally, you were dismissive of the evidence I have already provided the Committee voluntarily. You derisively
described it as “three pages demonstrating 2 one-way fight itinerary to the Bahamas.” To be clear, T have
provided much more than that, including documentary evidence of leaks out of your Committee, and including a
boarding pass, which is different from an itinerary. I would remind the Comumittee that this is precisely what you
requested.  If you would like information related to my travel both to and from the Babamas, please let me know.
While it is not in my regular coutse of record-keeping to maintain records from personal travel more than half a
decade ago, I will certainly look. You stated, publicly and falsely, that you were having “difficulty” getting
information from me. It seemns your difficulty might be with your staff requests, and their ability or inability to ask
precise questions. And it seems your public statements speak more about your own marching orders from Kevin
McCarthy than much else.
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While you reference your right to subpoena me with an affirmative vote of the Comtnittee, you must
recognize that this completely subverts the typical process for investigating a Member of Congress. Under your
rules, when a Member is investigated, you eventually establish an investigative subcommittee (IS), which is
authorized to request subpoenas from the full committee. So you first have a majority vote to establish that IS,
which gives the Members certain rights (such as a deadlline for this nonsense to end), and you have subsequent
majority votes to authorize subpoenas. 1 can think of no reason to avoid this normal process than to avoid
multiple embarrassing votes for your Members, and to avoid giving me rights as 2 Member who has, for years
now, been subjected to your calculated and ongoing leaks. With an assurance this normal process will be followed,
I am happy to continue providing material to the Committee, to facilitate the continued dismissal of the various
claims.

Tharnk you for your attention to these matters. I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Member of Congress
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MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matt Gastz

U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

The Committee on Ethics (Comumittee) is in receipt of your June 24, 2024, letter regarding
the Commiittee’s ongoing investigation into allegations involving you.

Despite your claim that you have not been subject to the “typical process for investigating
a Member of Congress,” as the Committee explains in its Summary of Activities at the end of
every Congress, “[mjost investigations are conducted pursuant to Committee Rule 18(a),” and
“both the Committee and ISC may authorize subpoenas for documents and witness testimony.™!

Your letter makes several demands of the Committee with respect to “leaks.” Witnesses
(and Respondents) are free to make disclosures to the press; such disclosures are not improper, nor
did the Committee characterize them as such. The Committee has not authorized, directed, or
orchestrated any communications to the media other than the two press statements it has released
in this matter. As noted in the Committee’s recent statement, there has been an unusual amount
of reporting on Committee activities this Congress; that reporting is not limited to actions
involving you, and much of it has been inaccurate.

As we have previously explained, the Committee is governed by the confidentiality
requirements of Committee Rule 7, which prohibits Committee Members and staff from disclosing
information about Committee proceedings unless authorized under the Rules. Those same
confidentiality requirements prevent us from disclosing details about the investigation to you at
this time, including sources of information considered by the Committee. You have been and will
continue to be afforded all due process, consistent with the requirements of House and Committee
Rules.

! See Summary of Activities for the 117 Cong., H. Rept. 117-706, 117th Cong,, 2d Sess. 15-16 (Jan. 2, 2023); see
also Committee Rule 10,
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The Committee has provided and will continue to provide you with every opportunity to
voluntarily cooperate with its review. It has been over a year since the Committee informed you
it was investigating allegations including sexual misconduct, illicit drug use, and impermissible
gifts, and requested you provide any information you believed may be relevant to the matter. You
have been and remain free to provide any “exonerating” information in your possession.

The Committee’s May 2023 letter included a request for “all documents related to actual
or planned travel to the Bahamas by you in or around 2018.” You now suggest that you withheld
documents regarding your transportation from the Bahamas, even though such records were clearly
related to your travel to that location and responsive to the Committee’s request. You have also
not produced any documents relating to your lodging or other travel costs.

In your letter, you suggest that while it is “likely” that exculpatory evidence exists, you
cannot assemble such evidence until you are informed of the conduct at issue, and the specific
times and individuals involved. Although we were not required to do so, we previously provided
you with more specific information about the nature of the allegations of sexual misconduct, illicit
drug use, and impermissible gifts under review.? Nonetheless, you can limit your production to
records relating to the time period January 3, 2017, through present. You will have the opportunity
to address more specific questions about your conduct when you testify before the Committee. To
facilitate your production of relevant documents, we have enclosed a chart of alleged payments
that may have been made by or on behalf of you relating to sexual misconduct and illicit drug use.’

You correctly note that “the House and Article III courts recognize different privileges and
immunities.” However, the Committee is not aware of any privileges or immunities that would
permit you to provide documents before an Article III court but not the House. Accordingly, it
should require no additional review to provide those documents to the Committee. Nonetheless,
we will grant you an extension of time to produce relevant records and permit a rolling production
such that all records you have already provided to DOJ are due by July 8, 2024, and any remaining
records that were withheld from DOJ on the basis of privileges and immunities not available before
the House are due by July 22, 2024.4

2 See Appendix to May 20, 2024 Letter.

3 See Appendix to this letter.

* Your letter suggested making a production of “unprivileged, non-confidential documents.” The Committee will
permit you to withhold documents subject to attorney-client privilege, marital privilege, or other well established
common-law privileges, provided you submit an appropriate privilege log. There is no basis to withhold documents
from the Committee on the grounds that they are “confidential.”
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By July 8, 2024, you should also provide dates of availability for an interview the week of
July 22, 2024. As we have already informed you, we will make use of compulsory process if
necessary. The Committee must continue to move forward with this matter and will be unable to
permit additional delays.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman Ranking Member

Enclosure



119

The Honorable Matt Gaetz
Paged of 4

Appendix A

Alleged payments that may have been made by or on behalf of Representative Matt Gaetz
relating to sexual misconductand ilicit drug use
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$100-51,000 2017.2018
S100.51000 | 2018
$100-81,000 - Vi
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Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

I am in receipt of your letter dated June 27, 2024. It raises serious new concerns regarding the integrity of your
investigation, and fails to ameliorate due process concetns 've previously expressed. You've refused to take any
action to remediate leaks. You've refused to answer basic questions I've asked in my letter of June 24, 2024,
regarding claims you made in your letter of June 17, 2024, including:

(1) What is the basis for belief that the media leaks you acknowledge ate attributable to third-party sources, such as
the Department of Justice?; and

(2) Does the Committee believe these leaks were caused by third-party sources?; and

(3) What communications has the Comnittee had with DOJ to get to the bottom of these leaks, if you believe, as
you insinuate, that DOJ might be the source?; and

(4) Does the Committee assure me that it will follow normal process and establish an investigatory subcommittee
prior to any compulsory process?

These, and other incidental questions, remain unanswered: Moteover, you've made demands for the production
of over 10,000 records within weeks, which would hinder my ability to ascertain whether privilege or
confidentiality applies. This is unreasonable and violates the spirit of accommodation. Your limitation on
documentation requests to dates between January 3, 2017, and the present is no limitation atall. In fact, itis the
maximal jurisdictional time window available to your Committee. I remind you this is roughly seven and a half
years’ worth of documents, and encompasses mote than 10,000 records, possibly double that amount.

The Comunittee must address these issues—or indicate why it will not—prior to my considering testimony to the
Committee. Without this, and without specific notice relating to the precise length and scope of any interview
request I might consider, your requests appear less in good faith than simply another pillar in this campaign of
distraction and harassment initlated and maintained for political purposes.

You've wrongly suggested that I've “withheld” documents from the Committee regarding my travel to the
Bahamas. As D've stated, it is not in my regular course of business to maintain travel records from my personal
travel from approximately half 2 decade ago. Nevertheless, I can represent to the Committee that I am notin the
possession, custody or control of documents related to lodging in the Baharnas. When you say you are interested
in my “travel costs” — does this mean my airline ticket purchase? 1f so, I can provide this documentation upon
clarification. My travel to the Bahamas was a result of my purchase of American Ailines tickets with my personal
funds, and it goes without saying that I was not reimbursed by anybody. Substantial documentation has already
been provided to the Cormmittee on this point. Does the Committee also have interest in every dollar I spentin
the Baharnas on food, refreshments and other travel provisions such as sunscreen? Iask because your request is
unclear, untelated to House Rules, and more than 2 bit nosey. I can represent to the Committee that no funds of
mine were expended in the Bahamas for “illicit drug use” ot sexual misconduct.
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To continue my voluntary cooperation with the Cotnmitiee, I've included in this cotrespondence an additional
production of documents. The production contained herein includes both documents produced to the
Department of Justice and documents which were not. I request the time period of August Recess to further
assemnble and voluntarily produce responsive documents which are appropriate for production.

There ate several documents within this production that I'd like to highlight.

The first (“Exhibit A”) is a letter from an inmate, , to my attorney,

Bl was held in a jail cell for a time alongside Joel Greenbertg, whose attorney has publicly stated is
“cooperating” with the Committee. It is worth noting that Mr. Greenberg was initially indicted by the Department
of Justice for falsely smearing someone as a pedophile who was not. (“Exhibit B”, highlighting that Mr.
Greenberg has a history of forgery, fake accounts, impersonation, and entirely fake allegations of sexual assault for
political gain). NS contends, in writing, that Mr. Greenberg was willing to lie about me to reduce his
own sentence. Moreover, Mr. Greenberg appareatly told IR that be would be able to get the person he
sex-trafficked as 2 minor (on information and belief, NN to lic 2bout me in order to obtain a financial
windfall. -

‘The second is a demand letter to my attorneys from JJNNEEMNNNNE 2 totoeys (“Exhibit C”), clearly seeking a
financial payment from me. On information and belief, JUNNMMMN has provided false information to the
Cominittee about me. And, on information and belief, Mr. Greenberg has paid for the legal representation of Jjii§
R -t vzrious points. The letter from Mr. St. Louis alongsid<Jji il fioancial demand provides
necessary context for the Committee to evaluate the credibility of Mr. Greenberg and Jj Sl Simply put,
they have no credibility and are willing to lie to the Committee to achieve their own ends. The Committee should
not be an accessoty to a shakedown.

Finally, “Bxhibit D” represents a tranche of documents, which I have previously turned over to the Department
of Justice. I will continue to voluntarily produce such documents going forward. I respectfully request that the
Cornmittee be as accommodating to me as I have been to you, as my three reasonable, global asks are: first, that
the Committee investigate and respond to the damaging pattern of leaks coming out of it; second, that the
Committee provide me the traditional and requisite due process to which I am entitled as a member; and third,
that it promptly disniss the remaining allegations.

T look forward to your prompt attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Member of Céngress
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TJuly 11,2024

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matthew Louis Gaetz Il
U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

As you are aware, the Committee on Ethics (Committee) has determined that your
testimony is necessary to its investigation of allegations involving you. The Comumittee has now
requested your voluntary testimony on three occasions in this matter, but you have not agreed to
appear voluntarily.! Accordingly, please find enclosed a subpoena compelling your appearance at
a deposition.

In your July 10, 2024 letter, you assert that the Committee “must” address your concerns
before you will even consider testifying. Your concerns, however, are not a sufficient basis to
decline to answer questions about your conduct to the Ethics Committee. While you have
requested information about the Committee’s response to alleged “leaks,” we remind you that we
cannot disclose information about the Committee’s investigations.

‘While we appreciate your stated intent to voluntarily produce documents previously turned
over to the Department of Justice going forward, your initial production is sparse. Your
production, consisting of four “exhibits” includes two documents, Exhibits A and B, that are
publicly available. We appreciate your production of Exhibit C. As for Exhibit D, you appear to
have provided a non-native document related to your calendar from part of 2021, which seems to
omit any records from 2017-2020, which is the time period covered by Appendix A to the
Comunittee™s June 28, 2024, letter. The Committee has already engaged in substantial factfinding
and will work to bring this matter to a close expeditiously. Therefore, we must have a complete
and meaningful production of the outstanding documents before the August recess, not after. As
we previously cautioned you, we cannot permit additional delays in this matter. We also noted
that the Committee is not aware of any privileges that would permit withholding documents from
the Committee that were produced to the Department, and there is no basis to withhold documents

 May 20, 2024, Letter from Committee; June 17, 2024, Letter from Committee; June 28, 2024, Letter from
Committee,
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The Honorable Matt Gaetz ~
Page 2 of 2

on the basis of “confidentiality.” Nonetheless, you remain free to provide relevant documents to
the Committee at any time during the pendency of the Committee’s review.

It also remains imperative that the Committee receive your testimony without further delay.
The enclosed subpoena compels your appearance for a deposition on July 23 at 4 p.m. We do not
anticipate your deposition will last longer than two hours, provided you are forthright in your
answers to the Committee’s questions. If that date and time does not work for you, we can also
conduct the deposition on July 24 at 3:30 p.m. or on July 25 at 8 a.m. Please inform Committee
staff immediately if you wish to reschedule to one of those alternative dates. The Committee will
make no public statement at this time but reserves the right to make any necessary disclosures
regarding this matter should you make any statements that are inconsistent with the text or spirit
of our communications.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest h Susan Wild
Chairman Ranking Member

Enclosure
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Subpoena for The Honorable Matt Gaetz,

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

to appear before the Committee on Ethics, of which the
Honorable Michael Guest is the Chairman,

U.S. House of Representatives
118th Congress
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https:/igactz-hovse.gov
July 22, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Reptesentatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chaitman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:
The Committee’s actions against me ate unptrecedented, outtageous, and nakedly pé}itical

On July 9%, 1 transmitted to you correspondence that included continued rolling production of
documents, which I provided to the Department of Justice and which you requested. This
correspondence raised legitimate due process concerns and sought to understand how long you
intended to question me for scheduling and othet putposes. Rathet than addressing these reasonable
issues in good faith, T understand that you issued, but did not setve, a subpoena the next day.

This is political Lawfare. Each Republican on the Committee was appointed directly by Kevin
McCarthy. The former speaker’s political operation is reportedly inspiting these actions by the
Committee against me, and they’te bragging about it

The former Speaker has weaponized the leaks springing from your investigation in millions of dollats
of attack ads as my August 20% primaty approaches.2

It has also come to my attention that Committee member David Joyce is donating, through his re-
election campaign and PACs, to my McCarthy-recruited ptimaty opponent while investigating me.3
This is a clear conflict of interest, which futther endangers my due process rights.

It seems the McCarthy/Joyce plan is to attempt to use the leaks from this investigation to take me
out in an election and ~ when that likely fails - use this Committee to otherwise impait my setvice to
my constituents. Itis a disgrace that you have allowed the Committee to be used in this manner.

T would again point out that I have provided the Committee dispositive evidence that Mr. Greenberg
is lying about me, admitted his motive for lying while incarcerated, and enticed others to lie about me

* Olivia Beavers, McCarthy 5. Gaotz: The GOP's niever ending feud, POLITICO (July 08, 2024).
2 Ja’han Jones, New campaign ad ties Matt Gaet to a convicted sexc offender, YAHOO NEWS (July 2, 2024).

3 Curt Mills, Guerg Ethics Inguiry Takes Dubions Turn, THE AMERICAN CONSERVATIVE (July 22, 2024).
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for money. I've even given you evidence of those demands for money from your pusported
“witness.”

1f the Committee would like to re-engage in good faith to facilitate a rolling production of docurments
and answets to your questions, let me know.

On information and belief, the House will not take action to enforce your subpoena as we work to
resolve these issues.

Sincerely,

Matt Gaetz
Member of Congress
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McCarthy vs. Gaetz: The GOP’s never-ending feud

politico.com/news/2024/05/08/mccarthy-gaetz-gop-florida-00156658

Congress

Seven months after the Florida firebrand led the ouster of the former speaker, tempers are
running hotter than ever — with McCarthy lauding Gaetz's new primary challenger.

Rep. Matt Gaetz is the highest-profile political target among the eight hardliners whom Kevin
McCarthy and his allies are targeting in a vengeance tour. | Francis Chung/POLITICO

Kevin McCarthy is escalating his revehge campaign against Rep. Matt Gaetz.

In an interview with POLITICO, McCarthy backed Gaetz's new Florida GOP primary
challenger; a top McCarthy adviser also acknowledged playing a role in vetting that
opponent, Aaron Dimmock. And McCarthy delivered a slashing attack on Gaetz, who led the
effort to overthrow him as speaker last fall,

“Gaetz is the Hunter Biden of the Republican Party,” McCarthy said. “He’s got an opponent
who is pro-life, pro-Second Amendment, trained at Pensacola, went to the Naval Academy
and flew jets to defend us while Gaetz was getting kicked out of high school, buying coke
and paying minors for sex.”

McCarthy séys Gaetz ousted him to stop ethics probe over sex scandal

McCarthy was referring to the focus of an ongoing House Ethics Committee probe:
allegations that Gaetz had sexual contact with minors. The committee is in possession of a
sworn statement that alleges Gaetz was present at a party where illegal drugs were used,
ABC reported. Gaetz has denied the drugs and sex-related allegations; he graduated from
Niceville High School in Florida, according {o his biography on the nonpartisan site
Legistorm.

The Department of Justice conducted its own investigation as part of a sex trafficking probe
and, according to Gaetz's lawyers and DOJ officials, decided not to bring criminal charges.

Gaetz responded by inviting McCarthy to appear in the district with Dimmock, arguing it
would be a boon for his campaign: “] whooped Kevin McCarthy in Washington. | don’t think
he's going to fare better when I'm playing home-field advantage in North Florida.”

Presented with McCarthy's highly personal criticism, Gaetz also revived a nearly decade-old,
unproven rumor that McCarthy had an affair with a colleague.
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Gaetz is the highest-profile political target among the eight hardliners whom McCarthy and
his allies are targeting in a vengeance tour that was first reported by POLITICO. But he is
also among the hardest of McCarthy'’s foes to unseat.

And even if Gaetz — who's won past primary challenges by healthy margins — defeats
Dimmock, McCarthy may have another opportunity to exact revenge. Florida Republicans
suspect he is eyeing the seat that Gov. Ron DeSantis (R-Fla.) will be forced to give up in
20286, though Gaetz has said he doesn’t plan to run.

It's the recipe for a perpetual clash. Even lobbyist and McCarthy ally Jeff Miller tock his shot
last week, accusing Gaetz of invoking antisemitic tropes to explain his vote against a GOP
antisemitism bill and slamming the Florida firebrand as a “pedophile.”

The McCarthy-Gaetz vitriol is spiking anew just as Speaker Mike Johnson appears closer
than ever to neutralizing his own ouster threat from Rep. Marjorie Taylor Greene (R-Ga.),
whose combative instincts McCarthy had worked to tame as he turned her into an ally. While
Greene chafes at Johnson, Gaetz has stayed conspicuously on the sidefines and — though
he occasionally criticizes the speaker’s decisions — made clear he's not in favor of an
election-year effort to topple a second House GOP leader. '

The players are bringing different personalities to the clash this time, but it's also clear that
no party rivalry can measure up to McCarthy-Gaetz in terms of intensity and longevity. Their
feud, many House Republicans argue, was personal from the start. Gaetz's critics contend
that he is responsible for the tension that has continued fo grip the House GOP conference
after McCarthy’s ouster, including the fallout from Johnsor’s decisions since taking the gavel
last year. -

Watch: Gaetz files motion to oust McCarthy

“| think it would be expected that Kevin would want o respond to what happened,” said ally
Rep. Don Bacon (R-Neb.) of the ongoing animosity, while noting that both he and Gaetz are
well-respected in their districts. “So it's not surprising.”

Some of McCarthy’s loyalists see an opportunity for payback in the Ethics Committee’s
ultimate findings about Gaetz. A few McCarthy allies have even privately suggested using
the internal inquiry’s findings to try o oust Gaetz from Congress, if the conclusions are
damaging enough.

Yet such premature speculation has also given Gaetz further fodder to claim that the ethics
prabe was retribution rather than a fairly handled investigation.

Indeed, Gaetz's allies aren't shocked either that tempers remain hot between the two men.
Another of the eight Republicans who supported the McCarthy ouster, Rep. Tim Burchett (R-
Tenn.), predicted that the former speaker is “bitter and will continue on that path” of going
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after the Floridian for the rest of his political career.

McCarthy allies are expected to get involved in multiple primaries where his foes could prove
electorally vulnerable. Earlier this year, they had homed in on Reps. Nancy Mace (R-S.C.)
and Bob Good (R-Va.), both of whom voted to oust McCarthy — and other hardliners who
backed Gaetz were preparing to face their own challengers.

“Well, 1 hope [McCarthy] spends a lot of money there,” said Rep. Andy Biggs (R-Ariz.),
another of the so-called Gaetz Eight who opposed the former speaker. “Because Matt will
still win, and it'll divert some of this money away from other people.”

But McCarthy allies predicted that Dimmock’s challenge might fare better than many expect.
Brian O. Walsh, a top McCarthy ally who is overseeing efforts to take on members of the
infamous "Gaetz Eight,” told POLITICO that he traveled to “Florida’s Panhandle in March to
conduct focus groups and left pleased with the findings.”

MOST READ

Some Republicans, however, indicated that the ongoing fight generally isn’t helpful to the
party.

“The Kevin-Matt thing is a Kevin-Matt thing, and it's unfortunate. But these things are going
to play out, and we're going to move on,” said Rep. Byron Donalds (R-Fla.), who said “no,"
he doesn't think Dimmock has any chance to beat Gaetz.

McCarthy: Gaetz 'planned this all along'

Dimmock was a last-minute entrant into the Flor{da primary, formalizing his bid the night
before the filing deadline. One early sign that McCarthy was involved: His campaign
committee has the same treasurer as American Patriots PAC, a group tied to McCarthy
during the last election cycle.

With more than three months until the Aug. 20 primary, Gaetz is already taking aim at
Dimmock’s record.

A campaign committee tied to Gaetz, called Friends of Matt Gaetz, has sought to preempt
Dimmock by purchasing a URL for his campaign, painting him as "woke” and including a link
for donations to the incumbent. That attack leans on social media posts from 2020 where
Dimmock voiced support for diversity and the Black Lives Matter movement following the
murder of George Floyd, a Black man, by a white Minneapolis police officer.

Gaetz argued that McCarthy recruited a “D.E.| enthusiast, Black Lives Matter supporterto *
run against me.”
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A Dimmock campaign spokesperson pushed back hard at Gaetz.

“Matt Gaetz's desperation oozes out of every baseless claim he makes as he attempts to
distract voters from his disastrous tenure in Congress. The voters of this district are going to
have a clear choice in August: a true, conservative outsider with a history of service to
country or a desperate career politician who will say anything to hold on to power.”

Playbook {

The unofficial guide fo official Washington, every morning and weekday afternoons.

By signing up, you acknowledge and agree to our Privacy Policy and Terms of Service. You
may unsubscribe at any time by following the directions at the bottom of the email or by
contacting us here. This site is protected by reCAPTCHA and the Google Privacy Policy and

Terms of Service apply.
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New campaign ad ties Matt Gaetz to a convicted sex
offender

yahoo.com/news/campaign-ad-ties-mait-gaetz-223025492.html

Ja'han Jones

A new political ad on Florida airwaves is targeting Rep. Matt Gaetz over his ties to a
convicted sex offender.

The ad — a boon for the Florida Republican’s primary challenger, Aaron Dimmock — might
just be the latest chess move in Kevin McCarthy

's revenge tour, which has sought to oust the GOP lawmakers who voted to remove him as
House speaker last year. The spot is funded by an organization called Florida Patriots PAC,
which bears resemblance to similarly named PACs that were used to target other McCarthy
foes during primary races in South Carolina and Virginia.

The revenge tour sputterad out of the gate last month, as McCarthy’s pick in South Carolina
failed to oust Rep. Nancy Mace in her primary. And in Virginia, a McCarthy-backed candidate
is leading Rep. Bob Gaod in his primary, but only after former President Donald Trump
bashed Good and also endorsed the challenger.

Gaetz won his primary comfortably in 2022, so ousting him seems like an uphill climb. But
the ad targeting him (which you can watch here) is cutting, without question. It highlights
Gaetz’s “close friendship” with Joel Greenberg, a former Florida tax official who pleaded
guilty to several federal charges in 2021, including child sex trafficking. Gaetz once referred
to Greenberg as his “wingman.”

Greenberg cooperated with a federal sex trafficking probe into Gaetz that ultimately resulted
in no charges being brought against the House Republican.

Greenberg reportedly has cooperated with the House Ethics Committee’s probe into Gaetz
as well. Two weeks ago, the committee said in a news release that it was reviewing
allegations that the Florida representative may have “engaged in sexual misconduct and illicit
drug use, accepted improper gifts, dispensed special privileges and favors to individuals with
whom He had a personal relationship, and sought to obstruct government investigations of
his conduct.” ‘

McCarthy has argued that Gaetz fueled the effort to oust him after the then-speaker declined
to interfere in the ethics probe. During an event at Georgetown University in April, McCarthy
claimed that he was no longer speaker because “one person, a member of Congress,
wanted me fo stop an ethics complaint because he slept with a 17-year-old, an ethics
complaint that started before | ever became speaker. And that's illegal, and 'm not going to
get in the middle. Did he do it or not? | don’t know.”
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It was a clear reference to Gaetz, who has denied the allegation and any wrongdoing. And
now this new ad is continuing to hit him on the same front.

This article was originally published on MSNBC.com
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Gaetz Ethics Inquiry Takes Dubious Turn

ﬁ& theamericanconservative,com/gaetz-ethics-inquiry-takes-dubious-turn

July 22, 2024
Politics
Is an advocate of foreign policy restraint being railroaded?

Credit: BRENDAN SMIALOWSKUVAFP via Getty images-
Amid the hurly-burly of presidential dropouts, attempted presidential assassinations, and
novel presidential conventions, the gears of Washington grind on.

A sideline moment of the winding last week in Wisconsin was a direct confrontation between
Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-FL) and his pet aversion, the former House Speaker Kevin McCarthy.

“What night are you speaking?” Gaetz quizzed McCarthy. “Are you speaking tonight?”

“If you took that stage, you would get booed off of it,” he added. “You would get booed off the
stage.” In a game-after interview with CNN, McCarthy shot back: “[Gaetz] looks very
unhinged.”

The representative from Florida’s First District, of course, led the successful charge last
autumn to defenestrate the then-speaker. Gaetz alleged a panoply of heresies—spending
issues, foreign policy, etc—where McCarthy was said to be deficient in comparison to
alternatives.

Gaetz eventually backed now-Speaker Mike Johnson (R-LA).

McCarthy, as of late, has said the story is simpler. The Californian wouldn’t stop a House
Ethics Committee investigation into years-old allegations against Gaetz (allegations for which
he was pever charged). But from the outside looking in, McCarthy's side of the story would
seem no clean tale of moral probity.

Far from being above the fray, McCarthy in private life has initiated a “revenge tour” of sorts,
attempting to primary his former foes in Congress.

Perhaps most prominently, Charleston-area Congresswoman Nancy Mace—a former
McCarthy acolyte turned ally of Gaetz et al.—survived a primary challenge in June. “l want to
send him back to the rock he's living under right now. He's not part of America.... | hope |
drive Kevin McCarthy crazy,” Mace told the Times.

Now the primary effort of the hardliners and the ethics investigation against Gaetz have
apparently merged.
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Congressman David Joyce (R-OH) is a member of the House Ethics Committee, which is
probing Gaetz. The American Conservative found financial disclosures that reveal Rep.
Joyce’s campaign and his leadership PAC donated a combined $7,000 to Gaetz's primary
challenger, Aaron Dimmock.

For his part, Gaetz told TAC: “It is no surprise to see Mr. Joyce, a stock-trading member of
the ethics committee, funding my opponent. The ethics committee was hand picked by
McCarthy and they will do his bidding in elections and in their witch hunt coming after me.”

There is evidence here of a $2,000 transaction from Friends of Dave Joyce (his campaign
committee) and then $5,000 from Defending American Values Everywhere PAC (DAVE PAC)
—his leadership committee. )

What comes next is unclear.

Depending on what the committee finds (a source close to the matier indicates the likely
timeline is “at this rate” after the election), Gaetz coqld face expulsion from the House. But
the stink of potential conflict-of-interest could corrode the legitimacy of any report.

And the political realpolitik is murky.

Gaetz is a stalwart ally of Trump, and if the president is re-elected, it would seem unlikely
that the first order of the day would be to punish allies based on a potentially tainted report.

If Trump loses, and the Demaocrats take the House, the precedent of removing a member of
Congress who has never been charged with a crime would also weigh heavily. Recent
examples such as Rep. George Santos of New York and Rep. James Traficant of Ohio
involved situations in which both figures had at least been charged with crimes.

Most serious: There is the question of why Gaetz has been such a focus.

Since at least 2019, Gaetz has set himself apart in advocating for a hardline position of
foreign policy restraint, making him a standout in a Trumpian fray that has countenanced
hawkish and even neoconservative elements.

“The ‘fog of war' is no fog to me, or any of the 700,000 people | serve,” Gaetz said five
springs ago, when he was beginning to make his mark on this front.

“It is not hazy,” said Gaetz, whose North Florida district has among the highest
concentrations of active-duty military in America. “We see the impact of war every day
among the people we love who shape our lives.”

Add in the background of Joyce.
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Ohio has rising stars on the restraint right such as the vice presidential nominee J.D. Vance
and entrepreneur Vivek Ramaswamy and Rep. Warren Davidson. And the Buckeye state
would seem very much at the center of the new Republican politics, as | wrote for the
TACcover piece in the March/April 2024 issue.

But in other ways, Ohio is a vestige of the old guard.

Joyce has contemporaries such as Rep. Mike Turner, the House intel chair, who represents a
more establishment perspective. Turner was a sparring partner with former Fox host Tucker
Carlson. Turner’s district features an epic military base, “with over 30,000 employees and an
annual contribution of $16.68 billion to our regional economy,” per Turner’s own reporting.

Subscribe Today

Get daily emails in your inbox

Joyce was a prime advocate of the contentious foreign military aid packages to Ukraine,
Israel and Taiwan that passed out in the Spring.

“Today was not only a vote to support our allies when they need it the most, but also a vote
to protect America’s national security. China, Russia and Iran are anti-American regimes that
have no intent of stopping their aggressions with our allies. They also pose a strong and
dangerous threat to Americans here at home,” Joyce said. “This package provides the critical
funding necessary for Israel, Ukraine, and Taiwan to defend their freedom. Something every
American should stand for.”

For what it’s worth, Gaetz voted against all three of those packages.
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August 2,2024

Committee on Ethics

U.8. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

1 write to bting to your attention additional exonerating matedal relating to allegations levied against me by
your Committee. Attached, please find “Exhibit 1,7 available at
https:/ /www.facebook.com/ 1004526702/ posts/ 10228758721045263 / ?mibextid=L0MuaQ&rdid=ufG7sts VSRO
8¢HBN. This is a Facebook post of an individual who was defamed and extorted by, on information and belief,
one of your Committee’s key witnesses, and who just received legal resolution in his racketeering case against her.

Specifically, the post and the legal posture of this case conclusively demonstrate that this witness is not
credible, and has, in fact, lied about me to your Comtnittee. If approptiate, you might consider taking actions against
her for providing you with knowingly false staternents. At the least, the portions of any investigation against me,
which are touched upon by her testimony and supposed evidence, should be expeditiously dropped.

Sincerely,

Member of Congress




142

Exhibit 1



143

A Statement on my Resolution of Litigation Against A.B. In my Greenberg Dental RICO Lawsuit

Two yearts ago, I received 2 letter seat by a lawyer on behalf of 2 woman I never met who was accusing me of
critnes I did not commit and who was seeking money that I did not owe.

This wasn’t 2 mere case of legal (but unethical) extortion — this was a threat of character assassination because if I
didn’t pay up, I'was told, then my false accuser would name me as a co-defendant in a lawsuit with my friend,
Congressman Matt Gaetz, whom she also falsely accused of sex crimes when she was 2 minor. My name would be
dragged through the mud by a compliant media, led by an odious progressive publication called The Daily Beast.

I had only one choice: sue her to prove she lied. I succeeded. Yesterday, she has agreed not to pursue her bogus
claims against me in court. The reason for her change of heart is simple: she had to undergo a deposition where
the facts showed she had not met me, and she and her friend who was a party to her fraud couldn’t keep their
stories straight.

I have agreed not to name my false accuser, a prostitute and producer of graphic online pornography, but I can say
she was limited in admitting she lied about me because her attorneys realized it put her in criminal jeopardy. She
didn’t just lie about me, she led about Gaetz as well in a federal criminal investigation that tesulted in no charges
against the congressman because our false-accuser has no credibility and had no evidence for the crime that didn’t
occut.

Liberal media outlets like The Daily Beast acted in tandem with her and her criminal frend, Joel Greenberg, as
part of a political smear campaign designed to spare Greenberg prison time. But it didn’t work. Greenberg is in
prison where he belongs. He is scum, just like her,

Despite having no prior interactions or dealings with this person, her lawyers falsely claimed that I had met her on
two occasions and stated that if T did not pay her large sums of money she would claim to have had a sexual
encounter with me.

In response to these baseless allegations, I took extensive measures to prove my innocence. I underwent a
polygraph test administered by a former FBI agent with 35 years of expetience. Witnesses testified to my absence
from the alleged locations, and geodata from my phone cotrobotated my whereabouts. I provided comprehensive
evidence demonstrating that I was not present at the places and times claimed by these lawyers.

I believe Matt is innocent as well, and it is clear that these allegations are fabricated, originating from Joel
Gteenberg, Greenberg personally threatened Gaetz to me and my wife, both verbally and in writing. He thought a
patdon would make his legal troubles go away, believing that Gaetz's relationship to President Trump or my
lobbying firm's relationship with the administration would somehow secure him a full and complete pardon
remminiscent of Nixon after Watergate. Delusional fantasies.

When I explained to Greenberg that it was a total and complete itmpossibility that he would ever be pardoned out
of his Jegal troubles, he began spreading lies, first against Gaetz and then against me. He advised me and others in
wiiting to "lawyer up” as he planned to resort to deceit. Greenberg’s behavior escalated when he violated bail
conditions and engaged in destructive actions, leading to his continued incarceration.

His attorney, Fritz Scheiler, publicly stated that they would push for further prosecutions to reduce Greenberg's
sentence, despite his client’s flagrant and repeated dishonesty. Every chance Greenberg has had to lie, he has done
50, yet his family is happy to spend their considerable fortune bullying and threatening anything that challenges
their son's lies. It is disturbing.

The Daily Beast did its best to help Greenberg and my accuser to push their lies because the publication exists to
attack Republicans and consetvatives, so I initiated my lawsuit to halt these lies and protect my reputation. The
Daily Beast tried to pretend this was a bad move, creating a "Streisand Effect” that would araplify my accuser’s
claims. But their metaphor failed the most important test: the truth. Yes, I took the risk in suing because unethical
The Daily Beast reporters (yes, it’s redundant) credulously amplified the es. But now we know the lies are just
that: lies.

Although Gaetz has not putsued legal action, he too is a victim of these false allegations and this smear campaign
led by The Daily Beast. The settlement of this lawsuit ensures there will be no further litigation on this matter as it
pertains to me, but I know that these people do not give up easily.
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Tam relieved by this resolution, which prevents any future legal disputes. She was going to sue me for something
that dida't happen, and now she's not. And importantly, not one penny changed hands.

The truth is paramount, and I stand by my innocence and integrity. Joel Greenberg is in prison for, among other
things, lying about one of his old political rivals having sex with a minor. He did the same to me and to Matt
Gaetz. The millions of dollars his parents have spent to protect him and minimize his much deserved sentence is
disturbing, but the idea that they would seek to implicate myself and Congressman Gaetz to get their degenerate
son out of prison faster is a true abuse of their wealth and power. That is what's happening, though.

T am beyond humbled by the love and support of my wife, Rebekah and my three amazing children. Thank you
for taking a minute to read this if you've gotten this far. It has been a horrible experience and I am relieved that

this portion is behind me. We are pleased with the result.



145

Michael Guest, Mississippi Thomas A, Rust

Chairman Staff Director and Chief Counsel
Susan Wild, Pennsylvania ) Keelie Broom
Ranking Member f Counsel to the Chairman
Ve
David P. Joyce, Ohio i . David Arrojo
john H. Rutherford, Florida ONE HUNDRED EIGHTEENTH CONGRESS Counsel to the Ranking Member
Andrew R. Garbarino, New York
Michelle Fischbach, Minnesota . 1015 Longworth House Office
ZH % Building
Verounica Escobar, Texas CENT . % nugt uf ﬁsprzggntat!hgg Washington, D.C. 20515-6328
Mark DeSaulnier, California COMMITTEE ON ETHICS Telephone: (202) 225-7103
Deborah K. Ross, North Carolina Facsimile: (202) 225-7392

Glenn F. Ivey, Maryland

August 5, 2024

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matthew Louis Gaetz II
U.8. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20515

Dear Representative Gaetz:

As you are aware, the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Ethics (Committee)
has provided you with multiple opportunities to address its questions on the record, including
issuing a summons to you to appear and provide testimony before the Committee on July 23,2024,
at4 p.m.' Inkeeping with your stated intent to cooperate with the investigation, the subpoena was
delivered to you by email, consistent with all applicable Rules of the House. You nonetheless
failed to appear for the testimony, even though you confirmed your awareness of the subpoena,
which was sent directly to you via email, as well as to the point of contact through which you have
regularly sent correspondence to the Committee.

While you have raised various concerns in your recent letter and past correspondence
relating to due process, “leaks,” “conflict of interest,” and “political Lawfare,” your concerns have
not obviated your legal and ethical obligation to comply with the Committee’s subpoena.? You
have been afforded all due process, consistent with House Rules and applicable federal laws.

You have failed to answer written questions and failed to appear in person to answer
questions regarding the allegations before the Committee. You indicated that you have “over
10,000 records™ but to date you have only produced a handful of documents. We are also in receipt
of your most recent production, which consisted of one Facebook post and was not
contemporaneous to the allegations at issue. We have provided and will continue to provide you
with the opportunity to share all relevant evidence with the Committee. You previously requested
to have the full August recess to produce responsive documents. Accordingly, we expect a fulsome
production by the time the House returns to session on September 9, 2024.  The Committee will
rely on the record available to it to make its findings in this matter.

1 We also offered to conduct the deposition on July 24 at 3:30 p.m. or July 25 at 8 am,, if the date and time on the
summons did not work for you; you did not appear at those alternative dates and times either.
2 Ser 2 U.S.C. §§ 192 and 194,
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The Committee will make no public statement at this time but reserves the right to make
any necessary disclosures regarding this matter should you make any statements that are
inconsistent with the text or spirit of our communications.

Sincerely,

Michael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman Ranking Member
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~August 9, 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (HOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

T am in receipt of your letter dated August 5, 2024, In that letter, you state that I have “failed to answer written
questions.” My review of our correspondence does not reflect this. If I have missed something, please let me
know. Iinvite you to send me any written questions you believed I have not answered, as well as any other
questions you may have. In my correspondence to you, [ have repeatedly refreshed open questions, such as your
inability to provide details regarding remedial steps to correct leaks: I do this because with lengthy, iterative
correspondence with a written record as extensive as in this case, it is important to give the other party notice
related to open issues, especially as items continue to be closed on a rolling basis.

You state that I have only provided a “handful” of recotds to you. I have proritized the evidence I believe most
clearly and directly proves my innocence (as you expressly requested), including evidence of Joel Greenberg’s
jaithouse confession that he was getting to lie about me for hope of financial gain.

You further state that the last evidence I provided you is not sufficiently “contemporaneous.” Your assessment is
inaccurate. The woman who, on information and belief, has alleged sexual misconduct against me, has dropped 2
related civil lawsuit threat against my friend, Mr. Dorwotth, after 2 deposition indicated she and her friend lied,
according to Mr. Dorworth. This is precisely relevant, contemporaneous and dispositive. This Is the first merits-
relevant court event that expressly indicates unreliability of this witness of youts, and I could not have been more
timely in bringing it to your attention.

The allegations that buttress your investigation were used to try to extort my family, subject me to a ctitninal
investigation by the Department of Justice, smear me in political campaigns, and shake me down for a phony hush
money payment. Throughout all this, the allegations cannot be substantiated, and have indeed been

disproven. You persist in this investigation largely to achieve political goals. It is political lawfare.

I have repeatedly asked questions to facilitate providing answers to your questions. You have ignored them,
ranging from scheduling questions regarding the expected duration of the deposition to very serious questions
regarding references you've made to other witnesses and the Department of Justice tainting the investigation with
leaks and the conduct of Committee members.

Your last correspondence concludes:
“The Cormnmittee will make no public statement at this time but reserves the right to make any necessary

disclosures regarding this matter should you make any statements that are inconsistent with the text or spirit of
our communications.”
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This reads as a thuggish threat. I would remind you that the disclosures regarding this investigation have come
from the Committee’s wotk, not mine.

Nevertheless, I continue to coopetate with you, and I have attached to this correspondence additional information

you have requested, including information that I provided to the Department of Justice as part of my rolling
production to you (“Exhibit A”).

Sincerely,

att Gaé’tz »
Member of Congress
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Exhibit A

EXHIBIT EXCLUDED



Michael Guest, Mississippi Thomas A. Rust

Chairman Staff Director and Chief Counsel
Susan W;Ild, Pennsl};lvania Keelie Broom
Ranking Member i Counsel to the Chairman
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Counsel to the Ranking Member
Andrew R. Garbarine, New York
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Mark DeSaulnier, California COMMITTEE ON ETHICS Telephone: (202} 225-7103
Deborah K. Ross, North Carclina Facsimile: (202} 225-7392
Glenn F. lvey, Maryland R
September 4, 2024

MEMBER’S PERSONAL ATTENTION
The Honorable Matthew Louis Gaetz I
U.S. House of Representatives

2021 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20513

Dear Representative Gaetz:

The Committee on Ethics (Committee) has previously invited you to provide information
relevant to this matter, in writing, under oath or affirmation. To date, you have provided minimal
substantive information relating to the allegations against you. You state that you have
“prioritized” the evidence you believe “most clearly and directly proves [your] innocence.” We
welcome any additional context about the relevance of your productions to date, including why
select weeks of your calendar beginning in 2020 are among the “most clear” evidence of your
innocence, since the majority of the alleged mistonduct occurred prior to 2020.

In your most recent letter, you also said that your review of our correspondence doesnot
reflect a failure to answer written questions and noted the importance of giving notice of open
issues. Below is a list of Committee requests with which you have not complied:

o On April 9, 2021, the Committee requested that you provide a response to the
allegations, in writing, under oath or affirmation. The Committes did notreceive 2
response.

e OnMay 23,2023, the Committee informed you ithad reauthorizedits investigation
for the 118%™ Congress and made several specific requests, as well as a request for
“any other information that you believe may be relevant to the matter,” and asked
youto describe efforts you made to identify responsivedocuments. The Committee
reiterated its requests in multiple subsequent letters. You provided an incomplete
response to the specific requests (including documents related to your Bahamas
travel), as well as the general request for relevant information.

« On May 20, 2024, the Committee requested dates and times of availability fora
voluntary interview; at that time the Committee also invited you to provide any
information you wished the Committee to review regarding the allegations. You
did not provide dates of availability for an interview. You declared each of the
allegations false without providing any substantive information, declared that you
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had been “exonerated” with respect to allegations of sexual misconduct, and
provided no new, non-public documents.

On June 17,2024, the Committee requested records relating to your assertion that
you were “exonerated” by the Department of Justice and requested that you let us
know if you believed we should have additional evidence submitted by you. You
did not provide any evidence of exoneration. In that letter, the Committee also
requested that you provide any information produced to the Department by you or
on your behalf; you have not provided a complete response to that request.

On June 28, 2024, the Committee provided you with a chart of alleged payments
that may have been made by or on behalf of you relating to sexual misconduct or
illicit drug use to facilitate your production of relevant documents. You have
provided no documents or written responses or explanations related to the payments
in the chart.

On July 11, 2024, the Committee issued a subpoena for your testimony. You did
not comply with the subpoena and have, to date, refused to make yourself available
for an interview.

The Committee appreciates your invitation to send additional written questions and, as
such, we have enclosed specific written questions relating to the allegations under review and
request that you provide your response to those questions by September 18, 2024.

The Committee will make no public statement at this time butreserves the right to make
any necessary disclosures regarding this matter should you make any statements that are
inconsistent with the text or spirit of our communications.

Enclosure

Sincétely,

Michael Guest Susan Wild
Chairman . Ranking Member
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Ipstructions

The United States House of Representatives Committee on Ethics (Committee) is
reviewing allegations involving you. Pursuantto Committee Rule 18(a), the Chairman and
Ranking Member request written responses to the enclosed questions.

The Committee has not made any conclusions about these allegations, and you should not
take any of the questions to imply that the Committee has made any judgment or
conclusions aboutthe allegations. The questions below are designed to help the Committee
build a complete and thorough record.

There are sixteen (16) questionsenclosed. Review each carefully and answer in writing.
Submit the enclosed declaration along with your written answers.

If you do not know the answer (for example, if you do not have personal knowledge or
have not otherwise been made aware of an answer to any of the questions), indicate in
writing that you do not know.

There is no limit on how long your answersmay be. You may provide any additional facts
that you believe are relevant or that you believe the Committee should be made aware of.

To the extent you refuse to answer any question based on attorney-client privilege or any
other protection or privilege, state the nature of the claimed privilege.

Your answers and statements may be considered by the Committee in its deliberations and
official business. Therefore, if you make any intentionally false statements or intentionally
attempt to mislead the Committee through your answers, that could be a crime, such as
making false statements under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 or obstruction of Congress under 18
U.S.C. § 1505.

Declaration

1, Representative Matt Gaetz, declare (certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the
responses and factual assertions contained in the attached letter dated ,2024,
relating to my response to the September 4, 2024, Committee on Ethics request for information,
are true and correct.

Signature:

Name: Representative Matt Gaetz

Date: , 2024
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uestions !

1. From 2017 to present, have you illegally used? any drugs or controlled substances? If yes,
provide foreach drug or controlled substance used: the type(s) of drug or controlled substance;
an estimate of the month and year of most recent use; the nature of the use, frequency, and
number of times used.

2. From 2017 to present, have you been involved in the illegal purchase, shipping, receiving, or
handling of any drug or controlled substance? If yes, provide for each drug or controlled
substance used: the type(s) of drug or controlled substance; an estimate of the month and year
of most recent involvement; and the nature and frequency of the activity. Additionally, inform
the Committee whether you have provided any drug or controlled substance to any of the
individuals listed in Appendix Ato the Committee’s June 28,2024, letter (also attached hereto).

3. From 2017 to present, did you engage in sexual activity with any individual that you now have
reason to believe was under the age of 18 at the time of the sexual activity?

4, On or around Saturday, July 15,2017, were you present in the Lake Mary, Orlando home of
Christopher Dorworth?

5. Have you ever engaged in sexual activity with—? If yes, for each encounter:
a. What was the approximate date (e.g., month and year) of the sexual activity?
b. What age Was_ at the time of the sexual activity?
c. Did anyone else observe the sexual activity?
d. Did you have reason to believe —used drugs or alcohol at or around the time of
the sexual activity?

Did you provide* with any money within a week of engaging in sexual activity
with her? If so, how did you provide the money (e.g., cash, check, paymentapp), how
much money did you provide, and what was the purpose of the money?

o

6. For each of the women identified in the “Transaction Counterparty” column of AppendixAto
the Committee’s June 28, 2024, letter:

a. Do you know her? If so, how do you know her?

b. Haveyouevergiven hermoney, including by cash, check, or electronic payment platform?
If so, for what purpose(s)?

c. Did you ask anyone else to give her money on your behalf? If so, who did you ask and
what was the purpose of the payment?

! As referenced in the following questions, the illegaluse of or other illegal activity relating to drugs or controlled
substances pertains to illegal use or activity in accordance with Federal laws, irrespective of state or local laws.
2 Use of a drugorcontrolled substance includes injecting, snorting, inhaling, swallowing, experimenting with or
otherwise consuming any drug or controlled substance.

2
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d. Did you give her money with the knowledge, instruction, or belief that it would be used for
the purchase of drugs or controlled substances?

e. If youengagedin any sexual activity with the individual, did she ever indicate to you that
she expected payment for engaging in sexual activity with you?

f. Did youuse ordirectthe use of congressional resources to assisther in obtaining a passport
or in obtaining the assistance of any U.S. embassy?

From 2017 to present, have you ever solicited or received sexual activity for hire?

. From 2017 to present, have you ever used an account belonging to an individual other than

you or an account associated with an alias to make electronic payments to any individual
identified in Appendix A? If so, please identify the following:

a. the name of the account;

b. the purpose(s) of the payment, including but not limited to any payments for the purchase
of drugs or drug paraphernalia; and

c. why the account was used.

From 2017 to present, identify each instance you have flown on a non-commercial aircraft
since becoming a Member of Congress, including the approximate date(s) of travel, owner of
the aircraft, and purpose of travel. This réquest does not include any travel on a non-
commercial aircraft that is paid for by a relative or government. This request also does not
include travel offered by a political organization in connection with a campaign event
sponsored by that political organization.

For any private plane travel identified in response to Question 9, how were your flight costs
paid for?

. How were your lodging costs paid for during your September 2018 trip to the Bahamas?

Did you advise, instruct, or discuss with any individuals what to say or not say to investigators
in connection with any investigations of your conduct by the Department of Justice (DOJ),
Commitiee on Ethics, or any other government office or agency? If so, describe any such
discussions, excluding any communications with your counsel. ’

As you are aware, “exoneration” is a separate and distinct concept from a declination to
prosecute criminal charges, which can occur for reasons unrelated to the innocence or
culpability of an individual.? Please describe the basis for your assertion that DOJ exonerated
you with respectto each allegation that they declined to prosecute. Please identify any DOJ
officials with whom you discussed such a determination or findings and any documents
memorializing or otherwise describing such findings.

N

3 See, e.g., IM 9-27.230, DEP’T OF JUSTICE, Justice Manual (identifying numerous factors to be considered in
declining charges).
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14. Have you provided any evidence to any party or witness related to Christopher Dorworth’s
racketeering lawsuit against Joel Greenberg and others* that you have not provided to the
Committee? Thisrequestincludes butis notlimited to any exculpatory records that are material
to the allegations of sexual misconduct, illicit drug use, acceptance of improper gifts, or any
other allegations that form the basis of this investigation. This request also includes
impeachment evidence relating to — and/or Joel Greenberg.

15. From 2017 to present, have you ever used the name- as an alias, or used the email
accoun 7 If so, for what purpose(s)?

16. From 2017 to present, have you downloaded, visited, or used any “sugar dating” application
or website, such as SeekingArrangement? If so, for what purpose(s)?

* Christopher Dorworth v. Joel Greenberg, et al., No. 6:23-cv-00871 (M.D. Fla.).
4
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Appendix A
$1,000-85.000 2018-2020
$100-51.000 2017-2018
$100-81,000 2018
$100-81.000 2017
$50.,000-5150.000 2017-2020
$100-81,000 2017
$1.000-85,000 2018.2020
$100-$1.000 2017-2018
$5,000-815,000 2017-2019
$1,000-85,000 2019-2020
$100-$1,000 2017
$1,000-85,000 2018.2019
$1,000-85,000 20192020
$5,000-815,000 2018-2020
$100-31,000 2018
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September 6 2024

Committee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Attached (“Exhibit A”) please find cotrespondence between my Director of Operations and out IT provider
through the House. These technical difficulties will create a slight delay in responding to your voluminous document
requests.

T am working diligently to continue voluntarily producing documents you've requested, in my possession,
custody, and control. You have set a September 18, 2024 deadline for response to your many new written

interrogatoties.

I will apply best efforts to have additional documents and a response to your September 4, 2024
correspondence by September 18, 2024.

Sincerely,

X\Zt@étz‘

Mermber of Congress
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Exhibit A
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COMMITTER Bousge of Representatives 5075 et en B
Oy FWashington, BE 20515 Ryt

Btips:/igactz.house.goy

September 18, 2024

Cominittee on Ethics

U.S. House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Attached to this electronic letter is 2 DropBox link with a substantial component of the rolling production
of documents you have requested. Assembly and production of these documents was more time consuming than
expected. I request until the end of next week to respond to your correspondence of September 4, 2024.
Sincerely,

Member of Con’greés
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MATT GAETZ . WASHINGTON OFFICE:
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September 26, 2024

Committee on Ethics

.S, House of Representatives

1015 Longworth House Office Building (LHOB)
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chairman Guest and Ranking Member Wild:

Your investigation into me has devolved into a political payback exercise, devoid of adequate due process, riddled
with leaks, and now seeking deeply personal information that is no business of Congress.

It seems the fix is in. The Committee has refused to establish an Investigative Subcommittee, as is customary,
perhaps because doing so would have time-limited this investigation long ago, and diluted the influence of those on
the full committee who are seeking revenge. The Committee has, during the course of its work, released public
statements to cast me in a negative light. This was undetstandably obsetved as “unusual ™! Most shockingly, the
Committee’s own membesship has participated in funding 2 recent political campaign against me which utilized the
very smears that the Committee now secks to revive and phony-validate in this investigation? I am being investigated
and judged by my political opponents. This is Soviet. This investigation exists to do what the voters of my district
won’t - remove me from office. The Commmittee’s own membetship tred to remove me from office via
election. That failed, so this is the next iteration of the smeat.

Your correspondence of September 4 asks whether I have engaged in sexual activity with any individual under
18. The answet to this question is unequivocally NO. You can apply this response to every version of this question,
in every forurn.

You ask whether I have illegally taken drugs. I have not used drugs which are illegal, absent some law allowing use
in a jurisdiction of the United States. I have not used “illicit” drugs, which I consider to be drugs unlawful for
medical or over-the-counter use everywhere in the United States.

You further asked for the basis for my claim of “exoneration.”” On July 10, 2024, I provided the Committee
dispositive evidence of my innocence by producing a “smoking gun” contemporaneous, jailhouse writing,
documenting the plot to frame me, which includes both Joel Greenberg and his victim. Two former federal agents

L See, e.g., two of many such articles, “Ethics Probe into Matt Gaetz now reviewing allegations of sexual misconduct and iilicit
drug use,” APNEWS, available at https://apnews.com/article/house-ethics-committee-matt-gaetz-mccarthy-
93535ec468168310586a2a3d545{8f2 {“unusual public update”); “House Ethics Committee reviewing sexual misconduct,
obstruction allegations against Matt Gaetz,” CBSNEWS, available at https://www.chsnews.com/news/house-ethics-
committ tt-gaetz al-misconduct-all ions/ { | "),
2 Outhned in “Gaetz Ethlcs Inquiry Takes a Dubious Turn,” THE AMER(CAN CONSERVAT!VE, available at

1) I -turn/ {“Congressman David Joyce (R-OH) isa
member of the House Ethics Commxttee, which is probing Gaetz. The American Conservative found financial disclosures that
reveal Rep. Joyce’s campaign and his leadership PAC donated a combined $7,000 to Gaetz's primary challenger, Aaron
Dimmaock... Joyce was a prime advocate of the contentious foreign military aid packages to Ukraine, Israel and Taiwan that
passed out in the Spring...For what it's worth, Gaetz voted against all three of those packages.”).
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(HISI & FBI) interviewed the inmate who revealed this plot (hereinafter “the Jailhouse Informant”). Their
memorandum is attached as “Exhibit A”.

The Jailhouse Informant was in jail with Joel Greenberg in Orange Couaty, Florida. Mr. Greenberg told the
Jailhouse Informant that he planned to lie about me having sexual contact with 2 minor to reduce his own prison
sentence. Mr. Greenberg informed the Jailhouse Informant that Mr. Greeaberg’s victim would be willing to adopt
Greenberg’s lie in hopes of 2 future financial benefit. 1 have provided the Committee written evidence that,
according to plan, she later sought that benefit. On information and belief, Greenberg’s victim has enlisted her
longtime friend and roommate in this endeavor.

On information and belief, Mr. Greenberg bad arranged for his victim to meet with an attotney of Greenbetg’s
choosing to orchestrate the plan to get Greenberg’s victim to lie about me. A Verified Florida civil lawsuit familiar
to the Committee alleges that Greenberg texted another person that he was paying for his victim'’s attorneys. A
copy of this text message is attached hereto as “Exhibit B.” This text occurted prior to Greenberg’s admissions to
the Jailhouse Informant, and further corroborates his testimony. A copy of the letter from the Jailhouse Informant
to tmy attorneys is attached hereto as “Exhibit C.” ’

This wasn’t the fitst - or even second - time Greenberg coordinated false smears of others in this manner. He was
initially indicted for attempting to falsely smear a teacher at a local high school as a pedophile. Thereafter, he was
sepatately found by federal law enforcement to have possessed child pomography that he intended to use to frame
his own attorney. (See “Exhibit D”). On information and belief, the DOJ never charged Greenberg for the
possession of this child pornogtaphy because it would have understandably eviscerated Greenbetg’s credibility as a
witness against me, which was the DOJ’s true goal had any of this been true.

The DOJ leaked false allegations about me to the New York Times, investigated those claims rigorously, cajoled
witnesses to conform to their narrative, and then ultimately knew they did not have a chargeable case. The very
people who have lied to the Ethics Committee were also lying to themn. On information and belief, the DOJ
investigated allegations regarding violations of the Mann Act, sex trafficking, child sex trafficking, obstruction of
justice, illegally owning a marijuana business, taking bribes, campaign finance violations and violations of federal
drugs laws. None of these investigations resulted in charges against me - and with good reason: I am innocent.

I believe the Biden Justice Depattment leaked to the New York Times in 2021 to impact the behavior and testimony
of witnesses.3 My basis for this belief is a recording of Joel Greenberg from prison wherein he claims the DOJ told
him that the New York Times piece put him in “golden position.” A copy of this recording can be provided to the
Committee upon request.

1 serve on the House Judiciary Committee and the Biden Justice Depattment loathes me. I ask the most penetrating
questions of thei top officials, frequently embartassing them publicly. See Attached “Exhibit E.” The combination
of the natural bias of the Biden Justice Department against me, their leaking of false allegations about e, and their
ultimate decision not to charge me is a clear exoneration, as was widely observed (“Exhibit F*)

An addidonal basis for my claim of exoneration is the conviction and criminal sentence of Steven Alford, who
attemnpted to shake down my family based on the very same false claims that the Committee attempts to refurbish
for political payback. ( “Exhibit G”) Mr. Alford was working on this criminal scheme with former DOJ official
David McGee. Suspiciously, the New Yor#& Times story published the night before Mr. McGee was to receive a seven-
figure wire transfer from my family (at the direction of and in cooperation with the FBI) to cement his criminal
culpability. Mr. McGee was never charged.

3 “Justice Dep't Inguiry into Matt Gaetz Said to be Focused on Cash Paid to Women,” NYTimes, April 1, 2021, availoble at
https://www.nytimes.com/2021/04/01/us/politics/matt-gaetz-justice-department.html.
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Your September 4 correspondence to me reveals your investigation is about more than enforcing House Rules - and
is uncomfortably nosey.

You ask, in part, whether Pve had sex with a list of adult women over the past seven yeats. The lawful, consensual,
sexual activities of adults are not the business of Congress. Neither is a detailing of medications I have taken under
the color of law.

This question about my sexual history reveals a sinister motive of the Committee to harm me and those who have
had any association with me. To date, I have voluntadly produced tens of thousands of records and answered many
of your relevant questions over several months. But asking about my sexual history as 2 single man with adult
women is a bridge too far. I will no longer voluntarily participate in this regrettable abuse of the Commitree.

T understand that the Committee has issued, but not served, a subpoena for my testimony. I explicitly reserve all of
my rights putsuant to House Rules and the U.S. Constitution.

Member of Congress
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EXHIBIT A
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MEMORANDUM OF INTERVIEW

ATTORNEY/CLIENT COMMUNICATION
PRIVLEDGE COMMUMICATION
ATTORNEY/CLIENT WORK PRODUCT

Fri
Tog

On May 7. 2021, [ = intcrvicwed by
investigators NN rccording bis knowledge of a
conversation he participated fo concening Matthew Gaetz (Geetz). The interview took
place at the Orange County Jail, Orlando, Florida, where IR currently an inmate.

Investigators présented o handwritten letter 1o qmd asked if hewrote and or'sent
the Jetter to Guetz s atiorney. After reviewing & copy of the §a&r~a¢kmwk&ged
that hewas the person who prepared the Jetter and had someone send it the laswyers.

- met Joel Greenberg (Greenberg) tm- inacortections van that was
trauﬁpoﬁmg prisoners fmm the ih*aagc Camty Jail o ﬁm FM ae&miwm i i)ﬂanda
i had ; ; i

mtiz icmgixa wn&mtwﬁx&miem

transport van. N Greenberp were

seate g ti:»c van ride but piawd i the same holding cell, along with the IL
smi& wimn ﬁwy atrived ab the Federal courthouse:

I <t:rtcd @ conversation with the IL inmate and Greenberg by asking why they were
there. The IL inmate stated he was there for a violation of probation *} i
:egmm &c had been to prison and served time in & medi i

. fagility. T&e 1L tnmate was
stim&uiad farawat 130 pm.

Greenberg stated he was out on bond, but his imnd was revoked because he violated his
bond conditions by goi side the district. i said he was “stressed” because
he was being held in -solitary confinement ty jail. Greenberg did not
state why he was in solary confinement. explained to the IL tnmate and
Gireenberg that he was being held on a probation violation for & new ﬁmﬂm i:imme
Although the new charges were dismissed, the prosecutor in bis case, :

States Attorney Jackson Bogps (AUSA Bopgs), recommended hie be held on the pmba&mn
violation, and the judge agreed.
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After approximately one hour in the holding cell, Greenberg opened up :n_ and
asked him how the foderal prison conditions were. Greenberg stated he had never been in
trouble before and wanted to know how other inmates treated individuals who cooperated.
I - Giconberp he did not need 1o worry because most people that cooperate are
sent 1o love-Jevel < where many of the inmates have cooperated. ‘Greenberg stated
he was arrested for fraud and using money he stole from the government to wwim&
eryplocurrency and gambling. Greenberg stated he was a tax collector and da

‘of $150,000.00 annually. Greenberg added authorities came to his home with

wwarrant related o the fraud scheme and seized his laptop. {Smberg smteﬂ his mai
ixmiﬁm involved a sex trafficking case where authorities found a r !ﬁpmp ¢
mﬁm&m im sent fo an an&mgx: fe:mak w:um ﬁuﬂmixm were now

se x:wm&amiywywmﬂnmmmm

%fw his aﬁ&weﬁ told Gfmtxhexg he saw

i w::uki affect her ﬁmmbmg was fiot warﬁ%:é aimm his ﬂiﬂ&’s mmother because
she knew he was “nlaying the field™ and cheating on Hep.

elieved that Geeenberg openied up to him h&ause h;: seeded someone to talk m“

N’m Ymin T:m Gmhexg asked mﬁe&ﬁgxt&s not to rwm% thv: smry 6
ith hxs ::mpmt;m Investigators asked

erazy thing k™ all the pmw:utmm investigators sre democrats, and they

W A accuse m&m beeause they did not Iﬁm them. ‘Greenberg stated

the prosecutors wanted wfonmation on Gaetz, & Tormer lobbyist for President Donald
Trump, and at least five to six other republicans. Greenberg told prosecutors he could link
all these individuals to sex trafficking of #n vaderaged fomale because he, Greenberg,
arranged it Greenborg stated none of it was true; and he was making it up to reduce his
sentence. Greenberp told althouph it did oot happen, be has 3 way of “connecting
i to-make it appesr # ppen: Greenberg would use actual travel dates for the
‘individuals in question then “fabricate™ the events and encoumnters, slthough they never
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(}xemimg asked -;f he knew who Gmx&: was. _&tatad he did not.

: ﬁwﬂ on immi axs& imcr m&st@é fm* a pro
condominium:

were iymg about. Sﬂ:ﬁ&hmg ich he may have d{)ﬁe

End orreport.
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Orlando Sentinel

Former Seminole County tax collector Joel
Greenberg collected child pornography to frame
in-house attorney, ex-consultant's defense says

Chiistopher Cann, Orlando Sentinel 1‘ O6
July 75,2023 - 4 mia read md i

ORLANDQ; Fla. — A search by the US. Secret Service of disgraced Seminole
County tax collector Joel Greenberg's car yielded over 60 images of child
pornography on a flash drive, which he intended to use to frame his office’s in-
house counsel — his former uncle, attorney Richard Sierra, jurors in a federal

trial heard Tuesday.

That new allegation emerged in an opening statement by Ashley Parker, an
attorney representing Michael Shirtey, a former consultant for Greénberg's
‘office standing trial this week on bribery charges.

Parker told jurors that Greenberg decided against framing Sierra, telling
investigators he decided 1o do so would be “cruel™ But he added that
Greenberg has recently changed his story and now blames the flash drive on
an unnamed former employee of the tax office.

“soel Greenberg might beone of the most evil men you'll ever meet,” Parker
said.

Greenberg was never charged in connection with the alleged ¢hild
pornography. Parker mentioned the flash drive to discreditanticipated
testimony from Greenberg, who is on the witniess list to appear in Shirley's
case.
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‘middieman the government claims delivered at least one bribe from Shirley to
Greenberg — manufactured the allegations against her client to please the
governiment and avold facing charges for child pornography or having sex with

a minor.

Jurors began hearing testimony in the case Tuesday. The trial is expected to

last about five days.

Before opening statements, the judge inthe Shirley case ruled that Ellicott,
considered a pivotal witness for federal prosecutors, will be allowed to testify
even If he won't answer questions about an allegation that he had sex with a
T7-year-old girl— an isste that led to an early hearing Tuesday before Shirley’s
trial continued. |

Warren Lindsey, another attorney representing Shirley, informed LLS. District
Judge Gregory Presnell of the allegation against Elficott on Monday as the trial
began. Greenberg had sex with the girl in a hotel room, then paid her on behalf
of Ellicott; who offered the teen Eiiegaﬁ drugs before also having sex with her,
Lindsey told Presnell

Assistant U.S. Attorney Amanda Daniels surprised the judge when she said
Eliicott would invoke the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution s as tonot
incriminate himself if asked about the illicit sex allegation.

Daniels argued that the case against Shirley is centered on fraud and that
allegations against Elficott are not relevant. Shirley is accused of paying bribes
to and taking kickbacks of hundreds of thousands of dollars from Greenberg;

the disgraced Seminole Tax Collector.

Ellicott was sentenced to 15 months in prison after he pleaded guilty to taking
part in a bribery scheme with Greenberg. As part of his plea agreement, he
must provide evidence and testify truthfully.
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Lindsey disagreed with prosecutors; saying Ellicott’s aﬂeged sex with the girlis
an imiportant point because Elficott was not charged for it, and therefore has
anincentive to “please the goverment”

On Tuesday. Presnell said he will allow Ellicott’s testimony and will allow Ellicott
1o invoke his Fifth Amendment rights in responise to questions concerning the
specific facts about the alleged commercial sex with a minor.

“It's a fine line,” said Presnell, adding that he waﬁ‘tjsiimth the government and
the defense to question Ellicott but does not want Greenberg's former friend
to incriminate himself. “He can live up to his bargain without incriminating
himself”

“There's no reason to get into the facts of the sex with a minor claim,” Presnell
‘said. “..What's important is he may be subject to such a charge”

According to an unsealed motion from the government, Ellicott’s sentence was
lowered, inpart; because of his cooperation concerning *Hlorida public officials

engaged in commercial sex ... including with a minor,” Presnell said.

Shirley faces four counts of fraud and a charge of conspiracy to commit fraud.
He has pleaded not guilty.

According to a grand jury indictment, Shirley got up to $466,625 from his
scheme with the Tax Collector's Office under Greenberg in which Shirley and
his company, Praetorian Integrated Services, submitted fake invoices for

‘goods and services at inflated prices.
Ellicott is described in the indictment as a “co-conspirator” who would take
money that Shirley withdrew from a Central Florida bank and deliver it to

‘Greenberg.
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in December, Greenberg was sentenced to antlyear federal prison sentence
after pi&a&ingg&iﬁym several federal crimes; including trafﬁf:kiﬁg*a teenager,
stalking a political rival, stealing identities and using public money to pay for

sex and-cryptocurrency.

Like Ellicott, he is required to provide evidence and testimony for prosecutors
in other criminal cases.

Despite him appearing on the government’s witness list, Daniels said on
‘Monday that she doesn't “anticipate calling Joel Greenberg” to testify in
Shirley's trial. However, Greenberg may still testify since his nameis on the
defense’s witness list.

Sierra, Greenberg’s former uncle and in-house attorney, is also listed as a
witness. Sierra warned Greenberg in early 2019 that federal authorities were
looking into the Tax Collector’s Office.
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DOJ/FBI

2024

Title: Matt Gaetz Questions the FBI Director About Biden's 'Cognitive Decline'

Outlet: TMZ

Date: 8/1/24

Link: hitps://www.tmz.com/2024/07/24/matt-gaetz-questions-fbi-director-christopher-wray-joe-biden-
cognitive-decline/

Mention: Matt Gaetz used the FBI Director's testimony on Donald Trump's assassination attempt to score
political points ... veering off the topic to question him about Joe Biden's cognition. The controversial
congressman just took his turn firing off questions at Director Christopher Wray ... and, while his
colleagues have asked a series of questions about the attempt on the former prez's life, Gaetz instead
focused on Biden dropping out of the race. Gaetz asks Wray if there's a conspiracy to hide Joe Biden's
mental acuity from the American people ... questioning who's exactly in on it before taking a final shot
about the hours he says Biden's able to work -- between 10 AM and 4 PM.

Title: FBI Director Christopher Wray testifies about Trump rally assassination attempt

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 7/24/24

Link: https://www.foxnews.convlive-news/new-video-shows-trump-rally-assassination-attempt-
unfolding-butler-pennsylvania

Mention: FBI Director Christopher Wray told House lawmakers that the FBI "did not have any
information about the shooter" prior to the Trump assassination attempt in Butler, Pennsylvania on July
13. "He was not in our holdings, before the shooting," Wray said about Thomas Matthew Crooks while
answering a question from Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla.

Title: Gaetz demands answers from federal prisons difector on attempts to interview Peter Navarro, Steve
Bannon

Outlet: BizPacReview

Date: 7/24/24

Link: https://www.bizpacreview.com/2024/07/24/gaetz-demands-answers-from-federal -prisons-director-
on-attempts-to-interview-peter-navarro-steve-bannon-1474888/

Mention: Florida Rep. Matt Gaetz (R) slammed “arbitrary standards” and “non-answers” during an
exchange with the Federal Bureau of Prisons director about attempts to interview Peter Navarro and Steve
Bannon. “...when John Gotti is allowed...and Peter Navarro isn’t, it’s hard to ascertain how Gotti would
be less notorious.”

Title: Biden's attorney general is fighting back as the GOP-led House contemplates contempt

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 6/11/24 -

Link: https://www foxnews.com/politics/bidens-attorney-general-fighting-back-gop-house-contemplates-
conternpt

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., tangled with the attorney general over providing "correspondence
between the department and Alvin Bragg’s office.” "You lodge this attack that it’s a conspiracy theory
that this is coordinated lawfare against (former President) Trump,” said Gaetz. "But when you say ‘we’ll
take your request and work it through the DoJ accommodation process,” then you're actually advancing
the very dangerous conspiracy theory that you’re concerned about."
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Title: New docs show Bragg spent $1M on attorneys to address House probe of Trump case amid city
budget cuts ’

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 6/11/24 :

Link: https://www.foxnews.com/politics/new-docs-show-bragg-spent-1m-attomeys-blunt-house-probe-
trump-case-amid-city-budget-cuts

Mention: In an exchange with Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., during a House hearing last week, Attorney
General Merrick Garland repeatedly denied he or the Justice Department dispatched Colangelo to New
York or had anything to do with the latter taking a prominent role in Trump's prosecution.

Title: Garland Rebukes Attacks on Justice Dept. and Defends Refusal to Turn Over Biden Tape

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 6/5/24

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2024/06/04/us/politics/garland-republicans-justice-department. html
Mention: But the hearing frequently veered away from the issue of executive privilege and toward
grievances Republicans have with the various criminal proceedings against Mr. Trump, including federal
and Georgia cases involving his attempt to overturn the outcome of the 2020 election and a federal case
over his retention of classified documents. Against that backdrop, several Republican lawmakers,
including Representative Matt Gaetz of Florida and Tom McClintock of California, highlighted that a
former Biden appointee in the Justice Department, Matthew Colangelo, had joined the Manhattan district
attorney’s office in December 2022 and participated in the trial against Mr. Tramp. Mr. Colangelo was
previously the top deputy to the department’s No. 3 official. Mr. Gaetz accused Mr, Garland of
“dispatching” Mr. Colangelo to “get Trump.” But Mr. Garland said he had nothing to do with Mr.
Colangelo’s decision to apply for a position prosecuting white-collar crime in the Manhattan district
attorney’s office. “I’'m saying it’s false,” Mr. Garland said. “I did not dispatch Mr. Colangelo anywhere.”

Title: House Republicans badger Garland with baséless claims of weaponizing justice system against
Trump

Outlet: MSNBC

Date: 6/4/24

Link: https://www.msnbc.conm/top-stories/latest/merrick-garland-testimony-house-republicans-hearing-
trump-renal55419

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., accused the attorney general of “dispatching” Matthew Colangelo, a
former senior official at the DOJ, to the Manhattan district attorney's office. Alongside DA Alvin Bragg,
Colangelo is currently a prime target for Republicans in their attacks against the New York prosecutors. "I
did not dispatch Mr. Colangelo anywhere," Garland said. "I assume he spoke — he applied for a job there
and got the job. I can tell you I had nothing to do with it."

Title: GOP plans aggressive ‘weaponization’ investigations in wake of Trump conviction

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/4/24

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2024/06/04/gop-trump-house-weaponization-
investigations/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) accused the Justice Department of colluding with the New York
district attorney’s office. He also accused Attorney General Merrick Garland, without evidence, of fueling
conspiracy theories by withholding information about alleged communications.

“We do not control those offices. They make their own decisions,” Garland responded.
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Title: ‘I will not be intimidated’: Garland rebuts contempt threats from House GOP

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/4/24

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2024/06/04/merrick-garland-testimony-
judiciary-fbi-trump/

Mention: At the hearing, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) repeated claims Republicans have made without
evidence that former Justice Department official Matthew Colangelo — now an assistant district attorney
in Manhattan who helped prosecute Trump — was “dispatched” by Garland to bring that case.

“That is false. I did not dispatch Colangelo,” Garland said. “Do you know how he ended up there?” Gaetz
replied. “I assume he applied for a job there and got it,” the attorney general said.

Title: Garland pushes Republicans on ‘dangerous’ rhetoric

Qutlet: The Hill

Date: 6/4/24

Link: https://thehill.com/homenews/house/4703558-merrick-garland-house-republicans-dangerous-
rhetoric/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said Garland wasn’t doing enough to comply with their requests
seeking records for any coordination among the Justice Department and state prosecutors. “You come in
here, and you lodge this attack that it’s a conspiracy theory that there’s coordinated lawfare against
Trump. And then when we say, ‘Fine, just give us the documents, give us the correspondence” and then if
it’s a conspiracy theory that will be evident,” Gaetz said. “But when you say, ‘Well, we’ll take your
request, and then we'll sort of work it through the DOJ s accommodation process,’ then you’re actually
advancing the very dangerous conspiracy theory that you're concerned about.”

Title: AG Garland hasn’t listened to Biden interview tapes, rejects calls to release them

Outlet: Washington Times

Date: 6/4/24

Link: https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2024/jun/4/merrick-garland-hasnt-listened-to-biden-~
interview-/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz, Florida Republican, said Mr. Garland’s refusal is part of the problem. “You're
actually advancing the very dangerous conspiracy theory you’re worried about,” he said.

Title: Garland slams attacks on the Justice Department, telling lawmakers: 'I will not be intimidated'
Outlet: ABC News

Date: 6/4/24 .

Link: https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/attorney-general-merrick-garland-rebuke-false-narratives-
department/story?id=110793118 *

Mention: Garland's appearance before the committee became contentious from the start as Rep. Matt
Gaetz kicked off questioning for Republicans. He peppered Garland with a combination of hypotheticals
that the attorney general declined to engage with while trying to tie the Justice Department to state-level
investigations independent from the department. Gaetz pressed Garland about the Justice Department's
interactions with the offices of Manhattan District Attorney Alvin Bragg, whose investigation into former
President Donald Trump resulted in a jury convicting him on 34 felony counts last week, and Fulton
County, Georgia's District Attorney Fani Willis, the prosecutor who brought a sprawling racketeering case
against Trump... The Florida Republican asked Garland whether the Justice Department will provide any
documents and correspondence between the department and their offices... Gaetz then hit back arguing
that by refusing to immediately hand over any such documents, the Justice Departruent is only fomenting
more conspiracy theories.
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Title: EXCLUSIVE: House Judiciary GOP Demand Testimony From Official Who Blocked
Congressman From Speaking To Peter Navarro

Qutlet: Daily Caller

Date: 5/9/24

Link: https://dailycaller.com/2024/05/09/house-judiciary-republicans-demand-testimony-from-bureau-of-
prisons-leader-blocked-congress-from-speaking-to-peter-navarro/

Mention: The Daily Caller first obtained a copy of the letter, which was signed by House Judiciary
Committee Chairman Jim Jordan, Arizona Rep. Andy Biggs and Florida Rep. Matt Gaetz. In the letter,
the House Republicans call on the director, Colette Peters, to testify after she denied Gaetz’s request to
interview Navarro in prison. Gaetz alleged Peters’ reason for not allowing him to interview Navarro is
because he is “too notorious” to be interviewed by a member of Congress. Gaetz has since argued that the
denial of his request does not make sense, as John Gotti was interviewed in prison and the QAnon
Shaman was interviewed in prison.

Title: Democrats went to town in Hur hearing but Republicans missed a major moment

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 3/13/24

Link: https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/democrats-town-hur-hearing-republicans-missed-major-moment
Mention: Matt Gaetz , R-Fla., got Hur to agree that President Biden’s repeated claim that he "never
shared" any of the classified documents was inaccurate.

Title: Special Counsel Robert Hur defends Biden memory comments; other takeaways from Hur's hearing
Outlet: USA Today

Date: 3/12/24

Link: https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2024/03/12/robert-hur-joe-biden-congress-hearing-
trump-classified-documents/72943194007/

Mention: Multiple Republican lawmakers accused Hur of going easy on Biden by choosing not to
recommend criminal charges.. . Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., said Hur let Biden off the hook under a "senile
cooperator theory."

Title: Dems turn Biden documents hearing into 3 Stooges theater

Outlet: New York Post

Date: 3/12/24

Link: https://nypost.com/2024/03/12/opinion/dems-tum-biden-documents-hearing-into-3-stooges-theater/
Mention: Some Republicans were confounded that the special counsel chose not to recommend criminal
charges. Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) groused that Hur chose to “apply this ‘senile cooperator’ theory that
because Joe Biden cooperated and the elevator didn’t go to the top floor, you don’t think you’d get a
conviction.”

Title: Special counsel Robert Hur says he ‘did not exonerate’ Biden, claims president lied about sharing,
locking classified docs

Outlet: New York Post

Date: 3/12/24

Link: https:/nypost.com/2024/03/12/us-news/special-counsel-robert-hur-says-he-did-not-exonerate-
biden-claims-president-lied-about-sharing-locking-classified-docs/

Mention: Former special counsel Robert Hur told lawmakers Tuesday that his report on President
Biden’s alleged mishandling of classified documents “did not exonerate” Biden of wrongdoing and that
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the commander-in-chief and his defenders were misleading the public about key details in the case...Rep.
Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) read from a transcript of the presser, when Biden defended his mental acuity and his
stashing of documents at his homes and at an unlocked DC office provided by the University of
Pennsylvania, “Question: ‘Mr. President, why did you share classified information with your
ghostwriter?” Gaetz narrated.“The president: ‘I did not share classified information. I did not share it. I
guarantee I did not.” That’s not true, is it, Mr. Hur?” Gaetz asked “That is inconsistent with the findings
based on the evidence in my report,” said Hur. “So it is a lie — just what regular people would say,
right?” Gaetz said. “Yeah,” Hur said with a chuckle.

Title: Standout moments from the hearing on the Biden classified documents probe by special counsel
Hur

Outlet: Associated Press

Date: 3/12/24

Link: https://apnews.com/article/biden-hur-justice-department-classified-documents-trunip-
a74ec580757cfdf972fa9c0289a9%eebs

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz, a Florida Republican, asserted that Hur had found the elements of a criminal
violation but had given the president a pass because Biden was “senile.” Hur objected to that
characterization, “I need to disagree with at least one thing that you said, which is that I found that all of
the elements were met,” Hur replied. “One of the elements of the relevant mishandling statute is the intent
element. And what my report reflects is my judgment that based on the evidence, I would not be able to
prove beyond a reasonable doubt to a jury that that intent element had been met."

Title: Special counsel Hur gets hammered by lawmakers: 5 takeaways

Outlet: The Hill

Date: 3/12/24

Link: https://thehill.com/homenews/house/4527290-special-counsel-hur-gets-hammered-by-lawmakers-
five-takeaways/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) accused Hur of setting a dangerous precedent by taking into account
how potential jurors would perceive Biden. “You find in your report that the elements of a federal
criminal violation are met, but then you apply this senile cooperator theory, that because Joe Biden
cooperated and the elevator didn’t go to the top floor, you didn’t think you could get a conviction,” Gaetz
said.

Title: Gaetz presses Hur over not charging Biden ghostwriter: "What does somebody have to do?'
Qutlet: Fox News

Date: 3/12/24 )

Link: https://www.foxnews.com/media/matt-gaetz-presses-hur-not-charging-biden-ghostwriter-what-
does-somebody-have-do

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., grilled former Special Counsel Robert Hur during a House hearing on
Tuesday over not charging President Biden’s ghostwriter for destroying evidence pertaining to Hur’s
investigation of Biden's handling of classified documents. "What does somebody have to do to get
charged with obstruction of justice by you?" Gaetz said to Hur, suggesting that the special counsel let
Mark Zwonitzer — the ghostwriter on Biden’s memoir "Promise Me, Dad" - off the hook for deleting
evidence.

Title: Hur’s testimony undermines some key GOP claims on Biden
OQutlet: Washington Post
Date: 3/12/24
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Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2024/03/12/robert-hur-testimony-biden-age/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) similarly posited that Hur had stated “that the elements of a federal
criminal violation are met.” “But then you apply this senile cooperator theory, that because Joe Biden
cooperated and the elevator didn’t go to the top floor, you don’t think you get a conviction,” Gaetz said. “I
need to disagree with at least one thing that you said,” Hur told Gaetz, “which is that I found that all of the
elements were met.” Hur said he decided he would not be able to prove Biden had the requisite intent.

Title: Gaetz accuses Jack Smith of election interference in DOJ complaint

Outlet: The Hill

Date: 3/6/24

Link: https://thehill.com/regulation/court-battles/4512966-gaetz-accuses-jack-smith-election-interference/
Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) filed a complaint with the Department of Justice inspector general on
‘Wednesday, accusing special counsel Jack Smith of election interference by resisting attempts to delay his
criminal prosecution of former President Trump...“The witch hunt against President Trump by Attorney
General Garland and Special Counsel Smith is a partisan exercise, and the American people know it,”
Gaetz said in a statement. “The actions of the Special Counsel Smith to speed up the trial against
President Trump violate the DOJ’s rules and the law.”

2023 .

Title: Fox News: UFO watch: House lawmakers blast intelligence community's ‘orchestrated attempt’ to
hide UAP info

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 11/30/23

Link: https://www.foxnews.com/politics/ufo-watch-house-blast-intelligence-communitys-orchestrated-
attempt-hide-nap-info

Mention: "It is insufficient though to seek this transparency from the Department of Defense alone. We
have to have cooperation, so that all 50 authorities through the intelligence community are also subject to
review [and] the FAA, the NSA, the FBI, even state and local authorities that have information are able to
have that cataloged, assessed and then put out before the public," said Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla.

Title: As GOP slams Garland over Hunter Biden probe, he keeps repeating he had no role

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 9/21/23

Link: https://www.foxnews.com/media/gop-slams-garland-hunter-biden~probe-repeating-role
Mention: Republican Matt Gaetz said, "You've got the president bringing Hunter Biden around to state
dinners. So anyone told him to knock it off?" Garland’s response: "No one that I know of has spoken to
the White House about the Hunter Biden case.” Gaetz also asked about the president’s son making big
bucks by selling his paintings. Garland wouldn’t comment.

Title: Attorney General Garland tells Congress he doesn't take orders from White House

Outlet: USA Today

Date: 9/20/23

Link: https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2023/09/20/attorney-general-merrick-garland-
house-judiciary-committee/70904388007/

Mention: One of the fiercest exchanges exploded between Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., and Garland over
alleged Chinese influence on the Biden family. Gaetz questioned why Chinese companies funneled
millions of dollars to Hunter Biden and his relatives for business deals, although Republicans have not yet
documented payments to President Biden. After asking a series of rapid-fire questions about North Korea,
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China and Hunter Biden’s art sales that Garland tried to answer, Gaetz accused him of not being serious.
“Blissfully ignorant,” Gaetz said. “People don’t pay bribes to not get something in return.”

Title: Garland Rebuffs Republicans’ Efforts to Reveal Details on Hunter Biden Inquiry

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 9/20/23

Link: https://www.nytimes.convlive/2023/09/20/us/garland-house-judiciary-hearing

Mention: When Matt Gaetz, the bellicose Republican congressman from Florida, began a blistering
attack on the attorney general, Representative Steve Cohen, Democrat of Tennessee, raised the Justice
Department’s sex-trafficking investigation into Mr. Gaetz that, ultimately, resulted in no charges.

Title: AG Garland: DOJ Has Had No Contact With White House Over Hunter Biden Probe

Outlet: Forbes

Date: 9/20/23

Link: https://www.forbes.com/sites/saradorn/2023/09/20/ag-garland-doj-has-had-no-contact-with-white-
house-over-hunter-biden-probe/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) also asked Garland whether the Justice Department has told the
president to distance himself from his son: “You've got the president bringing Hunter Biden around to
state dinners . . . has anyone told him to knock it off?” Garland responded by repeating previous denials
from the White House and the Justice Department that they have coordinated on the Hunter Biden probe,
telling Gaetz “no one that I know of has spoken to the White House about the Hunter Biden case.”
Garland told the committee,“] am not the president’s lawyer” or “the prosecutor for Congress,” while
noting that the “overwhelming majority” of DOJ prosecutors and staff “are career public servants,
meaning, they were not appointed by the president of any party.”

Title: GOP and FBI are at odds as Republicans move to stop the agency's new headquarters after Trump
probes

Outlet: Associated Press

Date: 7/17/23

Link: https://apnews.com/article/fbi-headquarters-trump-republicans-wray-
8ece63b5471465bb4835d11b2034e04

Mention: Last week, FBI Director Christopher Wray appeared before the House Judiciary Committee for
the first time since Republicans took control in January, facing a long list of criticisms, complaints and
accusations of bias at the bureau. “Are you protecting the Bidens?' asked Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla.
“Absolutely not,” Wray said. At another point Wray said, “The idea that I’'m biased against conservatives
seemns somewhat insane to me, given my own personal background.”

Title: House Republicans Criticize F.B.L in Contentious Hearing

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 7/12/23 :

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2023/07/12/us/politics/christopher-wray-fbi-house-judiciary-
committee.html

Mention: In one exchange, Representative Matt Gaetz, Republican of Florida, grilled Mr. Wray about the
F.B.L’s use of Section 702, pointing to a court ruling in May that found that the burean violated rules
governing the program. The opinion, which was partly redacted, said that the F.B.1. had improperly
searched a database of communications intercepted under the law for information on people suspected of
participating in the Jan. 6, 2021, attack on the Capitol.



191

Title: FBI Director Chris Wray defends the 'real FBI' against criticism from House Republicans

Outlet: Associated Press

Date: 7/12/23

Link: https://apnews.com/article/fbi-director-wray-jordan-hunter-biden-
74fe5¢321b175b9381a19ecB8e546¢ebel

Mention: During one tense exchange with Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., Wray noted that in Florida, the
number of FBI applicants is up by more than 100%. “We’re deeply proud of them, and they deserve better
than you,” Gaetz said.

Title: FBI chief Chris Wray: ‘Insane’ to say I’m biased against conservatives

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/12/23

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2023/07/12/fbi-wray-criticism-trump-hunter/
Mention: One of the most heated exchanges came when Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) raised allegations made
against Hunter Biden, and asked the director: “Are you protecting the Bidens?” “Absolutely not,” Wray
shot back. Gaetz then accused Wray of being “blissfully ignorant” of problems at the burean, including
repeated misuses of a surveillance authority known as Section 702.

Title: FBI Director Fires Back At GOP Over ‘Insane’ Bias Claims In Heated House Hearing

Outlet: Forbes

Date: 7/12/23 .

Link: https://www.forbes.com/sites/saradorn/2023/07/12/fbi-director-fires-back-at-gop-for-insane-bias-
claims-in-heated-house-hearing/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) grilled Wray about the DOJ’s investigation into Joe Biden’s son
Hunter, which wrapped up with a plea deal, asking Wray, “are you protecting the Bidens?”—a charge
Wray strongly denied.

Title: ‘Insane,” ‘ludicrous,” ‘absurd’: FBI's Wray shows teeth to GOP critics

-Qutlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/12/23

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/07/12/insane-ludicrous-absurd-fbis-wray-shows-
teeth-gop-critics/

Mention: Speaking of that policy against commenting on ongoing criminal matters, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-
Fla.) tried to get Wray to weigh in on specific evidence involving Hunter Biden — and then pretended it
was suspicious when Wray punted. “You seem deeply incurious about it, don’t you? Almost
suspiciously,” Gaetz maintained - again, despite Wray’s wholly unsurprising answer. “I’m curious: Are
you protecting the Bidens?” Wray responded “absolutely not.” After Gaetz proceeded to suggest Wray
might have committed perjury in previous testimony and attached all of it to the decline in trust in the
FBI, Wray got more animated and invoked Gaetz’s home state. “Respectfully, Congressman, in your
home state of Florida, the number of people applying to come work for us and devote their lives working
for us is over 100 percent,” Wray said. He later made a similar conument after a long monologue against
the FBI by a Texas congressman.

Title: Jordan’s weaponization-papel game plan draws critique from some on the right

Qutlet: Washington Post

Date: 3/10/23

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/03/10/jim-jordan-house-weaponization-panel/
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Mention: The absence of compelling evidence has not precluded GOP lawmakers from amplifying calls
to overhaul — or entirely abolish — federal law enforcement agencies. During an appearance at the
Conservative Political Action Conference last week, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), who sits on the
weaponization subcommittee, called for the abolishment of the ¥BI, the Department of Justice and the
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, “if they do not come to heel.”

Title: Former FBI agent’s side work puts burean under new scrutiny

Qutlet: Washington Post

Date: 2/13/23 :

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2023/02/13/mecgonigal-albania-deripaska-
indictment-fbi/

Mention: The same day, House Judiciary Chairman Jim Jordan (R-Ohio) and Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.)
sent their own letter to the FBI, asking what role McGonigal played in opening the FBI investigation into
Russian election interference and the Trump campaign. McGonigal’s alleged “misconduct further erodes
public confidence in the FBI’s conduct and law-enforcement actions,” the lawmakers wrote.

2022

Title: Domestic Terrorism Bill Vote in House Delayed for DOJ Review

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: April 26, 2022

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/RAYNIOTIUMOY

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) wrote a letter yesterday to Attorney General William Barr, seeking a
Justice Department investigation into whether Mark Zuckerberg lied in his 2018 testimony when he said
that Facebook doesn’t make content decisions based on political ideology..."As a member of this body, I
question Mr. Zuckerberg's veracity, and challenge his willingness to cooperate with-our oversight
authority, diverting congressional resources during time-sensitive investigations, and materially impeding
our work," Gaetz said in the letter.

2021

Title: As many Republicans try to rewrite history of Jan. 6 attack, Sen. Ron Johnson suggests FBI knew
more than it has said

Outlet: The Washington Post

Date: 8/2/21

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ron-johnson-fbi/2021/08/02/5791b4aa-f25f-11eb-81d2-
ffae0f931b8f_story.html

Mention: Right-wing websites first claimed in June that undercover FBI agents or informants were
among those who breached the Capitol, allegations that spread quickly through the conservative media
ecosystem...some far-right House Republicans have spread the claims, including Rep. Matt Gaetz (R~
Fla.), who sent a letter to Wray the day after Carlson’s show aired asking “to what extent” the agency had
infiltrated key “militia groups” and whether operatives were “merely passive informants or active
instigators” on Jan. 6.

Title: Power Up: Despite DOJ waive of executive privilege, compelling Trump-era officials to testify still
a wildcard

Ontlet: The Washington Post

Date: 7/28/21

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/07/28/power-up-despite-doj-waive-executive-
privilege-compelling-trump-era-officials-testify-stili-wildcard/
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Mention: Gohmert joined other Republican lawmakers, including Reps. Marjorie Taylor Greene of
Georgia and Matt Gaetz of Florida, at a news conference outside the Justice Department on Tuesday
where they attempted to call out what they claimed is unjust treatment of defendants detained after the
attack at the U.S. Capitol. They accused the department of withholding information on detention
conditions and treating the defendants unfairly.

Title: As Jan. 6 hearings begin, Republicans side with the terrorists

Qutlet: The Washington Post

Date: 7/27/21

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/07/27/jan-6-hearings-begin-republicans-side-with-
terrorists/

Mention: The half-dozen lawmakers, including Matt Gaetz of Florida and Marjorie Taylor Greene of
Georgia, made explicit what has become more obvious by the day: Republicans stand with those who
attempted a violent coup on Jan. 6. And it’s not just the wingnuts. House Republican leaders held a news
conference before the hearing, blaming Jan. 6 not on seditionists but on Capitol Police and, particularly,
House Speaker Nancy Pelosi...“There are Americans all over this country who are being harassed, who
are being targeted by law enforcement!” Gaetz, at the news conference outside the DOJ, said of the
insurrectionists.

Title: Protest Forces Gaetz And Greene To Abruptly End Press Conference Supporting Capitol Riot
Defendants

Outlet: Forbes

Date: 7/27/21

Link: https://www.forbes.com/sites/andrewsolender/2021/07/27/protest-forces-gaetz-and-greene-to-
abruptly-end-press-conference-supporting-capitol-riot-defendants/

Mention: Reps. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), Louie Gohmert (R-Texas), Paul Gosar (R-Ariz.) and Marjorie
Taylor Greene (R-Ga.) will be “demanding answers on the treatment of January 6th prisoners” outside the
DOJFs D.C. office, according to Gohmert’s office.

Title: Defund the military? GOP’s anti-woke crusade dips into dicey territory.

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/24/21

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/06/24/defund-military-gops-anti-woke~crusade-
dips-into-dicey-territory/

Mention: If there’s one thing Republicans have made clear over the past year, it’s that defunding those
who protect us is a dangerous — and politically toxic — idea...Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) is the one
responsible for the (quickly aborted) attempt to urge the defunding of the FBL He tweeted Wednesday
morning, “If Democrats want to defund the police, they should start with the FBL.” The tweet was deleted
one minute later, according to ProPublica. If we’re being charitable, he wasn’t necessarily calling for the
FBI to be defunded, full-stop — just that he viewed it as being the ripest for defunding if Democrats are
bent on targeting law enforcement. Except this is also coming from a guy who has recently found himself
under federal investigation.

Title: The far right rushes to embrace Tucker Carlson’s FBI-Capitol riot conspiracy theory

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/18/21 )

Link: https://www . washingtonpost.com/politics/202 1/06/18/far-right-rushes-embrace-tucker-carlsons-fbi-
capitol-riot-conspiracy-theory/
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Mention: The Fox News host was elevating a story written for the website Revolver by a former Trump
administration official (later fired for links to white nationalists) arguing that “unindicted co-conspirators”
referred to in Justice Department charging documents referred to government law enforcement agents.

... The following day, Gaetz sent a formal letter to FBI Director Christopher A. Wray, demanding answers
to three questions about the government’s activity in that period — questions lifted directly from the
Revolver article.

Title: FBI director berated for Jan. 6 failures, Giuliani probe, says he’s unaware of any Trump
investigation connected to tiot

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/10/21

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2021/10/18/amazon-congress-letter-third-party-data/
Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), himself under federal investigation in a sex-trafficking case,
questioned Wray on what the FBI knows about the origins of the coronavirus and possible links to the
Chinese government. Wray declined to provide specifics, saying there were “differences of view” even
inside the intelligence community on the subject and broadly stressing the counterintelligence threat he
said China posed.

2020

Title: Opinion: Republicans are more worried about Michael Flynn than police brutality

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/17/20

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/06/17/republicans-are-more-worried-about-
michael-flynn-than-police-brutality/

Mention: The Black Lives Matter movement may have gripped the nation since George Floyd died under
a police officer’s knee. But the GOP hijacked the committee debate over the Democrats’ Justice in
Policing bill Wednesday to revisit complaints about the treatment of former national security adviser
Michael Flynn, who pleaded guilty to lying to the FBI in the probe of Russian interference in the 2016
presidential election. “Before there was even a basis for this embarrassing hoax, you had Jim Comey
telling the FBI to go and entrap General Flynn,” complained Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.).

Title: George Floyd's brother urges Congress to take action on police reform

Outlet: Spokane Spokesman

Date: 6/10/20

Link: https://www.spokesman.com/stories/2020/jun/10/george-floyds-brother-urges-congress-to-take-
actio/

Mention: In emotional testimony before a House panel Wednesday, the brother of George Floyd pleaded
for members of Congress to pass police reform legislation in the wake of his brother's death at the hands
of Minneapolis police officers...But Vanita Gupta, the former head of the Justice Department's Civil
Rights Division under President Barack Obama, told the committee it had to do "more than tinker at the
edges" of law enforcement policy... Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., asked all 12 witnesses to raise their hands if
they supported defunding the police. None did, although Sherrilyn Ifill, president of the NAACP Legal
Defense and Educational Fund, said she took issue with the way he asked the question. Gaetz then pointed
to Rep. Pramila Jayapal, D-Seattle, who has expressed support for some of the work of activist groups
that are pushing to cut police funding.

2019
Title: Trump’s allies have found the real culprit in this Ukraine mess: Everyone except Trump
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Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 9/23/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2019/09/23/trumps-allies-have-found-real-culprit-this-
ukraine-mess-everyone-except-trump/

Mention: For all of the fulmination about the complexity of the still-expanding controversy surrounding
President Trump’s conversations with the president of Ukraine, the reality is fairly simple. Trump,
according to reporting from The Post and the Wall Street Journal, repeatedly pressed President
Volodymyr Zelensky, who was inaugurated in May, to investigate former vice president Joe Biden and
his son Hunter... Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), one of Trump’s most energetic defenders, told reporters that
there are “people in the intelligence community and other parts of the government who just have it out for
the president.”

Title: Did the FBI wam the Trump campaign about Russia?

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 9/20/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2019/09/20/did-fbi-warn-trump-campaign-about-russia/
Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.): “Mr. Lewandowski, you were the campaign manager for the
president’s campaign when the Obama-Biden administration was notified that there might be efforts by
the Russians to interfere with our election. Isn’t that right?”.. Lewandowski: “There was no briefing
provided by anybody from the Obama-Biden administration, members of the intelligence community or
the FBI to our campaign that I — when I was present or during my tenure as the campaign
manager.”...Gaetz: “Man, that’s just baffling to me. I mean our democracy is so precious. We have to
cherish it. We have to protect it, and yet when the Obama-Biden administration knew that there might be
nefarious efforts to interfere or co-opt or in any way disturb our democracy, they didn’t say anything to
you. Now, as you sit here today, having watched these facts unfold, do you have any, any rationale as to
why maybe the Clapper-Brennan-Comey-Obama-Biden team didn’t want to give the Trump campaign a
fair defensive briefing about the threats that we were facing?”...Republican lawmakers said the FBI failed
to warn Donald Trump’s campaign about Russian election interference in 2016. It’s not a new talking
point, but it seems to have shape-shifted this week into a new form.

Title: EDITORIAL: No one, least of all a president, should be above the law
_Outlet: Orlando Sun-Sentinel

Date: 7/25/19

Link: https://www.sun-sentinel.com/2019/07/25/n0-one-least-of-all-a-president-should-be-above-the-
law-editorial/ :

Mention: The seven grueling hours that former Special Counsel Robert Mueller Il spent in the intensely
partisan congressional cockpit Wednesday left no doubt that President Trump tried persistently to obstruct
the investigation into Russia's massive effort to help elect him. Florida's Matt Gaetz, like most
Republicans heard from Wednesday, spent his five minutes on camera trying to discredit the probe,
utterly ignoring Mueller's explicit warning of Russia’s continuing determination to subvert our elections
through cyberwarfare and social media.

Title: What Russian interference? While grilling Mueller, Republicans repeatedly downplay it.
Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/25/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2019/07/25/what-russian-interference-while-grilling-
mueller-republicans-repeatedly-downplay-it/
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Mention: At two hearings featuring former special counsel Robert S. Mueller IIIs testimony, House
Republicans generally mentioned Russian interference only while absolving Trump of blame or while
attempting to poke holes in Mueller’s report...Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) homed in on a theory that the
Steele dossier was full of lies fed either by a deliberate Russian “disinformation campaign” or by
Christopher Steele himself. Mueller had already said he couldn’t talk about the dossier, given that it’s part
of the Justice Department’s investigation of the Russia probe’s origins.

Title: Trump says ‘we had a very good day’ after Mueller hearings end

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/24/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/mueller-testimony-congress-
live/2019/07/24/d51a82d6-acal-11e9-bc5c-e73b603e7{38_story.html

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), a key critic of the Mueller investigation, used his time to hammer
Mueller for his refusal to address — in his report or publicly in testimony — findings regarding the
dossier put together by former British spy Christopher Steele on behalf of Democrats during the
campaign. Asked repeated questions about Steele — did Mueller believe Steele made up his research, did
Mueller believe Steele’s report was the product of Russian disinformation, did Mueller believe Steele had
lied to the FBI — Mueller quietly and repeatedly said the topic was outside his “purview.”...Still, Mueller
offered no explanation for how his team decided what was their purview and what to leave to others. For
instance, as Gaetz noted, Russian lawyer Natalia Veselnitskaya met with Glenn Simpson, whose political
research finm commissioned the Steele dossier, in the same week that she met with members of the Trump
campaign. Mueller’s investigation explored the Trump meeting but not her contacts with Simpson.

Title: Mueller: Florida congressmen spar with ex-special counsel

Outlet: Palm Beach Post

Date: 7/24/19

Link: https://www.palmbeachpost.cony/story/news/politics/state/2019/07/24/mueller-florida-
congressmen-spar-with-ex-special-counsel/4617305007/

Mention: The first flare-up between Mueller and a committee member occurred soon after when U.S.
Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Pensacola, began his five minutes of probing. Gaetz focused on the inception of the
probe, particularly Christopher Steele and the so-called Steele Dossier as well as the opposition research
conducted for Democrats and the Hillary Clinton campaign by Fusion GPS and its founder Glemm
Simpson. The questioning grew tense with Mueller interjecting "if I can may I finish, sit" as he talked
over Gaetz, the career prosecutor and former FBI director's voice rising. Mueller insisted there were other
efforts ongoing to probe those connections when pressed by Gaetz about why there was so little focus on
the aspects in the 448-page report. "What is missing here is that this is under investigation elsewhere in
the Justice Department,” Mueller replied, telling Gaetz that DOJ and the FBI should be answering his
questions "on this particular issue." Gaetz fired back that it is "absurd to suggest that a operative for the
Democrats was meeting with this Russian lawyer the day before, the day after the trump Tower meeting
and that is not something you referenced.” The two sparred again when Gaetz turned to the Steele
Dossier, and Mueller again deferred sayiné it wasn't the "purview" of his investigation.

Title: What Republicans would like to talk about instead of the contents of Mueller’s report

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/24/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2019/07/24/what-republicans-would-like-talk-about-
instead-contents-muellers-report/
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Mention: The Republican theory goes like this. Steele compiled false information, perhaps planted
deliberately by the Russians (as Rep. Matt Gaetz, a Florida Republican, proposed to Mueller), which was
then used as a predicate to spy on the Trump campaign, if not to launch the entire Russia probe.

Title: Republicans Prep for Mueller Showdown and Counsel a Light Touch

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 7/20/19

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/07/20/us/politics/republicans-mueller-hearings.htm!

Mention: House Republicans have tried to chip away at the credibility of Robert S. Mueller III’s inquiry
into Russia’s 2016 election interference since shortly after it began, savaging members of his investigative
team as “angry Democrats,” and calling into question his impartiality...Not every Republican is on board
with a gentler approach. Representative Louie Gohmert of Texas rejected any suggestion he might pull his
punches. “I can’t wait,” he said. Representative Matt Gaetz, a firebrand from Florida, pledged a pointed
discussion of bias, which he has long maintained corrupted the investigation. His goal for the hearing?
“We are going to re-elect the president,” he said.

Title: Mueller Must Walk Tightrope in Testifying Publicly on His Probe

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 6/26/19

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/PTQ6WD6IITUR

Mention: Mueller faces other perils in testifying publicly. Republicans are expected to attack the integrity
of his investigation and staff, which Trump has portrayed as “Angry Democrat Trump Haters,” and to
address their contention that the Russia probe was compromised before he took it over by anti-Trump bias
in the FBI and Justice Department. “We have legitimate questions about how all these people ended up on
the Mueller team that had a history of donating financially to Democrat - there did not seem to be
sufficient balance,” Representative Matt Gaetz of Florida, a Judiciary Committee Republican, said in a
tweet Wednesday. \

Title: Opinion: This is worse than Watergate

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/10/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/will-the-watergate-sequel-have-the-same-
ending/2019/06/10/694¢21a2-8bc7-11e9-b08e-cfd89bd36d4e_story.html

Mention: And there at the witness table sat none other than John Dean, White House counsel to President
Richard Nixon during Watergate, who did prison time and lost his law license for his role in the
coverup... Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) accused Dean of building a “cottage industry out of accusing
presidents of acting like Richard Nixon.” Dean patronized the young Trump acolyte: “Mr. Gaetz, I
appreciate that you were not born at the time all this happened.” “De you believe if we turned the lights
off here and maybe lit some candles, got out a Ouija board, we could raise the specter of Richard Nixon?”
Gaetz continued. “I doubt that,” Dean replied dryly. At this, Gaetz lost control of his metaphors: “You’re
hearing the ghost of Christmas past. . .. We're here reopening the impeachment inquiry potentially into
Richard Nixon. . .. (We’re) sort of playing out our own version of ‘That *70s* Show.””

Title: Florida lawmakers push FBI to name counties hacked by Russia

Qutlet: Associated Press

Date: 5/17/19

Link: https://apnews.com/united-states-congress-b280c25dafbf451dac9ffab62917138d
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Mention: Members of Florida's congressional delegation said Thursday it was unacceptable that the FBI
and the Department of Homeland Security will not publicly identify the two counties where Russian
hackers gained access to voter databases before the 2016 election... The FBI also told the lawmakers
there was "suspicious activity" around other counties, but didn't identify those counties by name...
Republican Rep. Matt Gaetz was blunter: "I don't know who the hell they think they are to not share that
information with us."

Note: This article is also present in “DHS” categories

Title: Florida Republicans, Democrats blast feds for secrecy on Russian election hack

Outlet: Palm Beach Post

Date: 5/16/19

Link: https://www.palmbeachpost.com/story/news/politics/2019/05/16/florida-republicans-democrats-
blast-feds-for-secrecy-on-russian-election-hack/5141216007/

Mention: The FBI and Department of Homeland Security drew bipartisan criticism from members of
Florida's congressional delegation on Thursday for refusing to reveal which two of Florida's 67 counties
had their elections systems breached by Russian hackers before the 2016 election. "The FBI and
Department of Homeland Security have not been sufficiently forthcoming with the American people or
members of the United States Congress,” said U.S. Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fort Walton Beach, a prominent
ally of President Donald Trump, during a news conference in Washington after the Florida congressional
delegation was briefed on the hacking.

Note: This article is also present in “DHS” category

Title: Russian government hackers targeted small county in Florida panhandle in 2016

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 5/16/19

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/floridas-house-members-demand-
changes-to-disclosure-rules-on-election-hacking/2019/05/16/8e039672-77£8-11€9-bd25-
c989555¢7766_story.html

Mention: Lawmakers took particular offense at the FBI's assertion that it could not publicly disclose the
information not only out of concern for protecting sources and methods, but also because the burean
considers county officials to be victims of the Russian backing. “That rationale is ludicrous,” said Rep.
Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), who was briefed Thursday with Murphy. “The victims in these cases are not
government officeholders. The victims are voters.”

2018

Title: Key Trump ally in Congress calls on Rosenstein to resign

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 10/18/18

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/key-trump-ally-in-congress-calls-on-rosenstein-to-
resign/2018/10/18/cb5b64d0-d304-11e8-b2d2-£397227b43f0_story.html

Mention: “Frankly, I think that a lot of people are just wringing their hands and waiting for the election
to occur,” Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said of efforts to schedule Rosenstein’s appearance, accusing both the
House Judiciary, and Oversight and Government Reform panels of exercising “low-energy oversight” and
“not issuing the subpoenas we need to issue.”

Title: DJ Rod Rosenstein Won't Meet Lawmakers This Week
Qutlet: Wall Street Journal
Date: 10/10/18
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Link: https://'www.wsj.com/articles/rod-rosenstein-wont-meet-lawmakers-this-week-1539197507
Mention: Mr. Rosenstein had initially agreed to meet with lawmakers behind closed doors in the House
Judiciary and Oversight committees after the New York Times report. A meeting date had not been
publicly announced, but several Republican lawmakers on the panel said both publicly and privately they
believed they had a tentative agreement for Mr. Rosenstein to appear Thursday. One Florida lawmaker,
Matt Gaetz, had flown to Washington, D.C. to attend, even as his state was about to be hammered by a
powerful hurricane.

Title: EDITORIAL: Trump, Rosenstein, must clear air, get back to work

Outlet: Reading Eagle

Date: 9/27/18

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/PFPO0PAIBMDI

Mention: Some have threatened to impeach [deputy AG] Rosenstein. "I don't think it's appropriate to joke
about taking an action against the institution of the presidency while you're overseeing an investigation,"
U.S. Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., said on CNN. "Rod Rosenstein's impeachment can be brought up for a vote
by any member of Congress at this point," Gaetz said. "If we don't get these answers under oath, we may
invoke that vote to keep the Congress in town so we can get to the bottom of this.”

Title: NY Daily News: Trump allies call on Rod Rosenstein to testify as bipartisan support grows for
congressional action

Outlet: NY Daily News

Date: 9/25/18

Link: https://www.nydailynews.com/2018/09/25/trump-allies-call-on-rod-rosenstein-to-testify-as-
bipartisan-support-grows-for-congressional-action-should-he-be-fired/

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), another member of the Freedom House Caucus, suggested
impeaching Rosenstein should he refuse to testify. "I worry that leadership wants to send us home at the
end of the week, tell us to go campaign for the midterms; and that we won't really get these answers,"
Gaetz tweeted. "Rosenstein's impeachment can be brought up for a vote by any members of Congress at
this point."

Title: House conservatives introduce resolution calling for impeachment of Rod Rosenstein

Qutlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/25/18

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/conservative-lawmakers-introduce-resolution-calling-
for-impeachment-of-rod-rosenstein-who-oversees-special-counsel-probe-on-russia/2018/07/25/fe8ee304-
9060-11e8-bcd5-9d911c784¢38_story.html

Mention: In an appearance on Fox Business Network on Wednesday, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said that
while the next step remains uncertain as the House leaves town for its summer recess at the end of this
week, “it was very important for those of us who believe that norms have been violated to step out and
say Rod Rosenstein needs to be impeached.” “The mountain of evidence against Rod Rosenstein is very
compelling when you look at the extent to which documents and witnesses have been withheld,” said
Gaetz, one of the lawmakers who introduced the resolution.

Title: Former FBI lawyer Lisa Page said to be ‘cooperative’ during Capitol Hill meeting about anti-
Trump texts

Outlet: Washington Post
Date: 7/13/18

.
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Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/former-fbi-lawyer-lisa-page-to-speak-with-house-
panels-about-anti-trump-texts/2018/07/13/153¢b41e-86aa-11¢8-8553-a3ce89036c78_story.html
Mention: Republican lawmakers contend that former FBI lawyer Lisa Page provided new information
daring private testimony Friday that further convinces them political bias marred the investigations of
Hillary Clinton’s emails and the Trump campaign’s alleged ties to Russia...Page’s answers “heightened
my concern that the processes at the FBI were contrived to fit the desired outcomes of people who were
biased in favor of Hillary Clinton and against Donald Trump,” Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said, emerging
from Friday’s meeting.

Title: Republicans hammer FBI over handling of Clinton email probe

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 6/19/18

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/house-lawmakers-to-press-justice-dept-
inspector-general-on-clinton-probe-report/2018/06/18/1bc81b8c-7340-118-9780-
b1dd6a09b549_story.html

Mention: Republicans and Democrats sparred for a second day Tuesday over an internal Justice
Department report that sharply criticized former FBI director James B. Comey for the bureau’s work
investigating Hillary Clinton in 2016...%T feel as though sunshine, transparency, would be'the way to root
out this bias that we seem to see reﬂected,”_s}aid Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.).

Title: Code Name Crossfire Hurricane: The Secret Origins of the Trump Investigation

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 5/16;18

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/16/us/politics/crossfire-hurricane-trump-russia-fbi-mueller-
investigation.html

Mention: And there were missteps. Andrew G. McCabe, the former deputy F.B.L director, was cited by
internal investigators for dishonesty about his conversations with reporters about Mrs. Clinton. That gave
ammunition for Mr. Trump’s claims that the F.B.1 cannot be trusted. And Mr. Strzok and Lisa Page, an
F.B.L lawyer, exchanged texts criticizing Mr. Trump, allowing the president to point to evidence of bias
when they became public... “It’s like the deep state all got together to try to orchestrate a palace coup,”
Representative Matt Gaetz, Republican of Florida, said in January on Fox Business Network.

Title: Trump allies seize on DOJ report as they seck to undercut Mueller probe

Outlet: Washington Post ’

Date: 6/14/18

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-allies-seize-on-doj-report-as-they-seek-to-
undercut-mueller-probe/2018/06/14/6bea640a-6£f0-11e8-afd5-778aca903bbe_story.html

Mention: Since the Strzok text message had not been previously disclosed to Congress, a number of
Republicans immediately asked whether the Justice Department had purposefully hidden that missive
from them. Republican Reps. Andy Biggs (Ariz.), Matt Gaetz (Fla.) and Ron DeSantis (Fla.) — all Trump
supporters — sent the Justice Department a letter Thursday demanding that the inspector general turn
over all previous reports to see if “people may have changed the report in a way that obfuscates your
findings.”

Title: House speaker defends Trump on Russia as Justice Department makes a concession to GOP
Outlet: Washington Post ’
Date: 6/7/18 ;
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Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/justice-department-offers-lawmakers-
new-material-on-fbis-russia-investigation/2018/06/07/e562b8d2-6a37-1 168~bf80-
PBed2e672adf_story.html

Mention: On Wednesday, Ryan said he agreed with initial assessments that the FBI did nothing improper
when it began investigating Russian campaign interference in 2016...But it was Ryan who took the brunt
of the blowback, particularly from the GOP faction on Capitol Hill that has been leading the charge
against the FBI and Justice Department’s handling of the Russia investigation, including Rep. Matt Gaetz
(R-Fla.). Following Ryan’s comments, Gaetz lashed out at those “carrying water” for the Justice
Department.

Title: Newsday: Trump, France's Macron speak the language of bromance

Outlet: Newsday

Date: 4/25/18

Link: https://www.newsday.com/long-island/politics/trump-macron-iran-veterans-sessions-039332
Mention: Rep. Lee Zeldin (R-Shirley) joined other GOP Reps. Mark Meadows of North Carolina, Jim
Jordan of Ohio, and Matt Gaetz and Ron DeSantis of Florida in signing a letter to Sessions critical of the
recent FBI raid on Cohen's office and residence.

Title: Medical Marijuana Bill Gains Backing of Key Republican in House

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 4/25/18

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/P7QRIH6KS50XY

Mention: Representative Matt Gaetz started circulating a handout Tuesday night explaining his Medical
Cannabis Research Act, with Goodlatte listed as a co-sponsor... Asked if he’s talked to the attorney
general about his new bill, Gaetz said he has not. He joked of Sessions, "doesn’t call or visit me
anymore." Gaetz is among House conservatives who have been criticizing the Justice Department in
unrelated battles over providing Congress documents tied to the FBI’s handling of its investigations of
Hillary Clinton’s emails, and the Russia inquiry led by Special Counsel Robert Mueller.

Title: Sessions Declines to Recuse Himself From Probe Into Trump Lawyer

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 4/24/18

Link:

Mention: Five Republican House members asked Sessions in a letter released Tuesday why he left up to
Rosenstein the decision to raid Cohen’s office. “In light of the fact that the action was not directly related
to the Russian investigation, and the subject was the personal attorney of the president of the United
States, it would appear that the attorney general should have been involved,” Representatives Jim Jordan,
Mark Meadows, Lee Zeldin, Ron DeSantis and Matt Gaetz wrote.

Title: Trump's First State of the Union Address: A Call for Unity That Wasn't Always Heard That Way
Outlet: New York Times

Date: 1/31/18

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/30/us/politics/trump-state-of-the-union. html

Mention: Speaker Paul D. Ryan of Wisconsin spent part of the morning before Mr. Trump's speech
tarnping down expectations about a secretive Republican memo that some House members have claimed
contains evidence that could undercut the Russia investigation. In a closed-door meeting of House
Republicans this moming, Mr. Ryan "implored" his fellow lawmakers not to overstate the facts of the
memo, which the House Intelligence Committee voted to release Monday night. And he urged them not to
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tie the contentious document -- which Democrats call dangerously misleading -- to the work of the special
counsel, Robert S. Mueller II, according to a person in the room. That was not enough to quiet the most
ardent proponents of the notion that federal law enforcement agents have conspired to bring down the
Trump White House. Representative Matt Gaetz, Republican of Florida, called on the president to release
the memo during the State of the Union. '

Title: FBI's Andrew McCabe leaving deputy director job amid internal investigation

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 1/29/18

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/fbis-andrew-mccabe-leaving-deputy-
director-job-will-retire-in-march/2018/01/29/35b1bbd4-051c-118-b48c-b07fea957bd5_story.html
Mention: FBI Deputy Director Andrew McCabe — who became a symbol for President Trump of what
he considers the bureau's political bias — abruptly stepped down Monday amid an internal probe
examining his handling of the bureau's investigations into Hillary Clinton, according to people familiar
with the matter...In the campaign's final days, Trump often singled out McCabe for criticism. More
recently, McCabe has been harshly criticized by congressional Republicans who challenge the FBI's
rationale for opening the Russia probe in July 2016. One of those critics, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.),
cheered McCabe's move Monday, calling it "a step forward." "The past several weeks and months have
seen worrisome evidence of bias and wrongdoing at the FBI come to light," Gaetz said.

Title: CNN's Chris Cuomo grills GOP Rep. Matt Gaetz on how missing FBI texts are the 'greatest
coincidence since the Immaculate Conception’

Outlet: The Week

Date: 1/25/18

Link: https://theweek.com/speedreads/750760/cnns-chris-cuomo-grills-gop-rep-matt-gaetz-how-missing-
fbi-texts-are-greatest-coincidence-since-immaculate-conception

Mention: Why are Republicans dragging the Holy Family into their political fights? In November,
Alabama's state auditor used the relationship between Mary and Joseph to justify failed Senate candidate
Roy Moore's alleged sexual misconduct with a 14-year-old girl, and on Fox News Wednesday, Rep. Matt
Gaetz (R-Fla.) called the five-month gap in FBI agent Peter Strzok's text messages "the greatest
coincidence since the Immaculate Conception.”

2017

Title: No longer a ‘lonely battle’: How the campaign against the Mueller probe has taken hold

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/24/17

Link: https://'www.washingtonpost.com/politics/no-longer-a-lonely-battle-how-the-campaign-against-the-
mueller-probe-has-taken-hold/2017/12/24/441£c726-e5¢b-11¢7-a65d-1ac0{d7f097e_story.html

Mention: “The senior levels of the FBI have been infected with an intractable bias that seemed to favor
Hillary Clinton and work against President Donald Trump,” said Rep. Matt Gaetz of Florida on Fox News
on Wednesday, adding, “It’s time for Bob Mueller to put up or shut up: If there’s evidence of collusion,
let’s see it.”

Title: Mueller's Silence Cuts Through Noise of Trump Russia Inquiries
Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 12/21/17 .

Link: https://fwww.bgov.com/next/news/P1A9VE6IIJUT
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Mention: Mueller’s approach is unconventional, both in the current political climate and compared with
former FBI director James Comey or previous high-profile public prosecutors like Kenneth Starr, who
investigated President Bill Clinton. The vacuum created by Mueller’s silence has been filled by GOP
critics and conservative media charging the investigation is tainted with bias against President Donald
Trump. Several House Republicans have called for Mueller to resign, with Matt Gaetz of Florida going to
the House floor last week to accuse him of “fishing in the never-Trump aquarium” in choosing
prosecutors and FBI agents for his team. :

Title: OPINION: Trump says he won't fire Mueller. Don't believe him.

Outlet: Chicago Tribune

Date: 12/19/17

Link: https://www.chicagotribune.comy/2017/12/19/trump-says-he-wont-fire-mueller-dont-believe-him/
Mention: "Mueller obtained his team by fishing in the never-Trump aquarium," said Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-
Fla., creating still more rhetorical cover for Trump's complaint that the Mueller probe is a "witch hunt"
aimed at delegitimizing his election or even removing him from office.

Title: Opinion: Trump thrives in destructive chaos

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/18/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/trump-thrives-in-destructive-
chaos/2017/12/18/£23£c176-e41d-11e7-ab50-621fe0588340_story.html

Mention: Bill Clinton and his defenders were accusing an investigator of being a power-mad prig. Some
of Trump's defenders are claiming, in effect, that the FBI is engaged in a "coup d'etat” (the words of
Florida Republican Rep. Matt Gaetz) — a politically motivated attempt to reverse the results of the 2016
election. Their evidence? That some senior investigators donated to Democrats, supported Hillary Clinton
and called Trump an "idiot." - ,

Title: EDITORIAL: How Trump's allies are making Putin's day

Qutlet: San Diego Union-Tribune .

Date: 12/18/17

Link: https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2017/12/18/how-trumps-allies-are-making-putins-day/
Mention: Yet the Fox News-Breitbart-conservative social media juggernaut simply doesn't care if it tears
down institutions while seeming to lay the groundwork for Mueller's firing. It is disgraceful for Rep.
Mark Gaetz, R-Florida, to liken the investigation to an unfolding "coup d'état.” It is beyond disgraceful
for Fox host Jeanine Pirro to say Trump is the victim of a "criminal cabal” within the government whose
members should be led out "in cuffs.” This wild rhetoric has the potential to destabilize America -~ which,
-of course, was Russia's goal when it interfered with the 2016 election. Congratulations to Gaetz and Pirro
for making Viadimir Putin's day.

Title: A ‘coup in America?” Fox News escalates anti-Mueller rhetoric.

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/18/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/moming-mix/wp/2017/12/18/a-coup-in-america-fox-news-
escalates-anti-mueller-rhetoric/

Mention: In a speech on the House floor last month, Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) called for Mueller to resign
or be fired, alleging he has “indisputable” conflicts of interest.

“We are at risk of a coup d’état in this country if we allow an unaccountable person with no oversight to
undermine the duly-elected president of the United States,” Gaetz said.
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Title: Trump says he won’t fire Mueller, as campaign to discredit Russia probe heats up

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/17/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-says-he-wont-fire-mueller-as-campaign-to-
discredit-russia-probe-heats-up/2017/12/17/801e8cce-¢348-11e7-ab50-621fe0588340_story html
Mention: “This bias is like an infection,” Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said Friday on Fox Business Network.
“It’s like an incurable cancer that’s inoperable, and we’ve got to end this Mueller probe.”

Title: Senate Republicans iry to shield Mueller from criticism of his Russia probe
Outlet: Washington Post .

Date: 12/14/17

Link: hitps://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/senate-republicans-try-to-shield-mueller-from-
criticism-of-his-russia-probe/2017/12/14/8766e¢30-¢088-11e7-8679-2a9728984779¢_story.html
Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), who last month filed a resolution calling for Mueller to recuse
himself from the Russia investigation, said Wednesday that he had been “a lone voice in the wilderness”
for the past few weeks. But since the Strzok-Page texts emerged, “now I find a chorus singing loudly
behind me,” he said.

Title: Justice Dept. Official Defends Mueller as Republicans Try to Discredit Him

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 12/13/17

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/13/us/politics/trump-mueller-russia-republican-campaign.htm!
Mention: Mr. Mueller, a registered Republican appointed by President George W. Bush to direct the
F.B.L, has long had critics in the most pro-Trump corners of the House and the conservative news media.
But in recent weeks, as his investigation has delivered a series of indictments to high-profile associates of
the president and evidence that at least two of them aré cooperating with the inquiry, those critics have
grown louder and in numbers... “I was the lone voice in the wilderness, and now I have a robust chorus
behind me,” said Representative Matt Gaetz, a first-term Florida Republican who has emerged as one of
Mr. Trump’s most vocal defenders on Capitol Hill.

Title: Rosenstein Faces Off With GOP; McMaster Calls out Russia, China

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 12/13/17 B

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/POWDVG6IIIVS

Mention: Some Republicans are even urging appointment of a second special counsel just to look into
allegations that prosecutors and agents favored Trump’s Democratic opponent Hillary Clinton last year, as
several congressional inquiries have deteriorated into bitter partisan sniping. “We continue to see bias
against the president and in favor of Mrs. Clinton at the FBI’s and Justice Department’s highest levels,”
panel member Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) said.

Title: Opinion: The GOP’s all-out assault on justice

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/8/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/the-gops-all-out-assault-on-
Jjustice/2017/12/08/2e1ce9ba-dc28-11e7-b1a8-62589434a581_story.html

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) called former FBI director James B. Comey an "egomaniac rogue"
and speculated that the FBI paid for the "dossier" on Trump's activities in Russia.
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Title: F.B.L Director Says There Is No Bias in Inquiry

Outlet: New York Times

Date: 12/8/17

Link: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/07/us/politics/fbi-director-political-bias-trump.html

Mention: Mr. Wray said he was working to ensure that politics stayed out of the F.B.L's investigations. "I
am emphasizing in every audience I can inside the bureau that our decisions need to be made based on
nothing other than the facts and the law and our rules and our processes and our core values and not based
on any political considerations by any side of the aisle,” he said. Another Republican, Matt Gaetz of
Florida, pointed out that a senior prosecutor on Mr. Mueller's team, Andrew Weissmann, had praised
Sally Q. Yates, the former deputy attorney general who defied Mr. Trump over his travel ban and was
fired. Mr. Gaetz wondered whether Mr. Weissmann's actions demonstrated political bias.

Title: House conservatives demand answers from FBI on Clinton probe, Fusion GPS

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 12/1/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/powerpost/wp/2017/12/01/house-conservatives-demand-
answers-from-fbi-on-clinton-probe-fusion-gps/

Mention: A trio of House conservatives, who have succeeded in getting the Judiciary Committee to keep
questioning the FBI’s 2015-2016 probe of Hillary Clinton’s private email server, have sent a letter to the
bureau asking for more answers before Director Christopher A. Wray next testifies...In the letter, Reps.
Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), Andy Biggs (R-Ariz.) and Louie Gohmert (R-Tex.) demanded answers from Wray
about what the “special” designation meant. “Who decided that the investigation would be handled ‘at HQ
with a small team’ rather than by the Washington field office?” they asked. “What processes are in place
at the FBI to ensure that “special’ treatment is nof given to other political figures?”

Title: As Washington debates taxes, some Republicans keep focus on issues loved by their base

Qutlet: Washington Post

Date: 11/30/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/as-washington-debates-taxes-some-republicans-keep-
focus-on-partisan-issues-loved-by-their-base/2017/11/30/8ed38¢c16-d488-1 1¢7-95bf-
df7c19270879_story.html

Mention: On Nov. 3, Gaetz introduced a resolution demanding that former FBI director Robert S.
Mueller 11 resign as the special counsel investigating Russian interference in the 2016 election. Since
then, Gaetz has appeared on cable news shows 20 times to discuss that effort or the need to investigate
Clinton.x

Title: Sessions Appearance Spotlights a Partisan Split Over Russia

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 11/14/17

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/OZDYZU6TTDS2

Mention: “Why in 2016 did FBI Director Comey begin drafting an exoneration letter for Secretary
Clinton, whom he called ‘grossly negligent’ in an early draft of the letter, before completing the
investigation? Before interviewing several witnesses? And before interviewing Secretary Clinton?”
committee Republicans Jim Jordan of Ohio and Matt Gaetz of Florida wrote in a joint opinion piece for
FoxNews.com.

Title: Trump Talks Defense in Asia; What Else to Watch on Trump's Trip
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Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 11/6/17

Link: https://www.bgov.com/next/news/OYZUSQGITSFS

Mention: MUELLER RESOLUTION: House Republicans, led by Judiciary Committee member Rep.
Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), filed a resolution Friday calling on Special Counsel Robert Mueller to recuse himself
over the U.S. sale of uranium to a Russian-held company. Mueller’s "impartiality is hopelessly
compromised" due to evidence emerging that the FBI withheld information from Congress about Russian
corruption of American uranium companies while he led the agency, Gaetz said in a written statement
Friday.

Title: Conservative Republicans demand Mueller recuse himself over uranium deal

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 11/3/17 .

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/conservative-republicans-demand-mueller-recuse-
himself-over-uranium-deal/2017/11/03/809135bc-c07£-11e7-95%¢-fe2b598d8c00_story.html

Mention: Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), who wrote the resolution, accuses Mueller of having a conflict of
interest because he was serving as FBI chief when the Obama administration approved a deal allowing a
Russian company to purchase a Canada-based mining group with uranium operations in the United States,
according to a draft obtained by The Washington Post...“Someone who was involved in a deal cannot
reasonably be trusted to scrutinize that probe,” Gaetz said in an interview. Gaetz added that he does not
trust Mueller because of his “close personal relationship” with former FBI director James B. Comey.
Similar complaints have been raised by other Republicans, though there is considerable dispute over
whether the Comey-Mueller relationship was primarily professional.

Title: The Latest: Judge sets May 7 court date for Manafort, Gates

Outlet: Associated Press

Date: 11/3/17

Link: https://apnews.com/united-states-government-06924056459c40d5889d1d077al ffc2

Mention: Three Republican House members are introducing a resolution that calls for Robert Mueller to
"resign from his special counsel position immediately."... Reps. Matt Gaetz of Florida, Andy Biggs of ~
Arizona and Louis Gohmert of Texas introduced the resolution, which would be nonbinding if passed.
Republican leaders have shown little appetite for publicly pressuring Mueller.

Title: GOP House Member Backs Resolution Urging Mueller to Resign

Outlet: Bloomberg

Date: 11/3/17

Link: https://www.bgov. com/next/news/OYUKPZGJUUR

Mention: Special Counsel Bob Mueller’s "impartiality is hopelessly compromised" due to evidence
emerging that FBI withheld information from Congress about Russian corruption of American uranium
cos. while Mueller led the FBI, Rep. Matt Gaetz, House Judmary Cmte member, says.

Mueller "must step down immediately," Gaetz, R-Fla., says in written statement. Gaetz says federal
agents knew in 2010 that U.S. witness working in Russian nuclear industry said Russia had compromised
an American uranium trucking firm "through bribery and financial kickbacks." Gaetz alleges FBI required
witness to sign non-disclosure agreement and when witness attempted to contact Congress and federal
courts about corruption, he was threatened with legal action. "By silencing him, Obama’s Justice
Department and Mueller’s FBI knowingly kcpt Congress in the dark about Russia’s sxgmﬁca.nt and illegal
involvement with American wranium companies,” Gaetz says.
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Title: House Judiciary Committee votes to probe Comey and Clinton’s 2016 campaign

Outlet: Washington Post

Date: 7/27/17

Link: https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/powerpost/wp/2017/07/26/house-judiciary-committee-
votes-to-probe-comey-and-clintons-2016-campaign/ :
Mention: Republicans on the House Judiciary Committee voted Wednesday to request documents about
former FBI director James B. Comey’s conversations with the Obama administration and journalists,
amending and replacing a Democratic resolution that was designed to obtain documents about Comey’s
firing by President Trump...“They’re not focused on things like the Clinton Foundation functionalty
selling access to the State Department; they’re not worried about selling uranium to the Russians; they’re
not worried about unmasking,” said Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), another amendment sponsor, referring to
Democrats.

Note: This article is present in the State dept. section as well.
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Title: DOJ tells Matt Gaetz that he won’t be charged in sex trafficking probe, his lawyers say
Outlet: NBC News
Date: 2/15/23
Link: hitps://www.nbenews.comy/politics/congress/doj-decides-not-charge-rep-matt-gaetz-sex-trafficking-
investigation-rcna70839
Mention: The Justice Department is ending its sex trafficking investigation into Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla.,
without charging him with any crimes, his attorneys and congressional office said.. NBC News had
reported in October that the investigation into Gaetz had stalled, according to attorneys who have
represented witnesses and people who have been subpoenaed or have spoken to investigators. The
attorneys briefed about aspects of the case said the probe ﬂtdlled over concerns about the credlblhty of two
key witnesses ora ] denied all doi

SENBCNEWS

DOJ tells Matt Gaetz that he won't be
charged in sex trafficking probe, his lawyers
say

Fab. 15, 2023, 1:30 PN EST

By Ryan Nobles, Garrett Haake, Julia Ainsley, Tom Winter and Rebecca Shabad

Title: DOJ won't charge Matt Gaetz with crimes in sex trafficking probe

Outlet: Fox News

Date: 2/15/23

Link: https://www. foxnews.com/politics/doi-wont-charge-matt-gaetz-with-crimes-sex-trafficking-probe
Mention: The Justice Department will not pursue charges against Rep. Matt Gaetz, R-Fla., aftera
yearslong probe into sex trafficking allegations. In a statement to Fox News Digital, Gaetz's office
confirmed that "the Department of Justice has confirmed to Congressman Gaetz’s attorneys that their
investigation has concluded and that he will not be charged with any crimes.”...However, one source
familiar with the situation confirmed to Fox News that the DOJ’s investigation has wrapped up and there
will not be any charges brought against Congressman Gaet

Madis  Entertainment Widte A Move t @ hegh Wb TV

Spasts  tifestyle
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DOJ won't charge Matt Gaetz with crimes in sex
trafficking probe

DOJ officials confirmed to-Gaetz's lawyers that he would ‘not be charged with.any crimes’

PUblished FebIATy 16208831119 £ST
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Charged/Fubicted
Title: Convicted Fraudster Charged With Trying to Bilk Rep. Matt Gaetz and Dad for $25 Million
Outlet: The Daily Beast
Date: 8/31/21
Link: https://www.thedailybeast.com/convicted-fraudster-stephen-alford-charged-with-trving-to-bilk-rep-
matt-gaetz-and-dad-for-dollar25-million
Mention: A Florida man allegedly attempted to shake down Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-FL) and Gaetz’s father,
promising a presidential parden in exchange for $25 million, according to a federal indictment unsealed
Tuesday. Stephen Alford, a 62-year-old resident of Walton Beach, is charged with wire fraud and the
attempted prevention of seizure of an electronic device. Alford allegedly told Don Gaetz, a wealthy
Florida businessman worth hundreds of millions and the father of the Republican congressman, that he
could make an investigation into his son vanish and guarantee Matt Gaetz would serve no jail time. Gaetz
is under federal investigation for sex trafficking in connection with an alleged relationship with a 17-year-
old girl. He has denied wrongdoing... The extortion allegations first came to light in the wake of the
revelation that Gaetz was under federal investigation, and Gaetz said at the time that someone at the
Department of Justice had leaked the details of the investigation into him to throw a wrench into the probe

Gonvicted Fraudster Gharged With Trying to Bilk Rep. Matt
(agtz and Dad for $25 Millon

H
| $25 MILLION BiAN |
Sisphen Alfned ised & presidential pacdon in for the money, which he said he would use o ransom and
a1y FBI agent long dead.
AT ¢ e
{ mﬁ f;z:‘; :?xg"g | Updated Kug. 34, 2021 6:37PM EDT / Fbiisied Aug. 1, 202 SBAPMEDT £ x -

Title: Stephen Alford update: Alleged conspirator in U.S. Rep. Matt Gaetz extortion scheme indicted and
arrested

Qutlet: Northwest Florida Daily News

Date: 8/31/21

Link: https://www.nwidailynews.comystory/news/local/2021/08/3 1/stephen-alford-charged-wire-fraud-
gactz-extortion-scheme/5671443001/

Mention: Stephen Alford, a prominent Fort Walton Beach businessman with a checkered legal history,

has been indicted on federal charges stemming from alleged efforts to extort $25 million...
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ﬂwfdai!ynews Helene forecast: Florida is not getting out of this one. Pn
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LOCAL

Stephen Alford update: Alleged
conspirator in U.S. Rep. Matt Gaetz
extortion scheme indicted and
arrested

Tom Mclaughlin
Northwest Florida Daily News
Pubiisfed 5154 pon, £T Aug. 81, 2001 | Updated 727 pm BT Allg: 31,2023

G X = #

Title: Man charged with $25M extortion scheme promising pardon for Rep. Matt Gaetz

Qutlet: Politico

Date: 8/31/21

Link: https://www.politico.com/news/2021/08/3 1/man-charged-extortion-gaetz-508122

Mention: A Florida developer and fraud convict was arrested Tuesday on a charge that he tried to extort
$25 million from the father of Rep. Matt Gaetz in exchange for a presidential pardon that would shut
down a high-profile, criminal sex-trafficking investigation into the Republican congressman... The
indictment refers to Don Gaetz, a former Florida state Senate leader, as “D.G.” and describes the
investigation to be extinguished as one “by the FBI for various public corruption and public integrity
issues.”

POLITICO
Man charged with $25M extortion

scheme promising pardon for Rep.
Matt Gaetz

By JOSH GERSTEIN, MARC CAPUTS and MATT DIXON
BESZL/2021 DAL PM BT
Upidated 08431 /2001 RS PM EDT

Title: Florida man charged in connection with overture to Matt Gaetz’s father about the investigation of
his son
Outlet: The Washington Post
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Date: 8/31/21

Link: htips://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/stephen-alford-charged-don-
2aetz/2021/08/31/319c¢67e8-0a9a-1 1ec-abdd-296ba7fb2dce_story.html

Mention: The Justice Department on Tuesday arrested a Florida man over a scheme that involved seekir
money from Florida Republican Don Gaetz to help halt the sex-trafficking investigation of his son, Rep.
Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.), according to court records and a person familiar with the matter.

Damoeyy e n Deviasess

Florida man charged in connection with overture
to Matt Gaetz’s father about the investigation of
his son

Conbricted/Sentenced
Title: Stephen Alford sentenced to five years in prison for scheme to extort $25M from Gaetz family
Outlet: Northwest Florida Daily News
Date: 8/22/22
Link: https://www.nwidailynews.comy/story/news/courts/2022/08/22/alford-sentenced-five-years-
attempted-extortion-gaetz-family/7864230001/
Mention: Alford is being sent to prison for the third time since March 2006 on charges related to his
efforts to swindle big money from wealthy individuals or entities. The plan to extort money from the
Gaetz family, spelled out in documents filed with the U.S. District Court, involved Alford and others
coming to them with a complicated scheme. .. At the time, news was just beginning to leak that Matt
Gaetz was the subject of a criminal investigation. No criminal charges have been filed and Matt Gaetz
maintains his innocence.

A nwidailynews
pws | Sports  Entertainment  Opinion  Advertise  Obituaries  eNewspaper  Legals
Stephen Alford sentenced to five
years in prison for scheme to extort

$25M from Gaetz family

Northwest Florida Daily News

Title: Man accused of attempting to extort millions from Gaetz family pleads guilty to wire frand
Qutlet: Northwest Florida Daily News

Date: 11/22/21

Link: https://www.pwidailynews.com/storv/news/local/202 1/11/22/stephen-alford-pleads-guilty-effort-
extort-millions-don-gaetz/8718849002/

Mention:
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Sentencing is scheduled for 9 a.m. Feb. 16. Alford faces a maximum of 20 years in prison. It will mark
the third time since March 2006 that Alford will face prison time for a felony involving an effort to
swindle big money from wealthy individuals or entities... The federal authorities who arrested Alford on
Aug. 31 said he and a group of co-conspirators had dangled the presidential pardon for Matt Gaetz as a
trade to Don Gaetz in exchange for him providing them the funds they needed to buy Levinson's

freedom. .. According to a version of events provided first by Matt Gaetz, R-Fort Walton Beach, Pensacola
attorney David McGee had been among those working with Alford to extort the $25 million from the
Gaetz family, and Don Gaetz had worn an FBI wire to a meeting with Alford to discuss a $5.5 million
down payment.

s nwidailynews

Sports  Entertainment  Opinisn  Advertise  Obituaries  eNewspaper  Legals [

Man accused of attempting to extort
millions from Gaetz family pleads
guilty to wire fraud

Tom Melaughiin
Worthwest Florida Daily Nevs
Pubishied 5238 par. ET Mow. 22,2001 | Uodated 548 pan. BT Now, 22, 2021

Title: Man sentenced in scheme to defraud Rep. Gaetz’s father of $25 million

Qutlet: The Washington Post

Date: 8/23/22

Link: https:/www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2022/08/23/matt-gaetz-father-extortion-investigation/
Mention: A federal judge on Monday sentenced a Florida businessman to a little over five years in prison
for his role in a 2021 plot to defraud the father of Rep. Matt Gaetz (R-Fla.) of $25 million as the
congressman found himself under investigation for possible sex crimes... The scherne was first made
public on March 30, 2021, when Gaetz appeared on Fox News hours after the New York Times first
reported that the congressman was under investigation. Gaetz claimed the Times’s story was a “planted
leak” meant to distract from the real crime — a shakedown of him and his father. According to court
records, Alford and another man somehow learned that Gaetz was under a Department of Justice probe
before the investigation was publicly reported.

@he Washington Post

Bewmocrary Diss tn Deeksess

Man sentenced in scheme to defraud Rep. Gaetz’s
father of $25 million

. By Maria Luisa Padl
August 23, 2022 at 8:44 am. EDT
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Title: Matt Gaetz Exonerated from 'Pile of Lies' After Man Charged with Extortion

Outlet: Townhall

Date: 9/1/21

Link: https:/townhall.com/tipsheet/katiepavlich/2021/09/01/matt-gaetz-exonerated-after-man-charged-
with-extortion-n2595102

Mention: Florida Republican Congressman Matt Gaetz has been exonerated after 62-year-old Stephen
Alford was recently indicted by the Department of Justice for extortion...Back in March when news
broke that the Department of Justice was investigating Gaetz for sexual misconduct, the congressman
maintained he was being extorted..."The allegations of sexual misconduct against me are false,” Gaetz
told Axios at the time. "They are rooted in an extortion effort against my family for $25 million.”

[ susscnec |

“Townhall cowmus teskeer carroons sopcasts wmRss mvRo o0

Matt Gaetz Exonerated from "Pile of Lies' After
Man Charged with Extortion

§
PR Katie Paviich | Septemiber 01, 2021 6:00 AM

Fgrvaeli congulate
Title: The tangled tale of the Israel consulate, the Dilbert cartoonist and the Matt Gaetz case
Outlet: Politico
Date: 9/23/21
Link: https://www.politico.com/news/2021/09/23/israel-dilbert-matt-gaetz-513800
Mention: Of the many only-in-Florida aspects of the Rep. Matt Gaetz sex-crimes investigation, one
stands out for its utter weirdness: the story of the Israeli consulate staffer, the cartoonist who created
Dilbert and a complicated shakedown scheme tied to a former CIA operative captured in Iran...But scant
attention has been paid to the mysterious cameo of Jake Novak, the broadcast media director of the
Consulate General of Israel in New York... Three days before the story broke in March that federal
investigators were probing whether Gaetz had sex with a 17-year-old girl, Novak began corresponding
with Dilbert cartoonist Scott Adams about the scandal. The two were pals on social media. Novak
indicated to Adams he had inside knowledge of the probe and also suggested he was personally involved
in an effort to get $25 million out of Gaetz’s wealthy father to help free an American hostage in Iran
named Bob Levinson... The allegation that a foreign official may be involved in a shakedown scheme of a
U.S. congressman — a highly unusual development in its own right — could help provide a fuller picture
of a scandal that has captivated the nation’s capital but where many pieces are still urknown. The
allegations have been largely overlooked by most media outlets.

POLITICO
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FLORIDA

The tangled tale of the Israel
consulate, the Dilbert cartoonist and
the Matt Gaetz case

The Novak incident is otie of the many twists and turns in the Gaetz cage.

By MARE CAPUTO

DRPRII 0T BAAE AN BUT

Updated: 09/232027 12:01 BREDT
Title: Isracli Consulate disavows staffer's Matt Gaetz remarks
Qutlet: Jerusalem Post
Date: 9/25/21
Link: https://www.jpost.com/international/israeli-consulate-apologizes-for-staff-members-matt-gaetz-
remarks-680188
Mention: A statement by the Consulate General of Israel in New York has been issued following the
involvement of a consulate employee in the case regarding Representative Matt Gaetz.
Jake Novak, the broadcast media director of the Consulate General, corresponded with Dilbert cartoonist
Scott Adams about the federal investigators probing Gaetz, according to a recent article by POLITICO.
The correspondence occurred before Novak began working for the consulate. Matt Gaetz is being
investigated over alleged paid sexual relations with a 17-year-old girl... During their correspondence,
Novak said he had "inside knowledge" of the probe. He also suggested he was involved in the plot to get
$25 million out of Gaetz's father. This was to help free an American hostage in Iran named Bob Levison.
“The backstory is this is screwing up my efforts to free Bob Levinson,” Novak wrote to Adams, according
to POLITICO. “T've got a commando team
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Like I gave him a drive by? | stayed
longer

I'm really just over it

It's not fair for me to be
unappreciated when | try

| don'tcare a

Sleep sweet
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Matt never paid me..

How much did he pay you?

Ugh hopefully he remembers |

don't wanna have 1o ask

Ok
Ugh

That's why | am broke cause | was




226

There having a party at Chris
Dorworth's

invited me

Normal group

He's friends with Matt and all them

But ugh

| hate the $ situation and drugs

I'lt talk to abo
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That was the perfect message
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2 People

Hey so the guys wanted me to
share that they are a little limited
in their cash flow this weekend

So they don't want you guys to
blow off work or anything to hang
with them

Lol matt was like.. if it can be more
of a customer appreciation week..
LOL

they'd probably send you guys a
little bit but yeah just wanted to
pass along the message

Finally got it lol

I'm coming for a little tonight but
I'll be there longer tomorrow!

Helll yes babes & @&
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Hey! On your drive back through
would you guys mind picking me
up?

Matt says he'll buy you lunch and
fill your tank up and buy cartridges
ol

Yes Mammmm!!

We got you

You guys are amazing

Send your location

Then matt will give me an address
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2 People

Y'all have any rolls? Matt wants
some

moodhoops

What did | do to deserve him &
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I need a care package

2 refills

Yes dear!

You hooking me up?
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Kinda unpredictable- based on
results

But like 7 I'd LOVE to have the
benefit of your company at the
hotel

Rosen shingle. That's where we're
el

Can u bring a full compliment of
party favors

Also, let’s talk wardrobe

Do you have a cute black dress?
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Yeah. Can’t be toooo short. But
sexy def OK

| have confidence.

| lost that little gold Ring on the
pen. | feel like that's important to
tell you. See you at 7!
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Matt Gaetz

Isn’t San Francisco amazing?!?!

That sounds worse

You flying to tally Sunday?
Monday? Need me to get you a
flight?

Coulda been worse. Coulda taken
an ambien anticipating the flight
before the delay (I have)

That's awesome!

+
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Mait Gaetz

Booooo. Have fun!

How can | help?

-+
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How muchis i

When is it due?
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Matt Gaetz

That's far

jleave at 6:30 AM.

{ have a check for you. I'll also be
back wed

ou around wed afternoon?
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Perhaps. Just gotta get a few
things done

My work days don't end super
early ;)

We'll stay in touch ufs

Joel wants to know if u have
vitamins

| will relay

9 or after works

Will letcha know when | get room #
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| too am in Orlando.
that!

That is such good news. Got
cartridges? Got

Hahaha

Come to lake Mary Marriott w
both?

Vil be there :)
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oy

Yes love
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No. | don't have a pen

You gonna hook up

So you're sending to her?

Yes love

Overnight ;)




EXHIBIT 6



257

| Awesome |

Wonday 9238 PM
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To: Matt Gaetz
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“Frida‘y( Januaty 4
- Orlando » Newark
it Adriines & Flight 150 + Airbus A320

CTHOOR
Newark, NJ

: Sunday, January S ;
New York City > Orlando 2hsEm

A Deita Al Lines v Flight 2244 » Airbus A3Z!

: 8:!05 o6a

Neéw York City, NY Orlando, FL

Girls - go book this flight. Text me
the total amount and I'll Venmo
you the total

It gets you home in plenty of
time 1)
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Warm!

- what else do you suggest on
attire?

For the show it will be classy right?

Yes. Classy warm. We get out of
the show around 11. Then we are
gonna hit up a swanky NYC music
lounge {  finding). Then the real

fun begins ;)

Who can help w party favors?

| am beyond excited!!

Hmm | am bad at the findings of
party favors lolt

is a party favor Mecca
that sounds like an awesome

place

A music lounge! So groovy!
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Paople

| will. When do you land?

The first show | host starts at 11lam

1 will put your name on my room at
the Marriott Marquis in Times
Square

are you able to bring
cartridges?

| would say go drop your stuff off.
You can come to the shows | am
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[ would say go drop your stuff off.
You can come to the shows | am
doing after the first one.

that is very bad news.

| think | have some edibles that's
about it

You have each received $250
today for Ubers and other travel
related expenses. | can't wait to
see youllll
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3 People »

Thanks babe!

Do you happen to have an extra
ring?! Matt took mine @

Matt Gaetz

| have an extra

Good

Thank you!! & %

So excited!!

Jan 3, 2019 at 7:37 PM
Matt Gaetz
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Entries Report
Entry fime Guest name Tag #l Tag #2 __ Destinatio

Tuewday, October 3, 2023 Puge I of 16
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ntry time {inest nume Tag #1 Jag 2  Destination:

Tesday, October 3, 2033 Page2 of 10
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Entry time Lruest e Y_qg #7 Tag#2  Destingtion:

Tesday, October 3, 2023 Page 3 of 16



Toeewdey, October 3, 2023 Page  of 10



Erniry hine {uest name Fagr #1 Toe 2 Destination:

Tuesday, October 3, 023 Page 3 of 10



GTHSR17 032045 PM
TFAS20HY (44224 PM
GHAS2017 08:18:21 P
GFASIZAY DBR0-01 PM
GRASIRGTT 111814 PM
QTSR0 11:18:44 PM
OFFIBR017 02:04:30 P
CIIS/2017 0515:03 PM
OT/ 20T CB0R.00 PM
QFFEHEOTT 08:31.48 PM
QTAISI2017 08:40:48 PM
QTG0 10:05:04 PR

{Fuest pame

LDORWORTH
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Destinatinn:

Tuesday, Octobes 3, 2033

Fuge 66/ 16
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Eniry tine {Fiest name Tag#i Tag #2 Destination:

Tuesday, Coiober 3, 2023 Page Tof 16
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Tuerday, October 3, 1023 . Puge 8 of 18
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Thesduy, October 3, 2023 Page 9 of 10



Fag 7 #2___Destinagion

Tuesdiy, Oeteber 3, 2023 Page 18 uf 14
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